
CABINET
AGENDA

Wednesday, 13 November 2019

The Jeffrey Room, The Guildhall, St. Giles 
Square, Northampton, NN1 1DE

6:00 pm

Members of the Cabinet:

Councillor: Jonathan Nunn (Leader of the Council)

Councillor: Phil Larratt (Deputy Leader)

Councillors: Mike Hallam, Tim Hadland, Stephen Hibbert, Brandon Eldred, Anna King 
and James Hill. 

Chief Executive George Candler

If you have any enquiries about this agenda please contact 
democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk or 01604 837722 

mailto:democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk


PORTFOLIOS OF CABINET MEMBERS

CABINET MEMBER TITLE

Councillor J Nunn Leader

Councillor P Larratt Deputy Leader
 

Councillor M Hallam Environment

Councillor B Eldred Finance

Councillor T Hadland Regeneration and Enterprise 

Councillor S Hibbert Housing and Wellbeing

Councillor A King Community Engagement and Safety

Councillor J Hill Planning

SPEAKING AT CABINET MEETINGS
Persons (other than Members) wishing to address Cabinet must register their intention to do so by 12 noon on the day of 
the meeting and may speak on any item on that meeting’s agenda.

Registration can be by:

Telephone: (01604) 837722
(Fax 01604 837057)

In writing: Democratic and Member Services Manager
The Guildhall, St Giles Square, Northampton NN1 1DE
For the attention of the Democratic Services Officer

By e-mail to democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk

Only thirty minutes in total will be allowed for addresses, so that if speakers each take three minutes no more than ten 
speakers will be heard.  Each speaker will be allowed to speak for a maximum of three minutes at each meeting.  Speakers 
will normally be heard in the order in which they registered to speak.  However, the Chair of Cabinet may decide to depart 
from that order in the interest of hearing a greater diversity of views on an item, or hearing views on a greater number of 
items.  The Chair of Cabinet may also decide to allow a greater number of addresses and a greater time slot subject still to 
the maximum three minutes per address for such addresses for items of special public interest.

Members who wish to address Cabinet shall notify the Chair prior to the commencement of the meeting and may speak on 
any item on that meeting’s agenda.  A maximum of thirty minutes in total will be allowed for addresses by Members unless 
the Chair exercises discretion to allow longer.  The time these addresses take will not count towards the thirty minute period 
referred to above so as to prejudice any other persons who have registered their wish to speak.

KEY DECISIONS
  denotes the issue is a ‘Key’ decision: 

 Any decision in relation to the Executive function* which results in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the 
making of saving which are significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 
decision relates. For these purpose the minimum financial threshold will be £250,000;  

 Where decisions are not likely to involve significant expenditure or savings but nevertheless are likely to be significant 
in terms of their effects on communities in two or more wards or electoral divisions; and

 For the purpose of interpretation a decision, which is ancillary or incidental to a Key decision, which had been 
previously taken by or on behalf of the Council shall not of itself be further deemed to be significant for the purpose of 
the definition.

mailto:democraticservices@northampton.gov.uk


NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET

Your attendance is requested at a meeting to be held:
in The Jeffrey Room, The Guildhall, St. Giles Square, Northampton, NN1 

1DE
on Wednesday, 13 November 2019

at 6:00 pm.
George Candler
Chief Executive 

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES  

2. MINUTES  

3. INTENTION TO HOLD PART OF THE MEETING IN PRIVATE IF NECESSARY  

4. DEPUTATIONS/PUBLIC ADDRESSES  

5. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

6. ISSUES ARISING FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES  

7. HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT (SPD) - DRAFT CONSULTATION OUTCOMES, PROPOSED 
CHANGES AND ADOPTION  

 Copy herewith 

8. PARKING STANDARDS SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD) - 
DRAFT CONSULTATION OUTCOMES, PROPOSED CHANGES AND 
ADOPTION  

 Copy herewith 

9. SPECIALIST HOUSING SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD) - 
DRAFT CONSULTATION OUTCOMES, PROPOSED CHANGES AND 
ADOPTION  

 Copy herewith 

10. REGENERATION AND REDEVELOPMENT OF BERKELEY HOUSE AND ST 
MARY'S COURT, SPRING BOROUGHS  

 Copy herewith 

11. VULCAN WORKS - OPERATOR ARRANGEMENTS  

  Copy herewith
 

12. FINANCE MONITORING TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2019  



Copy herewith 

13. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS  
THE CHAIR TO MOVE:
“THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM THE REMAINDER OF THE 
MEETING ON THE GROUNDS THAT THERE IS LIKELY TO BE DISCLOSURE TO 
THEM OF SUCH CATEGORIES OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED BY 
SECTION 100(1) OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS LISTED AGAINST 
SUCH ITEMS OF BUSINESS BY REFERENCE TO THE APPROPRIATE PARAGRAPH 
OF SCHEDULE 12A TO SUCH ACT.” 

SUPPLEMENTARY AGENDA

Exempted Under Schedule 
12A of L.Govt Act 1972
Para No:-



14. REGENERATION AND REDEVELOPMENT OF 
BERKELEY HOUSE AND ST MARY'S COURT, 
SPRING BOROUGHS - APPENDIX 6  

(3)



This page is intentionally left blank



1
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 16 October 2019

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

Wednesday, 16 October 2019

PRESENT: Councillor Nunn (Chair); Councillor Larratt (Deputy Chair); Councillors 
Eldred, Hallam, J Hill, Hibbert and King

APOLOGIES: Councillor Hadland

1. APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Hadland. 

2. MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2019 were agreed and signed by the 
Leader, subject to the following amendment: 

Item 7, paragraph 3 - the two references to Councillor Birch were corrected to Councillor 
Beardsworth.   

3. INTENTION TO HOLD PART OF THE MEETING IN PRIVATE IF NECESSARY
There was no intention to hold any part of the meeting in private. 

4. DEPUTATIONS/PUBLIC ADDRESSES
Mrs Sarah Matcham addressed Cabinet on Item 9 – Public Spaces Protection Order – 
Jeyes Jetty – and outlined her strong conviction that the alleyway should be gated and 
locked at all times.  On 18th February 2019 her 24 year old son Bradley died as the victim of 
an unprovoked attack in Jeyes Jetty.  Last Friday Mrs Matcham had herself walked through 
Jeyes Jetty.  The smell indicated it had been used as a toilet, which was a public health risk.  
There was evidence of fly tipping and three youths were loitering.  She considered that the 
alleyway served no purpose, and encouraged crime and anti-social behaviour.  Mrs 
Matcham pointed out that the council has a responsibility to protect the public and 
encouraged the making of the Public Spaces Protection Order to enable Jeyes Jetty to be 
locked and gated.

Councillor Hallam thanked Mrs Matcham for her bravery in attending and sharing her story. 

5. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were none. 

6. ISSUES ARISING FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES
There were no issues arising from Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 

7. REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA) POLICY 
UPDATE

Councillor Nunn as the relevant Cabinet Member presented the report and advised that 
approval was being sought for the revised and updated Regulation of Investigatory Powers 
Act 2000 (RIPA) policy. A version showing the Policy updated with tracked changes was 
circulated to Members at the meeting.  The Borough Secretary noted that there had been a 
good outcome from the Inspection, resulting in slight changes which had been made to the 
policy.

1

Agenda Item 2



2
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 16 October 2019

RESOLVED:

2.1 Cabinet noted the update on the outcome of the desktop Inspection carried out by the 
Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office (IPCO) dated 16th August 2019.

2.2 Cabinet approved the updated RIPA Policy attached as Appendix 1; and

2.3 Cabinet delegated authority to the Borough Secretary and Monitoring Officer to

a)  Update the RIPA policy to include the name and contact details of new 
Authorising Officers after they have been appointed, and

b)  Make such future amendments to the Policy which are in the opinion of the 
Borough Secretary and Monitoring Officer minor and are necessary to reflect 
either legislative requirements, relevant guidance or current good practice.

 

8. REVIEW OF PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 2017
Councillor King as the relevant Cabinet Member presented the report and stated that it was 
important to agree to the commencement of a consultation process regarding the review of 
the Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) as the current order would expire on 31 March 
2020.

Councillor Hallam welcomed enforcement in respect of cycling on the pavement – frequent 
complaints were received about Kettering Road.

Councillor Larratt also received regular complaints in respect of cycling on the pavement 
along Wellingborough Road.  In regard to busking, he pointed out that whilst some buskers 
were very good, others were not, and regularisation would be helpful.

Councillor Birch agreed that cycling on the pavement was very dangerous.  She considered 
that busking needed to be time-limited.  Councillor Birch questioned how effective PSPOs 
were and how many times they had been issued.  She also pointed out that current signage 
was small and high up – it needed to be legible and at eye level.

Councillor King stated that not many PSPOs had been issued.  New signage would be put in 
place at the end of the consultation, dependent on the outcome.  Operation Lily, deploying 
10 extra police officers to the town centre, was making a difference.

Councillor Beardsworth noted that cycling on the pavement was a major problem and was 
also concerned about use of scooters – this was likely to become an issue and needed to be 
planned for.  She had been out with the police in the town centre on many occasions.  Jeyes 
Jetty had always been a problem as a cut-through and was not suitable for the town centre.

RESOLVED:

2.1.1 Cabinet authorised the Chief Executive to undertake a 12 week consultation period 
regarding whether the review of current PSPO 2017 under the Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime & Policing Act 2014 should be renewed for a further three years and whether 
any additional activities or behaviour ought to be included in it as detailed in Appendix 
1.

2.1.2 In addition, Cabinet authorised the consultation on additional behaviours which have 
been brought to our attention (busking, cycling on pavements).

2



3
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 16 October 2019

2.1.3 Cabinet agreed to receive a further report, following completion of the statutory public 
consultation, which considers any representations received and, if appropriate, seek 
approval of the PSPO(s).

 

9. PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER - JEYES JETTY
Councillor King as the relevant Cabinet Member introduced the report, seeking approval to 
make a PSPO restricting the public right of way over Jeyes Jetty.  Marble Arch had been 
gated a few years previously and anti-social behaviour in the area had reduced as a result.

Councillor King and Councillor Nunn had met with Mrs Matcham last Friday and Councillor 
King thanked Mrs Matcham for speaking to Cabinet.   

RESOLVED:

Cabinet:

2.1.1 Resolved to make a PSPO as per Appendix 1 to this report restricting the public right 
of way over Jeyes Jetty for a period of three years after taking into account the 
results of a public consultation carried out between 19th June and 11th September 
2019.

2.1.2 Resolved to delegate to the Borough Secretary the authority to comply with all legal 
steps and processes required by Chapter 2 of Part 4 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014 for the Council to make a PSPO restricting the public 
right of way over Jeyes Jetty for a period of three years as per Appendix 1 in order to 
give effect to the decision at 2.1.1. 

2.1.3 Resolved to delegate to the Chief Executive authority to make an application for listed 
building planning permission for the installation of secure gates at each end of Jeyes 
Jetty and, subject to approval being granted, arrange for the installation, operation 
and maintenance of said gates.

2.1.4 Resolved to delegate to the Chief Executive authority to enforce a PSPO made under 
the power delegated at 2.1.2 and to authorise Council officers and appropriately 
trained external contractors working on behalf of the Council as authorised persons to 
issue fixed penalties of £100 to any person suspected of committing an offence under 
section 67 of the Act.

 

10. DRAFT NORTHAMPTONSHIRE DOMESTIC ABUSE AND SEXUAL VIOLENCE 
STRATEGY 2019-2022

Councillor King as the relevant Cabinet Member presented the report and urged Members to 
adopt the Draft Northamptonshire Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy.  Funding 
opportunities had previously been missed because the strategy had not been in place.

Councillor Stone considered that the strategy should have been implemented earlier.  
Domestic violence and sexual violence were increasing year on year.  However, she did not 
consider this to be an adequate report.  The reference to Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) in 

3



4
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 16 October 2019

section 3.1.6 was not good enough and needed to be taken more seriously.

Councillor Stone noted that although men can be victims of domestic and sexual violence, 
this was a gendered issue since 80% of victims were women.  Of the men, one third were 
abused by their male partners and another third were a result of retaliation by women who 
were victims themselves. It was important that the correct evidence was obtained, otherwise 
the strategy and its implementation would not be adequate.

Councillor King initially stated that the strategy had been prepared by Nikki Marzec from the 
Police and Crime Commissioners Office.  However, she later advised that it may have been 
written by Nikki Martin.

Councillor King advised that Home Office funding had been received recently, so some work 
on FGM had been done.  This work had not commenced when the report was drafted, and 
Councillor King agreed to ask for it to be added.

Councillor Ashraf was pleased the strategy had come to Cabinet, but disappointed that 
refugees had not been consulted.  She reminded Cabinet that a motion had been passed at 
Council on 10 December 2018 for financial assistance to Northamptonshire Domestic Abuse 
Service (NDAS), and asked how much had been given.

Councillor King stated that she and the Head of Housing and Wellbeing had had numerous 
conversations with NDAS, who were happy with how things were progressing. One of the 
reasons for the lack of funding had been the current strategy and once this was in place, 
progress could be made.

Councillor Beardsworth welcomed the report and questioned whether slavery should be 
included, especially in relation to those with additional needs and those from other countries.  
It was shocking that there was no criminal prosecution for FGM.  She expressed 
appreciation for the work that had been done – especially since funding was difficult.  She 
questioned whether the New Zealand or Tasmanian model of removing the perpetrator 
rather than the victim could be an effective way forward.

Councillor King advised that slavery was unlikely to be covered by this strategy, but she 
would provide feedback and await any response.

The Head of Housing and Wellbeing advised that it was difficult to draw the line as to what 
was included in the strategy.  This was a draft county-wide strategy which each 
Northamptonshire Council was being asked to approve. An action plan was being developed 
with 5 objectives to be achieved in a reasonable time period.  Comments made would be 
taken on board in developing the actions linked to the strategy.

Councillor King agreed to feed back concerns, particularly regarding FGM.

RESOLVED:

2.1.1 Cabinet considered and adopted the draft Countywide Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Strategy 2019-2022.

2.1.2 Cabinet committed to work with partner agencies to ensure the development and 
delivery of the strategy and associated action plans, through the community safety 
governance structures that are proposed. 

2.1.3 Cabinet agreed to receive further reports on the implementation and progress of this 
strategy as and when necessary. 

4



5
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 16 October 2019

 

11. MUSEUM POLICY DOCUMENTS
Councillor King as the relevant Cabinet Member presented the report seeking approval for 
the updated and revised policies for Northampton Museums and Art Gallery.

Councillor Birch stated that the policies were robust and sound, based on current good 
practice.  She was pleased to note the interest in suffragette and women’s related objects. It 
was assumed that disposal procedures would be carefully followed to avoid previous errors.  
Councillor Birch asked how long it would be before everything was digitised, when Arts 
Council accreditation would be reinstated, and whether there would be a Phase 2 
development of the museum.

Councillor King responded that although there were no plans for full digitisation, this could 
be suggested.  There were positive conversations with the Arts Council regarding 
accreditation and Phase 1 was due to complete in Spring 2020.  There were no plans for 
Phase 2 at present.

Councillor Beardsworth was pleased to note that lessons had been learned concerning 
disposal – although the extension of the museum had been a positive outcome from an 
undesirable situation.

RESOLVED:

2.1  Cabinet agreed the adoption of the updated and revised Collections Development 
Policy; Care of Collections and Conservation Policy; Documentation Policy and 
Access Policy.

2.2  Cabinet noted Section 1 Overarching Principles and Section 16. Disposal Procedures 
in the Collections Development Policy relating to financially motivated disposals and 
the undertakings contained therein. 
 

12. TOWN CENTRE MASTERPLAN
In the absence of Councillor Hadland, Councillor Nunn outlined the report, noting that the 
ambitious plans were all indicative – detail would follow and would be consulted upon.  The 
masterplan had been shaped by the public consultation.  It was the start of the process, 
giving vision, direction and purpose which would link into local planning policy to help shape 
the town.

Councillor Ashraf read a statement on behalf of Councillor Stone, who broadly agreed with 
the plan and expressed thanks to officers for developing it, but questioned how viable it 
would be financially.  The proposed Heritage Gateway would be a huge attraction to the 
town, but plans needed to be sympathetically drawn up.  The current bus station should 
become the long-distance coach station and the new bus station should be part of 
Mayorhold.  It was disappointing that there was a lack of space provided for the voluntary 
sector.

Councillor Birch read a statement from Dr Marie Dickie OBE (Friends of Northampton Castle 
and Spring Borough’s Voice).  Dr Dickie considered that the plan had limited public 
involvement and offered little in the way of enhancing the heritage of the town.  Whilst 
recognising that development was necessary to fund transformation of a car park into public 
open space, she was concerned by the scale of development proposed for the Castle 
House/Doddridge site.  She emphasised the importance of a heritage-led town centre 

5



6
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 16 October 2019

improvement rather than focusing on residential and retail issues.

Councillor Beardsworth expressed thanks for the cross-party working group on the town 
centre.  The town centre needed to become smaller with improved shop fronts.  More 
money was needed, although not much was available.  In terms of the public realm, more 
could have been done with the Greyfriars site; perhaps it could have been grassed.  If 
award-winning council houses (like those in Norwich) could be built in Northampton that 
would be positive.  The town centre masterplan document was well thought out and a good 
start to plan for the future.  

Councillor Nunn expressed thanks to the Economic Growth and Regeneration Manager for 
his input to the report.

Cllr McCutcheon considered that retail was not the most important factor and in the past too 
much attention had been paid to it.  In consultations, people mentioned the importance of 
the Guildhall/County Hall, libraries, theatres and other cultural activities.  These should be 
built up, but public money was needed.

Councillor Eldred stated that it was important to develop leisure and other facilities alongside 
residential to encourage university students to stay in the town after graduating.  Greyfriars 
would be a good hub for this. 

RESOLVED:

2.1 Cabinet approved the Northampton Town Centre Masterplan which sets the Principles 
and the approach that will be taken in order to deliver transformational change.

2.2 Cabinet noted the results of the consultation and how the masterplan has accounted 
for these within its design.

2.3 The Masterplan is used to inform emerging planning policy within the town centre

2.4 Cabinet noted the progress made to date, timescales and next steps for the Future 
High Street Fund application and the priority areas for intervention.

 

13. PROPOSED DESIGNATION OF AN ADDITIONAL HMO LICENSING SCHEME
Councillor Hibbert as the relevant Cabinet Member presented the report seeking approval of 
a new Additional Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Licensing Scheme.  This was 
needed to ensure HMOs were well maintained and managed with accountable landlords.

Councillor Beardsworth was pleased to note the licensing scheme was being extended.  
Many people were discouraged by the number of HMOs because of parking issues, small 
room sizes, quality of life concerns and mental health issues.

Councillor Hibbert stated that the quality and enforcement team had been strengthened to 
ensure landlords fulfilled their obligations.

RESOLVED:

2.1     Cabinet:
  

(a)    Noted the ‘Consultation Report’ of 3 May 2019 (attached to the report as 
Appendix A) and the ‘Report on the findings from the Consultation on the 
Designation of an Additional HMO Licensing Scheme in Northampton’ (attached 

6



7
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 16 October 2019

to the report as Appendix B);

(b)    Agreed that, having considered the ‘Consultation Report’ (Appendix A), the 
‘Report on the Findings from the Consultation’ (Appendix B) and the ‘Hazards 
identified during HMO inspections’ (Appendix C) which show that a significant 
proportion of the HMOs in the designated area are being managed ineffectively, 
an Additional HMO Licensing Scheme is required for a period of five years; and

(c)    Agreed to designate, with effect from 1 February 2020 for a period of five years, 
a selected area of the Borough (identified in the map and list of streets 
contained in Appendix D of this report) as being subject to Additional HMO 
Licensing under section 56(1)(a) of the Housing Act 2004 for the following types 
of HMO:

(i)   Any HMO (irrespective of the number of storeys) that contains three or four 
occupiers who form two or more households; and

(ii)   All self-contained flats (irrespective of the number of storeys) that are 
Houses in Multiple Occupation and contain three or four occupiers who form 
two or more households but, where the HMO is a section 257 House in 
Multiple Occupation, this Additional HMO licensing designation will only 
apply to those section 257 HMOs that are mainly or wholly tenanted, 
including those with resident landlords.

 

14. BOROUGHWIDE ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION FOR HOUSES IN MULTIPLE 
OCCUPANCY

Councillor Hill as the relevant Cabinet Member presented the report seeking approval for 
public consultation of the proposal to introduce a Borough-wide Article 4 Direction.  If 
approved, the three-week consultation would start on 7th November 2019, with a view to 
being approved by November 2020.

Councillor Ashraf was pleased that this Direction would cover all areas.  Residents living in 
HMOs in her ward had expressed concern and people needed a decent place to live.

Councillor Hill also pointed out that some changes had already been implemented.

RESOLVED:

2.1 Cabinet approved, for public consultation, the Council’s proposal to introduce a 
Borough wide Article 4 Direction for houses in multiple occupation (HMO).  This 
Direction, if it were to come into effect, would withdraw permitted development rights 
for the change of use from Class C3 Dwellinghouses to Class C4 Houses in Multiple 
Occupation for areas of the Borough not currently covered by an Article 4 Direction.

2.2 Cabinet agreed that the Head of Planning be given delegated authority in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Planning to make minor non-material spelling, formatting 
and other amendments to the consultation notices and documents where they do not 
alter the intent of the Direction.

 

15. LONG LEASE OF PUBLIC OPEN SPACE AT STONE CIRCLE ROAD

7



8
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 16 October 2019

Councillor Larratt as the relevant Cabinet Member outlined the report seeking authority to 
advertise the proposed disposal of public open space at Stone Circle Road.  This was 
required in order to grant a 25 year lease to Thorplands 81, who had been playing football 
on the land for over five years.  In the event of no objection, authority would be delegated to 
those mentioned in recommendation 2.3 (to which Councillor Larratt was added) to finalise 
the terms of the lease.  A 25 year lease would give the club access to funding to further 
develop the excellent community facility.

RESOLVED:
2.1 Cabinet approved “in principle” the disposal by way of a long lease the land at Stone 

Circle Road subject to (1) the intended disposal being advertised in accordance with 
statutory requirements and (2) any objections arising from this process being 
considered by Cabinet prior to any disposal taking place.

2.2 Cabinet authorised the advertisement of the proposed long lease (25 years) of public 
open space at Stone Circle Road in accordance with the requirements of the Local 
Government 1972, section 123 (2A) of the local Government Act 1972 as amended 
by the Local Government Act 1980, relating to the disposal of public open space 

2.3 Cabinet authorised in the event of there being no objections received to the proposed 
disposal of public open space, that authority be delegated to the Economic Growth 
and Regeneration Manager in consultation with the Lead Member for Regeneration 
and Enterprise, the Deputy Leader, the Chief Finance Officer and Borough Secretary 
to approve and conclude terms of the long lease to Thorplands 81. 

 

16. SIXFIELDS - ENFORCEMENT STRATEGY - UPDATE
Councillor Nunn as the relevant Cabinet Member referred to the report updating Cabinet on 
the enforcement actions in the Sixfields case. It was important that these were made public 
where possible.

The Borough Secretary stated that there had been a number of reports in private due to the 
live litigation and consequent risk to strategy.  In terms of liability, the Cardozas had been 
found to be in breach of fiduciary duties and efforts were now focused on the enforcement 
action to recover the judgement award and legal costs of £3m.  

The Borough Secretary reported that discussions were ongoing in the transfer of two 
properties from Artefact to NBC, and a charge had been made on David and Christina 
Cardoza’s house.  Anthony Cardoza had declared himself bankrupt and a Trustee in 
bankruptcy had been appointed.  First Land Limited had been put into liquidation by a 
separate party.  Discussions were ongoing with Deloitte regarding a funding agreement – 
value for money was needed.

Councillor Beardsworth stated that she was angry for the taxpayers of Northampton. The 
debt should be pursued and NBC should be more proactive in recovering the money.

Councillor Nunn stated that public updates were important and progress was being made.  
The outrage was shared by all.

The Borough Secretary pointed out that money was put into First Land by the football club, 
not by NBC directly, so enforcement had to be done via a liquidator and needed to be cost-
benefit analysed.  Councillor Beardsworth asked whether it had been known that the football 
club were putting money into a separate company.  The Borough Secretary stated that he 
had not been involved at that point, but it was not known from his reading of the documents.

8



9
Cabinet Minutes - Wednesday, 16 October 2019

RESOLVED:

Cabinet noted the actions that are being undertaken to recover the judgement debt and in 
particular noted that:

2.1 The Council is in the process of agreeing transfers to it of residential properties from 
Artefact Investments Limited.

2.2 The Council has commenced possession proceedings for Christina and David 
Cardoza’s property outside Northampton.

2.3 FRP Advisory Insolvency Practitioners LLP (Paul Allen) has been appointed as the 
Trustee in Bankruptcy for Anthony Cardoza.

2.4 Discussions are ongoing with Deloitte about the recovery of monies for NBC as major 
creditor through the First Land Limited liquidation.

2.5 Of the £200k maximum legal costs spend agreed by Cabinet at its meeting on 3rd April 
2019 £141,564 has been spent.

 

The meeting concluded at 7:38 pm

9



This page is intentionally left blank



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19

CABINET REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC

Cabinet Meeting Date:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Service Area:

Accountable Cabinet Member: 

Ward(s)

13 November 2019

YES

YES

YES

PLANNING

Councillor James Hill

All

1. Purpose

1.1 This report seeks Cabinet’s approval to adopt the Houses in Multiple 
Occupation Supplementary Planning Document subject to proposed 
amendments in response to public consultation. 

2. Recommendations

2.1 That Cabinet agree the policy responses to the public consultation exercise 
held between August and October 2019 as set out in paragraph 3.2.5 below, 
and

2.2 That Cabinet approves the adoption of the Houses in Multiple Occupation 
Supplementary Document (Appendix 1) which takes into account the 
responses to the public consultation exercise

2.3 That the Head of Planning be given delegated authority in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Planning to make   any necessary minor 
amendments, including spelling and changes in the format of the SPD where 
they do not alter the intent of the SPD, prior to its publication.

Report Title HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION SUPPLEMENTARY 
PLANNING DOCUMENT

Appendices - 2

11

Agenda Item 7



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19

3. Issues and Choices

3.1 Report Background

3.1.1 At Cabinet on 24th July 2019, Members agreed that the draft Houses in 
Multiple Occupation Supplementary Planning Document (HMO SPD) should  
be published for consultation for eight weeks, from 8th August to 3rd October 
2019.  This SPD seeks to update the principles and guidelines for the 
management of the concentration and quality of HMOs which were contained 
in the Interim Planning Policy Statement for HMOs, approved in November 
2014.

3.1.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) requires local 
planning authorities to ensure that a sufficient number and range of homes 
can be provided to meet the needs of current and future generations, and that 
these are reflected in planning policies.  This includes the need to plan for 
houses in multiple occupation.

3.1.3 Policy 14 of the Submission Draft Local Plan Part 2 specifies this requirement, 
and this HMO SPD seeks to provide further details on how the policy can be 
met.

3.2 Issues

3.2.1 The Cabinet report on the draft HMO SPD, which was considered in July, 
outlined the key issues which Northampton faced with the volume and 
concentration of houses in multiple occupation.  It also highlighted the fact that 
evidence shows that there is a demand for HMOs and that this is likely to 
increase.  The main issue relates to the concentration of HMOs and how this 
is managed.
  

3.2.2 The Interim Planning Policy Statement (IPPS, 2014) was prepared with the 
intention of addressing the management of the concentration of HMOs as well 
as to guide applicants and landlords on the requirements for delivering HMOs, 
covering matters such as space standards.  Appeal decisions, as well as 
evidence used to inform policy formulation for the Local Plan Part 2, have 
been used to update in the production of this SPD. 

3.2.3 There were 3 principles contained in the HMO SPD.  Principle 1 related to the 
application of a new threshold for determining planning applications.  Principle 
2 related to amenity space standards and Principle 3 related to parking 
provision.

3.2.4 The HMO SPD was published for consultation for a period of eight weeks, 
ending on 3rd October 2019.  Eight duly made responses were recorded.  Full 
details can be found in the Consultation Statement attached at Appendix A.  In 
summary, the Environment Agency considers Principle 2 to be acceptable as 
it addresses their concerns on no ground floor sleeping in high flood risk 
areas.   The Town Centre Conservation Area Advisory Committee, Great 
Houghton Parish Council and Duston Parish Council support the contents of 
the SPD, with the latter seeking a borough wide Article 4 Direction.  Two other 
respondents requested that the Article 4 Direction be extended.  Three 

12



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19

respondents neither supported nor objected to the SPD but outlined the issues 
associated with HMOs.  There was only 1 objection to the SPD and this 
related mainly to the threshold.

3.2.5 The HMO SPD has been amended to reflect some of the comments, as well 
as to clarify the principles.  The main changes to the HMO SPD are:

 Principle 1: to be amended to read “……….It should not result in more 
than 10% of the total number of HMO dwellings, regardless of whether 
licensed or not, within a 50m radius”

 Principle 2: the flood risk element is considered to be important and 
warrants its own principle.  New Principle 3 has been formulated to 
address this and Principle 2 now focuses on the provision of adequate 
facilities and amenities

 Principle 4: replaces the previous Principle 3.  It has been amended to 
state that parking beat surveys will only be required where there have 
not been any updated surveys within 1 year

3.2.6 The updated HMO SPD is attached in Appendix B.

3.3 Choices (Options)

3.3.1 Option 1: Agree the amendments and adopt the HMO SPD

3.3.2 Members can agree to the amended version and adopt the HMO SPD.  Once 
adopted, the SPD will be used to guide planning applicants and landlords on 
the appropriate threshold and standards for delivering HMOs.  This will ensure 
that landlords will continue to provide the right standard of accommodation 
within the right locations.  It will ensure that the wellbeing of occupants and 
nearby residents are protected.  

3.3.3 This SPD seeks to deliver both the policies in the adopted West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and the submission draft Northampton 
Local Plan Part 2. Its status as a Supplementary Planning Document means 
that the document will carry more weight when it comes to decision making 
and planning appeals. 

3.3.4 Option 2: Do not agree the amendment and do not adopt the HMO SPD

3.3.5 Members can decide not the adopt the revised HMO SPD and continue to use 
the existing Interim Planning Policy Statement to determine planning 
applications and to guide landlords and planning applicants when it comes to 
delivering HMOs. 

3.3.6 In pursuing this option, the Council will continue to rely on an interim 
statement which was adopted before the West Northamptonshire Joint Core 
Strategy and carries limited weight.

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1 Policy

13



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19

4.1.1 This HMO SPD seeks to implement both Policy H5 of the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (Managing the housing stock) and 
Policy 14 (Delivering houses in multiple occupation) of the submission draft 
Northampton Local Plan Part 2. It does not seek to introduce any new policies.    

4.2 Resources and Risk

4.2.1 Sufficient resources have been incorporated into the budget for 2019/20 to 
fund the staffing requirements needed to provide pre application advice, 
determine planning applications and undertake enforcement activities. 

4.3 Legal

4.3.1 Supplementary Planning Documents provide additional guidance on adopted 
and emerging policies contained in Local Plans.  This HMO SPD has been 
prepared in accordance with the provisions set out in the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning)(England) Regulations 2012.

4.4 Equality and Health

4.4.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment has recently been carried out for the draft 
Northampton Local Plan Part 2.  As this SPD has been prepared to provide 
guidance on delivering a policy in this Local Plan Part 2, an additional 
Equalities Impact Assessment for this SPD was not considered necessary.

4.5 Consultees (Internal and External)

4.5.1 Prior to releasing the draft SPD for consultation, the Planning Policy team 
consulted colleagues in Development Management, Building Control and 
Private Sector Housing.  Northamptonshire County Council and Environment 
Agency have also been consulted.

4.5.2 Following Cabinet on 24 July 2019, the draft SPD was released for 
consultation for 8 weeks between 8 August to 3 October 2019.  Everyone on 
the local plan database (totalling 511 contacts) was consulted.  An advert 
notice was also published in the Northampton Chronicle & Echo. 

4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes

4.6.1 This HMO SPD will provide guidance on the delivery and management of 
concentration of houses in multiple occupation.  This will contribute towards 
addressing some of the issues associated with HMOs including residents’ 
wellbeing, litter, parking and anti-social behaviour.  Northampton’s Corporate 
Plan for 2018-20 contains 3 strategic priorities, one of which is to create 
resilient communities.  Within this strategic priority, the Council seeks to work 
with partners to reduce violent crime, anti-social behaviour and hate crime.  In 
addition, it will contribute towards delivering more homes, better homes – in 
terms of making effective use of enforcement powers to ensure good 
standards in the private rental sector. 

14



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19

4.7 Environmental Implications (including climate change issues)

4.7.1 This HMO SPD provides guidelines on implementing policies associated with 
houses in multiple occupation.  The principles contained in this SPD are aimed 
at managing the concentration of HMOs, which, if proven effective over time, 
will reduce issues such as litter, unacceptable space standards and negative 
impact on the wellbeing of occupants and residents nearby.  Whilst not directly 
addressing the climate change issues outline within the Council’s Carbon 
Neutral Northampton agenda, the SPD will indirectly contribute towards this 
agenda, for instance, through more recycling.

4.8Other Implications

4.8.1 There are no other implications identified. 

5. Background Papers

Appendix A – Houses in Multiple Occupation Supplementary Planning Document 
Consultation Statement, November 2019

Appendix B – Houses in Multiple Occupation Supplementary Planning Document, 
November 2019

5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)
5.2 West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (adopted December 2014)
5.3 Northampton Local Plan Part 2 (Submission Draft May 2019) 

6. Next Steps

6.1 If Members choose to adopt the SPD, an Adoption Statement will be prepared.  
This Adoption Statement and the accompanying documents will then be 
placed on the Council’s website.

Peter Baguley
Head of Planning

Tel: 01604 838921

15



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 

DOCUMENT

CONSULTATION STATEMENT
NOVEMBER 2019

17



2 | P a g e

CONTENTS

Contents Page Number
Introduction 3
Consultation Exercise 3
Summary of Responses 3
Appendix 1: Notice in the Northampton Chronicle & Echo 8

18



3 | P a g e

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 This Supplementary Planning Document on houses in multiple occupation has 
been prepared to assist landlords, property owners and planning applicants in 
delivering houses in multiple occupation.  It is also aimed at assisting Development 
Management officers in considering planning applications associated with houses in 
multiple occupation.

1.2 This document contains 4 principles.  They address matters associated with 
HMO concentration, amenity space standards, flood risk and parking.

2 CONSULTATION EXERCISE

2.1 The Council undertook an 8 week public consultation exercise between 8th 
August and 3rd October 2019.  Letters and emails were sent to all 511 contacts in the 
Local Plan database, to include statutory consultees, neighbouring authorities and 
private individuals.

2.2 A public notice was published in the Northampton Chronicle & Echo inviting 
representations to be made to the draft SPD and providing details on where more 
information can be found (see Appendix 1).  Details of the consultation were also 
published on social media.  A press release was published on the Council’s website.

2.3 This draft HMO SPD and supporting documents were made available to view:

a. Online via the Council’s website www.northampton.gov.uk;
b. In Northampton Guildhall’s One Stop Shop; and  
c. In libraries throughout Northampton 

3 SUMMARY OF RESPONSES

3.1 There were 8 responses received in total.  Table 1 below summarises the 
responses and Policy Officers responses.

Table 1: Summary of comments and Officer responses

Ref Name/ 
Organisation

Summary of Responses Planning Policy 
Officer response

HMO1 I Bhatti The principle to reduce the 50m 
radius threshold from 15% to 10% 
is nonsensical. It has clearly been 
researched by the study that 
Northampton’s demand for HMOs 
is increasing.  To reduce the 
agreed limit is unjustifiable

The purpose of 
reducing the 
threshold is to 
manage the 
concentration of 
HMOs within a 
specified radius.  It is 
not intended to 
reduce the quantum 
of HMOs within the 
borough

19

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/


4 | P a g e

Northampton has recently adopted 
new room sizes as well as a 
number of other strict rules to 
ensure landlords provide a good 
standard of living

Noted.  The principle 
in this SPD updates 
and strengthen the 
requirements for 
acceptable amenity 
space standards 

15% is not enough to negatively 
impact an area’s character.  The 
remaining 85% of the local area 
can help to integrate with the HMO 
population to create a single 
community environment.  Too 
much negativity an unfound 
judgement made on HMOs which 
is unfair

Evidence shows that 
the concentration of 
HMOs within a small 
radius can have a 
negative impact on 
the character of the 
area

HMO2 Environment 
Agency

Principle 2 addresses our concerns 
on no ground floor sleeping in high 
flood risk areas

Noted and welcomed

HMO3 D Pawlusek Amount of HMOs far too many in 
Northampton especially Abington

Noted

Negative impacts of HMOs in the 
local area are listed

Noted

Provide proper consultation, two 
neighbours is not enough.  It 
impacts more than just those living 
next door.  Affects entire street

The consultation 
undertaken by 
Development 
Management for 
planning applications 
is in line with legal 
requirements.  Public 
notices are also 
placed to enable 
others to be aware of 
any planning 
applications 

Landlords line their pockets.  The 
Council needs to realise this and 
require full planning permission 
and community consultation with a 
unanimous decision for a HMO to 
be allowed

Planning permission 
is not required for a 
change of use from a 
dwelling house into 
an HMO for 3 – 6 
unrelated persons.  
This is a permitted 
development.  For 
this scheme, 
planning permission 
is only required 
where there is an 
Article 4 Direction 
imposed.  Any other 
HMO will require a 

20



5 | P a g e

planning application
HMO4 D Kutas There should be a differentiated 

licence within the Article 4 area 
between a regular HMO and ones 
specifically for students.  The 
respondent outlined the differences 
between the general HMOs and 
student HMOs, citing the latter as 
preferable

The licensing 
element of HMOs is 
set down in law.  The 
Council is obligated 
to comply with the 
legal requirements 

Recommends that the Article 4 
Direction be widened

Noted.  

No HMO licences should be 
granted within conservation areas

The licensing 
element of HMOs is 
set down in law.  The 
Council is obligated 
to comply with the 
legal requirements

Market the development 
opportunities for larger scale town 
centre developments to private 
developers.  Focus higher density 
and taller residential and mixed 
use developments in the town 
centre

The Council, through 
its Local Plan 
preparation and 
regeneration 
projects, aims to 
deliver town centre 
growth and 
regeneration

Increases to the volume of private 
student blocks should be a priority 
over HMOs

Noted

Neighbourhoods can be 
regenerated and improved 
significantly if HMOs are subject to 
far stricter and further reaching 
decisions.  Large supply of private, 
non HMO accommodation 
available in town and families/ 
professional workers should be 
encouraged as a priority over 
HMOs

Noted.  

Workers should be encouraged 
more towards regular 
accommodation or longer term flat 
sharing over HMOs.  Increase in 
large scale apartment blocks would 
answer these needs better than 
HMOs increases

Any proposal that 
comes forward for 
apartments will be 
determined in 
accordance with 
local plan policies.  
The Council is also 
required to deliver a 
range of housing to 
suit a variety of 
needs

21



6 | P a g e

HMO5 Great 
Houghton 
Parish 
Council

Welcomes improved controls and 
management of HMOs

Noted and welcomed

Seek that planning application 
requirements are brought in line 
with licensing requirements

Planning permission 
is not required for a 
change of use from a 
dwellinghouse to a 
HMO for 3 to 6 
unrelated persons, 
unless the property 
is located within an 
Article 4 Direction 
Area for HMOs

Seek a requirement for a register 
of all HMO owners and landlords
Welcomes the requirement for 
suitable parking 

Noted and welcomed

HMO6 Town Centre 
Conservation 
Area 
Advisory 
Committee

The Committee welcomes the SPD 
and supports the principles set out 
in 4.2 including the 10% saturation 
threshold

Noted and welcomed

HMO7 M Pritchard Where smaller HMOs are 
concerned, remove PDR and 
agree that total of HMOs in any 
area should be 10% as 
recommended by Loughborough 
University

Noted.  

There should be regulations to 
prevent unkempt gardens, fly 
tipping and excess rubbish, and 
regular monitoring and 
enforcement

The Council’s 
Environmental 
Health team work 
within their legal 
remit and undertake 
regular monitoring 
and enforcement

Northampton East should be 
included in these regulations as 
many privately rented houses 
especially in Lings and Lumbertubs 
are used as HMOs and not always 
declared by landlords, bringing all 
the problems mentioned above 

The Council’s 
Environmental 
Health team work 
within their legal 
remit and undertake 
regular monitoring 
and enforcement

HMO8 Duston 
Parish 
Council

Supports the draft SPD Noted and welcomed

There should be a Borough wide 
Article 4 Directive

Noted

The landlord of the HMO must Principle 3 of the 

22



7 | P a g e

ensure that there is provision for at 
least 1 parking space per bedroom

SPD contains 
guidelines on 
ensuring that 
sufficient parking is 
provided by the 
applicant

23



8 | P a g e

APPENDIX 1: NOTICE IN THE NORTHAMPTON CHRONICLE AND ECHO

24



HOUSES IN MULTIPLE 
OCCUPATION 

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL
November 2019

     

25



1 | P a g e

Contents
1.1 Introduction....................................................................................................................................2

2.1 Planning Policy Context …………………………………………………………………………………………………………….4

3.1 Northampton’s Position…………………………………………………………………………………………………………  12

4.1 Managing the Growth of HMOs ……………………………………………………………………………………………… 19

PRINCIPLE 1...................................................................................................................................20

PRINCIPLE 2...................................................................................................................................25

PRINCIPLE 3: .................................................................................................................................27

PRINCIPLE 4:……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………31

       5.1 Monitoring……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….31

References ....................................................................................................................................32

APPENDIX 1...................................................................................................................................33

APPENDIX 2...................................................................................................................................35

APPENDIX 3...................................................................................................................................36

APPENDIX 4...................................................................................................................................37

26



2 | P a g e

1.1 INTRODUCTION

1.1.1 This Supplementary Planning Document for Housing in Multiple Occupation has
been published to aid property owners, planning applicants and planning officers in 
preparing and determining planning applications in relation to Houses In Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs, also known as HiMOs).

1.1.2 Northampton’s population is growing.  There is significant inward investment and 
extensive regeneration is taking place.  The University of Northampton has relocated to 
the Waterside Campus in the town centre, and the locations of demand for student HMOs 
have changed.  It is recognised that HMOs play a key role in providing accommodation 
for students, but they also provide homes for migrant workers, those on lower incomes 
and those who are not in a position to own, or have no immediate desire, to purchase a 
home.   

1.1.3 There are property owners who may wish to contribute towards meeting this 
demand for HMOs.  The Council has planning policies in place to guide prospective 
owners on the Council’s policy approach towards houses in multiple occupation.  It has 
produced guidelines setting out the Council’s requirements in relation to space and 
amenities.  The guiding principles in this document provide details on what the Council 
will consider when determining planning applications relating to HMOs, to ensure that 
they are of a high standard and will not lead to any unacceptable impact on neighbouring 
amenity or other interest of acknowledged importance.  

1.1.4 These principles are applicable to all premises within the administrative boundary 
of Northampton Borough.  Property owners who wish to use their premises for HMO 
purposes under Permitted Development Rights (where no planning approval is required) 
are also strongly recommended to take these principles into account.

1.2 AIMS OF THE SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD)

1.2.1 The aims of the SPD are:

1. To clarify to landlords and property owners whether a planning permission is 
required for the following:

 for a change of use from a dwelling or non-residential property to a house 
in multiple occupation or

 Permitted Development Rights apply (and planning permission is not  
required) or 

 an Article 4 Direction applies (Permitted Development Rights have been 
removed and planning permission is required)

2. To inform those who intend to convert / use their existing properties for multiple 
occupation about the Council’s requirements and standards for houses in multiple 
occupation

27



3 | P a g e

3. To manage the future development of HMOs to ensure such developments will 
not lead to or increase existing over-concentrations of HMOs which are 
considered harmful to local communities, and meet housing need ensuring mixed 
and balanced communities

1.2.2 This SPD amplifies the existing adopted policy contained in the current West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (JCS).  When adopted, it will replace the Interim 
Planning Policy Statement (IPPS) on HMOs which was adopted in 2014. The Submission 
Draft Northampton Local Plan Part 2 includes Policy 14 Delivering Houses in Multiple 
Occupation which is aimed at supporting and maintaining a balanced, mixed and 
inclusive community by managing the concentration and quality of HMOs. This SPD 
provides details on the implementation of this emerging policy as well as current adopted 
policies, and sets out the Council’s approach to determining planning applications 
relating to all HMOs. Once adopted, it becomes a material consideration when 
determining planning applications. 

1.3 DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PROCESS

1.3.1 Prior to submitting any proposals or planning applications, landlords and property 
owners are advised to contact relevant organisations to discuss the details of their 
proposals (see Appendix 2).  They are also strongly recommended to view all relevant 
supporting documents and websites, the contents of which may influence the decision 
making process as well as informing them of where Permitted Development Rights have 
been removed by virtue of Article 4 Directions.

1.3.2 This will also ensure that any proposals and plans will contain the relevant 
information and requirements necessary for determining planning applications for HMOs.

1.3.3 Even when planning permission is not required, landlords and property owners 
are strongly recommended to speak to the Council in respect of building control, private 
sector housing licensing and health & safety requirements and guidelines.

1.3.4 Before submitting a planning application or undertaking any works, please view 
the planning page of the Council’s website for further information: Do I need planning 
permission? 
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning_applications/1793/do_i_need_pla
nning_permission

28

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning_applications/1793/do_i_need_planning_permission
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning_applications/1793/do_i_need_planning_permission


4 | P a g e

2.1 PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT

2.1.1 The preparation of this SPD has been informed by national, strategic and local 
policies, summarised below:

 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (February 2019) sets out a need 
to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities by ensuring that a sufficient 
number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and 
future generations. Para 61 states that the size, type and tenure of housing 
needed for different groups in the community should be assessed and reflected in 
planning policies. The principles contained in this SPD, especially Principle 1, will 
contribute towards the delivery of this requirement.

 Policy H5 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (2014) states that 
‘The existing housing stock will be managed and safeguarded by allowing houses 
in multiple occupation where they would not adversely affect the character and 
amenity of existing residential areas’ 

 The emerging Northampton Local Plan Part 2 will have a policy to help manage 
the concentration and quality of HMOs more effectively

 Saved Policy H30 of the adopted Northampton Local Plan (June 1997) allows 
HMOs providing issues such as parking and overconcentration are addressed
 

 Policy 1 of the Central Area Action Plan (CAAP) seeks to secure a high standard 
of design, as well as secure the protection of the historic environment 

 Policy 10 of the CAAP provides information on car and cycle parking requirements 
for houses in multiple occupation

2.1.2 To support the preparation of the Northampton Local Plan Part 2, the Council 
commissioned Loughborough University to carry out a study into HMOs with policy 
recommendations.  This forms part of the evidence base for the policy on HMOs in the 
emerging Plan and has been used in the formulation of the principles contained in this 
SPD.1

2.1.3 Further details of the above policies are provided in Appendix 1.  In addition to the 
above, property owners, landlords and applicants should note that there are other 
documents which need to be taken into account in informing any future HMO proposals, 
including Conservation Area Appraisals and Management Plans.

1 A Study of Housing in Multiple Occupation Policy (Loughborough University, 2018) 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/10737/2018-hmo-study

29

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/10737/2018-hmo-study


5 | P a g e

2.2 DEFINITION OF HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION

2.2.1 Shared houses that are legally permissible are known collectively as Houses in 
Multiple Occupation (HMOs, or HiMOs).  The exact definition of HMOs can be found in 
Part 2 of the 2004 Housing Act and also the government website 
https://www.gov.uk/private-renting/houses-in-multiple-occupation  . 

2.2.2 In summary, a HMO is a building or part of a building occupied by at least 3 
tenants, forming more than one household and where toilet, bathroom and/or kitchen 
facilities are shared. 

2.2.3 A dwelling house therefore becomes an HMO if it is occupied by 3 or more 
unrelated persons.

2.3 THE USE CLASSES ORDER

2.3.1 The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) and the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015  (as 
amended) provide details of the relevant Use Classes applicable to dwellinghouses and 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs).  They also provide information on when planning 
permission is required and when a Permitted Development Right applies (meaning 
planning permission is not required).

2.3.2 The Use Classes which are applicable to HMOs are as follows, more detail on the 
Use Classes Order can be found in Planning Portal website 
(https://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200130/common_projects/9/change_of_use) :

Use Class Description Legal Position
C3 (Dwelling 
houses)

Use as a dwelling house (whether or 
not by a main resident) by:

C3 (a) - a single person or by people to 
be regarded as forming a single 
household, an employer and certain 
domestic employees (such as an au 
pair, nanny, nurse, governess, servant, 
chauffeur, gardener, secretary and 
personal assistant), a carer and the 
person receiving the care and a foster 
parent and foster child.

C3(b) - up to six people living together 
as a single household and receiving 
care e.g. supported housing schemes 
such as those for people with learning 
disabilities or mental health problems.

C3(c) - groups of people (up to six) 
living together as a single household. 

Permitted change of use 
from dwelling houses to C4 
(HMOs)

30

https://www.gov.uk/private-renting/houses-in-multiple-occupation
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200130/common_projects/9/change_of_use


6 | P a g e

Use Class Description Legal Position
This allows for those groupings that do 
not fall within the C4 HMO definition, 
but which fell within the previous C3 
use class, to be provided for i.e. a small 
religious community may fall into this 
section as could a homeowner who is 
living with a lodger.

C4 (Houses in 
Multiple 
Occupation):

Small shared houses occupied by 
between 3 and 6 unrelated individuals, 
as their only or main residence, who 
share basic amenities such as a 
kitchen or bathroom.

Permitted change of use to 
C3 (dwelling house)

Sui Generis 
(uses which do 
not fall within 
the specified 
use classes) 

Includes large Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (more than 6 people 
sharing)

No permitted change of 
use.  Planning permission 
is required.

2.3.3  In summary:

 Planning permission is not required to change the use of a dwelling house (C3) 
to a small HMO (C4) of 3 – 6 unrelated persons.  These are known as Permitted 
Development Rights, unless the application site is located in an area subject to an 
Article 4 Direction 

 Planning permission is required for all applications for (change of use from C3/C4 
to) a large HMO (Sui Generis) accommodated by more than 6 unrelated persons 

 Planning permission is required for all applications for the development of a large 
HMO (Sui Generis) accommodated by more than 6 unrelated persons 

 Planning permission is required to develop a purpose built HMO regardless of 
the number of persons sharing

2.4 ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION

2.4.1 Some changes to small houses in multiple occupation (Class C4) can be made 
without the need to apply for planning permission.  These are termed Permitted 
Development Rights (PDR). 

2.4.2 Article 4 Directions are made when a Local Planning Authority considers that the 
character of an area will be harmed by the exercise of PDR.  In the case of HMOs, the 
threat could come from the change in the character of a street or to a whole area.  

2.4.3 Where there is evidence of a local need to control the impact of houses in multiple 
occupation, local planning authorities are able to use legal powers to make an Article 4 
Direction to remove PDRs and thereby require the submission of a planning application 
for a change of use.  Article 4 of the General Permitted Development Order provides that 
the Secretary of State or a local planning authority by direction may, in a specified area, 
take away all or some of the PDR.  An Article 4 Direction removing PDR may be 
introduced if the Council considers that the change of use from C3 to C4 would be 

31



7 | P a g e

prejudicial to the proper planning of an area or constitute a threat to the local amenities 
of an area.

2.4.4 Currently, five Article 4 Directions are in force in Northampton which have 
removed Permitted Development Rights for the change of use from a dwelling house to 
an HMO for 3 to 6 unrelated persons. These directions will be reviewed periodically, and 
further revisions may be made.  It is recommended that applicants view the following link 
for further information prior to making any changes to their properties:

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning_applications/1793/do_i_need_pla
nning_permission

or

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning-applications/986/permitted-
development-rights

2.4.5 The areas which are currently affected by Article 4 Directions can be found on 
the map overleaf.  The web links provided give detailed information about the Article 4 
Directions, including pages relating to the Conservation Areas. 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning-applications/986/permitted-
development-rights---article-4-directions

2.4.6 In 2014 the Council introduced a 5 year Additional HMO Licensing scheme in the 
area covered by HMO Article 4 Directions which were in force by 3 July 2014. This means 
that landlords will be required to declare the existence of HMOs and that these houses 
can be quality controlled to secure basic standards, safety and quality for the occupants 
and the adjoining residents.  A licence fee forms part of the process. This scheme will 
expire on 2 November 2019. The Council believes that a wider Additional HMO Licensing 
designation will be required immediately after the expiration of the current scheme. A 
new designation is proposed for all types of HMOs with 3 or more persons and will include 
the existing Additional Licensing designation. Further information on HMO Licensing is 
set out in section 2.8 in this document.

32

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning_applications/1793/do_i_need_planning_permission
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning_applications/1793/do_i_need_planning_permission
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning-applications/986/permitted-development-rights
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning-applications/986/permitted-development-rights
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning-applications/986/permitted-development-rights---article-4-directions
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning-applications/986/permitted-development-rights---article-4-directions


8 | P a g e

Plan:  Boundaries of Areas currently covered by HMO Article 4 Directions

33



9 | P a g e

2.5 LISTED BUILDINGS

2.5.1 Owners and/or tenants of listed properties need to be aware that Listed Building 
Consent may be required for carrying out works that could affect the character of the 
building, including:

 Alterations (inside or out) or extensions which, in the opinion of the Council, 
are likely to affect the appearance or character of a Listed Building

 Alterations or extensions to buildings, objects or structures (including gates 
and walls) within the curtilage of a Listed Building

 Demolition of a building, object or structure which is listed or within the 
curtilage of a Listed Building

 Any new structure which will be physically linked to a Listed Building

2.5.2 This applies to all persons interested in using a Listed Building as an HMO, 
irrespective of whether it is permitted development or not.  Further information can 
be found by accessing the following link:

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1500/li 
sted_building_consent

2.6 CONSERVATION AREAS

2.6.1 There are currently 21 Conservation Areas within Northampton, some of which 
are also subject to HMO Article 4 Directions, where planning permission is required for 
a change of use from a single dwelling or non-residential property to an HMO, including 
any material changes to the external of the building. Further information on both 
conservation areas and Article 4 Directions can be found by accessing the following 
links:

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/p 
ermission_for_development and

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning_applications/1793/do_i_need_ 
planning_permission

2.7 BUILDING CONTROL 

2.7.1  Prior to using a property as an HMO, the health and safety of the occupants and 
adjoining residents need to be safeguarded. Building control regulations aim to secure 
reasonable living standards. Issues such as fire exits, and accessibility need to be 
properly addressed prior to changing the use of a property from a dwelling house to a 
HMO, irrespective of whether planning permission is required or not. Property owners 
and applicants are strongly advised to contact either the Borough Council’s Building 

34

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1500/listed_building_consent
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1500/listed_building_consent
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200207/building_conservation_and_trees/1442/permission_for_development
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning_applications/1793/do_i_need_planning_permission
http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200206/planning_applications/1793/do_i_need_planning_permission


10 | P a g e

Control Section or any independent Building Control body for further advice.  The 
Council’s Building Control section can be found by accessing:

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200011/building_control

2.8 HMO LICENSING

2.8.1 HMO Licensing is an entirely separate procedure from applying for planning 
permission and securing one does not necessarily guarantee compliance with the other. 
All houses let in multiple occupation must be properly managed in accordance with the 
Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation (England) Regulations 2006 SI 2006/372 
and comply with local authority agreed conditions. It is the responsibility of landlords to 
ensure that they comply with HMO Licensing as a part of running their business – failure 
to do so is a criminal offence. Licensing of HMOs seeks to ensure that tenants live in safe 
and acceptable conditions whilst also safeguarding the impact on neighbours and the 
local community. The Private Sector Housing service is responsible for managing HMO 
Licensing in Northampton and they can be contacted by email to 
PSHS@northampton.gov.uk or on 01604 838585. 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200277/private-housing/1288/houses-in-multiple-
occupation-hmos/4  .

2.8.2 Mandatory licensing was introduced by the Housing Act 2004 and has been a 
national legal requirement for the past 13 years. Originally it applied to HMOs:

 Comprising of 3 or more storeys
 Occupied by 5 or more people living in 2 or more households
 Sharing bathroom, toilets and/or kitchen facilities.

2.8.3 Since 1 October 2018 the scope of mandatory licensable HMOs has been 
extended. The storey criteria for mandatory licensing of HMOs was removed and all 
HMOs occupied by 5 or more people forming two or more households (where some 
facilities are shared) required a mandatory HMO licence regardless of the number of 
storeys. Therefore, a Mandatory HMO licence is currently required for HMOs;

 Occupied by 5 or more people living in 2 or more households 
 Sharing bathroom, toilets and/or kitchen facilities

2.8.4 Also in October 2018 Government introduced minimum room sizes in order to 
prevent overcrowding.2 The Council also published guidance for landlords in line with 

2 The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of Licences) (England) Regulations 2018

35

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200011/building_control
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200277/private-housing/1288/houses-in-multiple-occupation-hmos/4
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200277/private-housing/1288/houses-in-multiple-occupation-hmos/4


11 | P a g e

the government’s new room standards3. This is outlined in section Principle 2 of this 
document. 

2.8.5 As mentioned in paragraph 2.4.6, in July 2014, the Council implemented a 5 
year Additional HMO Licensing scheme and designated the areas where it applies. The 
designated areas are coterminous with the boundary for Article 4 Directions as 
previously adopted by the Council in 20114. This means that all two storey HMOs that 
are in the designated area and are occupied by 3 or more persons forming 2 or more 
households and sharing some facilities are required to have a licence. As a result, more 
HMOs to which mandatory licensing did not previously apply were required to obtain a 
licence. This scheme will expire on 2 November 2019.

2.8.6 The Council is currently consulting on a new Additional Licensing designation5 
which, if agreed, will commence on 3 November 2019 to ensure continuity in the 
regulation and control of HMOs. This proposal was released for public consultation in 
June 2019 and its findings will be reported to the Council’s Cabinet on 24 July 2019.  
More details about HMO licensing can be found in Appendix 3.

3 Landlord’s Guide to Amenities and Facilities for Houses in Multiple Occupation (NBC, 2018)

4 Additional Licensing of HMO Area Boundaries 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/download/2760/hmo-licensing-boundary-map

5 Additional Licensing for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) Consultation (From 3 May 2019 until 14 July 
2019) https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200024/consultations/1939/additional-licensing-for-houses-in-
multiple-occupation-hmos-consultation Additional HMO Licensing Scheme 2019 - 2024 Consultation Files 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/download/3694/hmo-2019-consultation-files

36

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/download/2760/hmo-licensing-boundary-maphttps:/www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/download/2760/hmo-licensing-boundary-maphttps:/www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/download/2760/hmo-licensing-boundary-map
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200024/consultations/1939/additional-licensing-for-houses-in-multiple-occupation-hmos-consultation
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200024/consultations/1939/additional-licensing-for-houses-in-multiple-occupation-hmos-consultation
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/download/3694/hmo-2019-consultation-files


12 | P a g e

3.1 NORTHAMPTON’S POSITION

Overview  

3.1.1 An increasing number of Northampton’s residents are now renting their homes 
from private landlords2. Typically, these rented units take the form of bedsits and shared 
homes and are therefore popular with younger residents and those with lower incomes. 
This rise is attributed to a range of factors including the growth in the status of the 
University of Northampton (and student population), the increase in migrant workers and 
the increase in single person households3. The latter is expected to increase from 27,247 
in 2006 to 43,192 by 2026.  Also, there is a strong international economic in-migration 
within Northamptonshire bringing with it skilled workers4. Typically, these rented units 
take the form of bedsits and shared homes.

3.1.2 Northampton is a rapidly growing town, with an expected increase in housing 
provision of at least 20,000 units in the next 15 years to cater for projected housing 
need. The emerging Northampton Local Plan Part 2’s vision for Northampton is that it 
will be the heart of West Northamptonshire providing quality housing, leisure, cultural, 
services and employment opportunities.  This in itself tends to attract people into the 
town who may require access to HMOs.

3.1.3 There are several key regeneration projects which are either completed or 
underway, including:

 Relocation of the University of Northampton into the town centre was completed 
in 2018.  The scheme included accommodation for around 1,500 students

 The redevelopment of the office building in Angel Street was completed in 2018
 Northampton Museum extension has commenced
 Vulcan Works redevelopment has commenced

2 Additional Licensing of HMOs, a proposed scheme for Northampton – consultation paper (NBC, November 
2013)

3 Proposed Changes Joint Core Strategy Population Projections (West Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit, 
July 2012)

4 http://www.northamptonshireobservatory.org.uk/docs/doc11-02- 
14%20LEA_Report_FINAL110221162753.pdf

37

http://www.northamptonshireobservatory.org.uk/docs/doc11-02-


13 | P a g e

3.1.4 These regeneration and renewal programmes are increasingly attracting 
students, visitors, investors and construction workers which means that those seeking 
employment, and potentially accommodation, are also likely be attracted to 
Northampton.

HMO Evidence Base

3.1.5 In preparing the Northampton Local Plan Part 2, the Council appointed 
Loughborough University to conduct a study of Housing in Multiple Occupation in 
20186 to inform policy formulation. The aims of this study were to:

 set out the context for the review and providing an overview of relevant national 
and local policy

 assess the current demand and supply for HMOs in Northampton;
 assess the impact of HMOs on local character
 identify the future growth trajectory of Northampton’s higher education 

institutions (which are a major source of demand for HMO) and
 review good practice from elsewhere and make policy recommendations to 

appropriately manage HMOs within the Borough

   3.1.6 The main findings of the study are listed below:

 There is an under supply of HMOs in Northampton and the demand is likely to 
increase. There is therefore a need for updating the current planning policies 
for HMOs in order to more effectively manage concentration of HMOs

 It is recognised that HMOs are an important sector of the local housing market. 
However, over-concentrations of HMOs in Northampton have had detrimental 
effects on the character of local communities and neighbourhoods. Therefore, 
HMOs need to be both located and managed in effective ways to ensure that 
they do not result in over concentrations and that they provide high quality 
accommodation

 The relocation of the University has shifted the geographical demand for HMOs 
to the town centre. However, the increase in demand for HMOs is not solely 
attributable to students.  It is also caused by a wider range of social groups 
including young professionals, workers in temporary jobs and vulnerable social 
groups. 

3.1.7 In Northampton, there are employment opportunities associated with the 
logistics distribution centres and industrial estates taking advantage of being located 
near to junctions on the M1 and in relatively close proximity to London. Further planned 
expansion for business operators will also result in workers seeking accommodation, 
particularly in the sectors such as general industrial, warehousing and retail. 
Northampton therefore has an increased demand for private rented housing.

6 A Study of Houses in Multiple Occupation Policy (Loughborough University, 2018)

38



14 | P a g e

3.1.8 The relocation of the university has increased the student population in the town 
centre and diverted the demand for HMOs from the University’s original location in 
Kingsthorpe to areas around Avon Nunn Mills, including the Billing Road, Abington, Far 
Cotton and Semilong areas – all of which are within walking distance of or accessible 
by public transport to the new University. This geographical shift of the demand for 
HMOs for students has led the introduction of additional Article 4 Directions for Far 
Cotton and Cliftonville. 

3.1.9 The HMO study identified that the total number of students enrolled at the 
University of Northampton declined by 11% from 2011/12 (14,606) to 2015/16 (12,984). 
In addition, there is a reduction in the total student population seeking term-time rental 
accommodation within Northampton, with an increasing number of students commuting 
from London. The University of Northampton does not currently have any strategic plans 
for the development of off-campus purpose-built student accommodation. Furthermore, 
the University has no plans to increase the total number of students. Given the amount 
of student accommodation the University offers, 3000 bed spaces on the new Waterside 
campus, 900 bed spaces retained on the old campus and 450 spaces at the St John’s 
purpose-built student halls, the study concluded that the supply of purpose-built student 
accommodation is appropriate for current demand.    

3.1.10 The study also concluded that the increase in HMOs is more linked to a range 
of social groups, not only students but also young professional workers, and 
international migrants. This contrasts with other locations where the formation of over-
concentrations of HMO is often considered to be the result of rising student populations.

Managing HMOs

3.1.11 In order to manage the increasing number of HMOs in the Borough, an 
immediate Article 4 Direction for the wards of Sunnyside, St David's and Obelisk was 
introduced in March 2011. This was subsequently followed by a non-immediate Article 
4 Direction for the wards of Castle, Abington, Trinity, Phippsville, Semilong, Kingsley, 
Kingsthorpe, St David's, Sunnyside, Spring Park, Obelisk and Delapre and Briar Hill in 
March 2012. 

3.1.12 Additional Article 4 Directions were introduced in Far Cotton, Delapre and 
Cliftonville prior to the completion of the relocation of the University. All these areas are 
in close proximity to the Waterside University campus where an increase in the student 
population was expected at that time. 

3.1.13 In addition, Northampton Borough Council adopted an Interim Planning Policy 
Statement (IPPS) in November 2014 which sought to guide property owners on the 
Council’s approach towards HMOs and managing their concentrations.

3.1.14 Following the introduction of the Article 4 Direction, the number of applications 
for HMOs increased. Tables 1 and 2 show how planning applications for HMOs have 
increased and how the rate of appeals has changed since the introduction of the IPPS.

39



15 | P a g e

Table 1: Increase of the total number of application for HMO applications
Year Total number of HMO 

applications (approximate)
Average number of HMO 
applications per year 
(approximate)

2011-2014 123 31
2015 – Feb 2019 354 89

Table 2: Increase of the total number of appeals for HMO applications
Year Total number of appeals for 

HMO applications 
(approximate)

Average number of appeals 
for HMO applications per 
year (approximate)

2012-2014 7 2
2015 – Feb 2019 41 10

3.1.15 This, combined with the preparation of the Northampton Local Plan Part 2, 
provides an opportunity to update the policy and principles on HMOs to improve the 
effective management of both the concentrations of HMOs and their quality.  

5 http://www.thecompleteuniversityguide.co.uk/northampton

40

http://www.thecompleteuniversityguide.co.uk/northampton


16 | P a g e

3.1 ISSUES ASSOCIATED WITH HMOs

3.2.1 The establishment of HMOs can bring about certain issues which, unless 
properly managed, can lead to detrimental effects on the occupants, the neighbours 
and the physical environment of the neighbourhood. 

3.2.2 The HMO study7 observed the following impacts of HMOs on the local 
characteristics of neighbourhoods:

 incidence of the general poor upkeep and maintenance of private rented housing 
 dilapidation of some housing stock and housing facades (e.g. windows, doors 

and guttering)
 unkempt gardens and yards, with the dumping of some unwanted white goods 

and furniture
 removal of some garden hedges/fences/walls to allow tarmacking for car parking 

on gardens and driveways
 predominance of loft conversions and housing extensions
 prevalence of to-let signs, and non-removal of signs
 seasonal depopulation, pointing to relatively high levels of population transience 

and turnover 
 overspill from refuse bags and wheelie bins, particularly in alleyways
 some fly-tipping of white-goods and unwanted furniture in backs of streets of 

terraced housing
 streets crammed with parked cars

             

Photo: Examples where litter can become a problem

The study also summarised in more detail the impacts of over concentration, as shown 
in Table 2 below.

7 A Study of Housing in Multiple Occupation Policy  (Loughborough University, 2018)

41



17 | P a g e

Table 2 Impacts of over-concentrations of HMO 8 

Impacts on:
Local Housing 
Market:

Social relations: Environmental 
quality: 

Local service 
provision: 

Increased 

• incidence of poor 
management of 
private rented 
housing. 

• exploitation of 
vulnerable social 
groups (i.e. ending 
tenancies, fees). 

• dilapidation of 
housing stock and 
housing facades. 

• unkempt gardens 
and yards. 

• removal of garden 
hedges/fences/walls to 
allow tarmacking 
for car parking on 
driveways. 

• loft conversions and 
housing extensions. 

• proliferation of to-
let signs, and non-
removal of signs. 

• loss of affordable 
housing associated 
with an inflation of 
property prices. 

• rental costs due to 
high demand for 
rented housing. 

Increased 

• divisions within 
local communities and 
lack of 
interaction 
between social 
groups. 

• levels of 
population 
transience and 
turnover. 

• loss of settled 
families. 

• loss of 
attachment and 
sense of 
belonging to local 
neighbourhood. 

• sense of 
dispossession. 

• anxiety of the 
‘unfamiliar’ 
which can be 
connected to 
perceptions of 
‘anti-social 
behaviour’. 

• breakdown of 
longer-term 
community 
cohesion, and 
volunteering. 

• disputes and 

Increased 

• noise nuisance and 
unrest. 

• overspill from refuse, 
and more pressures on 
refuse collection 
teams.

• fly-tipping of white-
goods and unwanted 
furniture in streets. 

• demand for on-street 
car parking spaces. 

• traffic congestion on 
some roads. 

• call on diminishing 
financial and 
staffing 
resources for the 
management of 
neighbourhoods, in 
light of lower 
tax revenues. 

• levels of 
burglary due to 
often 
inappropriate 
security (e.g. 
non-locking of 
doors and 
windows, and 
cycle theft), and 
rising insurance 
premiums. 

Increased 

• loss of local revenue 
due to high 
numbers of council tax-
exempt properties. 

• provision of 
retail and 
leisure 
services for 
student and 
other 
lifestyles. 

• closure of 
longstanding 
local 
businesses 
and services 
catering for more 
settled 
populations 
of the local 
communities. 

• seasonal 
delivery of 
local service 
where there 
are high 
numbers of 
students. 

8 A Study of Housing in Multiple Occupation Policy (Loughborough University, 2018)

42



18 | P a g e

Impacts on:
Local Housing 
Market:

Social relations: Environmental 
quality: 

Local service 
provision: 

 

 

conflicts between 
neighbours. 

• seasonal 
depopulation of 
neighbourhood(s) 
where there are 
high numbers of 
students. 

3.2.3 All the above issues can potentially have negative impacts on the mental health 
and wellbeing of individuals living within HMOs and their neighbours, as well as the 
physical environment in which they live.

3.2.4  The study stated that it is difficult to identify effects that are specifically caused 
by high concentrations of HMO. Nevertheless, those observations and effects of over 
concentrations of HMO were identified by a series of field visits and evidence from the 
focus groups such as local residents, Council members, landlords, university housing 
officers, local letting agents and Council officers from Planning and Housing.

6 Additional Licensing of HMOs, a proposed scheme for Northampton – consultation paper (NBC, November 
2013)

43



19 | P a g e

4.1 MANAGING THE GROWTH OF HMOs

4.1.1 Given the evidence that the demand for HMOs will increase, the opportunity 
arises to ensure that demand can be met, without elevating the issues highlighted in 
Section 3 particularly in relation to the concentration of HMOs.  The principles below 
will assist in:

 amplifying the policies contained in the West Northamptonshire Joint Core 
Strategy;

 providing further details on the implementation of Policy 14 of the emerging 
Northampton Local Plan Part 2; and

 guiding property owners and applicants on the Council’s requirements and 
recommendations prior to submitting a planning application

4.1.2 These principles supersede the previous guidance contained in the 2014 
Interim Planning Policy Statement on HMOs. 

4.2 PRINCIPLES FOR DETERMINING PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR HOUSES 
IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION

4.2.1 All planning applications for change of use from dwellings to houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMO), change of use from HMOs (C4) to large HMOs (Sui Generis) and 
development of large HMOs (Sui Generis) and purpose built HMOs, need to conform 
to the principles listed below:

PRINCIPLE 1
OBJECTIVE: TO CREATE, SUPPORT AND MAINTAIN A BALANCED, MIXED 
AND INCLUSIVE COMMUNITY AND TO PROTECT THE NEIGHBOURHOOD AND 
STREETSCENE CHARACTER

4.3.1 Principle 1 seeks to ensure that demand for houses in multiple occupation can 
be met in a manner which will not result in an over concentration of HMOs.  It will 
contribute towards the creation of a balanced and mixed community and protect the 
physical character of the street and the neighbourhood as a whole.

4.3.2 In spite of the issues mentioned above, HMOs have contributed positively 
towards community mix, particularly if these are properly managed, ensuring that the 
landlords provide an appropriate and secure physical environment for tenants, whilst 
respecting the lifestyles and privacy of adjoining residents. HMOs also contribute to the 
overall need to provide a variety of houses and types to meet rising housing needs. 
There is therefore a need to effectively manage the concentration of and the quality of 
HMOs.

4.3.3 The HMO Study (Loughborough University, 2018) concluded that there is the 
need for a more effective methodology for the implementation of the Article 4 Direction. 
The current IPPS sets out a methodology that a proposed HMO should not result in 
more than 15% of the total number of HMO dwellings within a 50m radius of the 
application site in order to prevent over concentration of HMOs. The study 
recommended that it is necessary to have a more impactful saturation threshold of 10% 

44



20 | P a g e

within 50m of a planning application to more fully regulate and plan the distribution of 
HMOs. 

4.3.4 For clarity, the Council will apply the caveat that residential properties within 50m 
of the application property will only be included in the calculation of concentration where 
at least 50% of that plot, or any part of the main dwelling building is located. Flats are 
to be counted as individual properties; for instance, a block of 4 flats would count as 4 
properties. The calculation excludes non-residential properties.

    PRINCIPLE 1:

TO CREATE, SUPPORT AND MAINTAIN A BALANCED, MIXED AND INCLUSIVE 
COMMUNITY AND TO PROTECT THE NEIGHBOURHOOD AND STREETSCENE 
CHARACTER

In creating, supporting and maintaining a balanced, mixed and inclusive 
community, all planning applications for a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 
will, in respect of this principle, be supported, taking into account the following 
considerations:

 The proposal should not result in a concentration of similar uses in one 
particular locality

 It should not result in a material change or an adverse impact on the 
character and amenity of the area

 It should not result in more than 10% of the total number of HMO dwellings, 
regardless of whether licensed or not, within a 50m radius of the application 
site, in order to prevent over concentration of similar uses in one locality

The 50m radius is to be measured from the curtilage of the application dwelling. 
Residential properties within 50m of the application property will only be included 
in the calculation of concentration where at least 50% of that plot, or any part of 
the main dwelling building is within the 50m radius. Flats are to be counted as 
individual properties. The calculation only includes residential properties.

45



21 | P a g e

PRINCIPLE 2                                            

OBJECTIVE: TO SECURE THE PROVISION OF ADEQUATE FACILITIES AND 
AMENITIES

Space standards

4.4.1  When converting a property into a house in multiple occupation, it is important for 
the property owner or landlord to provide acceptable standards for a range of space and 
facilities including room sizes, health and safety rating system, lighting and internal 
layouts. The Council produced its “Guide to Amenities and Facilities for Houses in 
Multiple Occupation” (2018), which provides details of these requirements. Further 
information and updates can be obtained by contacting the Borough Council’s Private 
Sector Housing section (see Appendix 2).

4.4.2  The key requirements contained in the guidance include space standards for each 
room. Under The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of 
Licences) (England) Regulations 2018, HMOs are required to meet the Government’s 
legal standards for minimum room sizes. The Licensing and Management of Houses in 
Multiple Occupation and Other Houses (Miscellaneous Provisions) (England) 
Regulations 2006 require kitchens, bathrooms and WCs to be of adequate size and this 
is reflected in the latest guidance on space standards published by the Council 
(footnote). It is important that the proposed HMOs meet all the standards and guidance 
outlined in the Council’s current guide (and future updates) including fire safety, sharing 
ratios for facilities, basements, attic rooms and natural lighting. It is accepted that this 
guidance might change, so the principle makes reference to any future updates.

4.4.3 Building Regulation approval will be required for works undertaken to allow 
premises to be used safely as a HMO. Landlords should therefore check their records to 
ensure that Building Regulation consent has been obtained for the property concerned. 
Further information can be obtained from the Council’s Building Control Officers (see 
Appendix 2 for details) or through any independent Building Control body.

46



22 | P a g e

4.4.4 The key space standards are as shown in Tables 4 and 5.

Table 4 Space Standards for bedrooms, kitchens, living space and dining space 9

Minimum
bedroom size

Total
number of
people in
HMO

Minimum
kitchen
size

1 to 2 storey HMO
minimum
living space

3+ storey HMO minimum 
living/
dining space

3-5 people 7sqm 11sqm separate 
living room;
Or
18sqm combined 
kitchen/living room

Either: 11sqm separate 
living room within 1 floor 
distance of kitchen;
Or: 13sqm kitchen/diner 
and 11sqm living room 
elsewhere;
Or: 18sqm combined 
kitchen/living/dining rom

1 occupant 
6.51sqm
or
2 occupants 
10.22sqm

6-10 
people

10sqm 14sqm separate 
living room;
Or
24sqm combined 
kitchen/living room

Either: 14sqm separate 
living room within 1 floor 
distance of kitchen;
Or: 16sqm kitchen/diner 
and 11sqm living room 
elsewhere;
Or: 24sqm combined 
kitchen/living/dining rom

3-5 people 7sqm No additional 
communal living 
space required

Either:
13sqm kitchen /diner;
or: 
11sqm separate dining 
room within 1 floor distance 
of kitchen;

O unless: all bedrooms within 
1 floor distance of kitchen

1 occupant 
10sqm
or
2 occupants 
15sqm

6-10 
people

10sqm No additional 
communal living 
space required

Either:  
16sqm kitchen/diner;
or: 
14sqm separate dining 
room within 1 floor distance 
of kitchen;

O   unless: all bedrooms within 
1 floor distance of kitchen

9 Landlord’s Guide to Amenities and Facilities for Houses in Multiple Occupation (NBC 2018)

47



23 | P a g e

Table 5  The number of bathrooms required10

Number of people
irrespective of age

Facilities required
If a child under 10 lives in the property, a bath must be provided

1–4 people The minimum provision is 1 bathroom containing toilet, bath or shower
and wash hand basin
The bathroom and toilet may be in the same room.

5 people The minimum provision is 1 bathroom with a bath or shower and
1 separate toilet with wash hand basin
The separate toilet may be located in a second bathroom.

6–10 people The minimum provision is:
   2 bathrooms containing a bath or shower
   2 toilets with wash hand basins, one of which must be in a separate room.

11–15 people The minimum provision is:
   3 bathrooms containing a bath or shower
   3 toilets with wash hand basins, one of which must be in a separate room.

Bedrooms with
en-suites

Where a room is provided with a complete en-suite facility (bath/shower, 
toilet and wash hand basin) for the exclusive use of that occupant then that 
occupant will be disregarded when considering the provision of sanitary 
facilities.

4.4.5 The above standards are the absolute minimum sizes and are only to be applied 
where there is adequate shared living accommodation elsewhere in the HMO.  Further 
details can be found in Landlord’s Guide to Amenities and Facilities for Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (NBC 2018). The guide also states that the measured space in any room must 
be ‘usable space’. This means that the room should be able to accommodate the required 
amount of appropriate furniture easily and still allow space for movement about the room. 
Narrow lobbies leading to room entrance doors are not counted as ‘usable space’. En-
suite bathrooms and kitchenettes are excluded from the measurement. Any floor space 
that has a ceiling height of less than 1.5m (5ft) is disregarded for the purpose of measuring 
the total space in the room. The ceiling height of any room used for habitation must be not 
less than 2.1m over not less than 50% of the floor area of the room

4.4.6 In addition to the above standards, all habitable rooms must have natural 
lighting and natural ventilation. The Council’s Guide11 states that the area of natural lighting 
provided must be equal to at least 1/10th of the floor area of the room and must be of 
appropriate shape and position to allow for reasonable daylight penetration throughout the 
room. There should be sufficient natural light during daylight hours to enable normal 
domestic tasks to be carried out without eyestrain. 

4.4.7 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (February 2019) states that the 
creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and 
development process should achieve. The Framework also says that planning policies and 
decisions should ensure that developments will function well and add to the overall quality 
of the area and create places that are safe inclusive and accessible, and which promote 
health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. It is 
important that the amenity and standard of living environment of neighbours and local 

10 Landlord’s Guide to Amenities and Facilities for Houses in Multiple Occupation (NBC 2018)

11 Landlord’s Guide to Amenities and Facilities for Houses in Multiple Occupation (NBC 2018)

48



24 | P a g e

occupiers is protected. The amenities which all existing and future occupants of 
neighbouring land and buildings must not be unduly harmed by or as a result of 
development of new HMOs. Proposals should demonstrate, where applicable and to a 
degree proportionate to the proposal, how the following matters have been considered, in 
relation to the development:

 compatibility with neighbouring land uses;
 loss of light
 overshadowing
 overlooking
 creation of safe environments

Refuse

4.5.1 When a dwellinghouse is converted into an HMO, there is potential for refuse and 
waste disposal to increase.  For instance, if the property was previously occupied by a 
small family, the refuse disposal requirement is unlikely to be as high as if the property 
was occupied by 6 adults.  With increased occupancy, appropriate refuse storage is 
required to help avoid issues associated with litter, fly tipping and local amenity.

4.5.2 When applying to change the use of a dwellinghouse to an HMO, the applicant is 
required to provide the following:

 Sufficient refuse storage to meet the requirements of the occupants
 Enclosed bin storage area either at the front or the rear of the property 
 All occupants must have direct access to the refuse storage area

4.5.3 Further information can be obtained from the Borough Council’s website, in terms 
of refuse collections and refuse collection facilities including trolleys and recycling bins.  
Details are available by accessing the following link: 

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200084/waste-and-recycling 

4.5.4 The landlord / property owner is responsible for supplying adequate waste and 
recycling facilities and ensuring that the property is kept tidy and hygienic.  

49

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200084/waste-and-recycling


25 | P a g e

PRINCIPLE 2:

TO SECURE THE PROVISION OF ADEQUATE FACILITIES AND AMENITIES

All proposals will provide for a range of facilities and amenities, which 
are of acceptable standards, compliant with Northampton Borough 
Council’s “Guide to Amenities and Facilities for Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (2018)” or equivalent / update. The measured space in any 
room must be ‘usable space’. 

All occupants must have direct access to adequate waste and 
recycling facilities to ensure that sufficient refuse storage is available 
within the curtilage of the site and within a secure facility. 

All proposals will protect the amenity and the provision of a good 
standard of living environment for neighbouring and local occupiers 
as well as future residents and users of the development.

50



26 | P a g e

PRINCIPLE 3

OBJECTIVE: TO MINIMISE FLOOD RISK

Flood Risks

4.6.1 The West Northamptonshire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment Part 1 (SFRA) 
(Northamptonshire County Council, December 2017) states that houses in multiple 
occupation can put residents at greater risk in areas of high flood risk as they often have 
bedrooms on the ground floor or have basements that are converted into living 
accommodation. Basements, by their very nature, are susceptible to flooding particularly 
in areas that are located in flood risk areas or have a residual flood risk from being located 
behind flood defences. 

4.6.2 The SFRA states that proposals in areas of flood risk may not be appropriate where 
previously unoccupied ground floor rooms are proposed to be converted to living 
accommodation. Therefore, applications for HMOs which include conversion of the ground 
floor or basement to living accommodation must be accompanied by a site specific flood 
risk assessment demonstrating that the development is safe from the risk of flooding from 
all sources and includes safe refuge.

4.6.3 Proposals for HMOs should be safe, not result in an increase in flood risk and risks 
from surface water drainage and accord with requirements contained in the Planning 
Practice Guidance and JCS. Applicants are strongly recommended to contact the 
Environment Agency to identify whether the application site is located in areas where the 
flood risk is considered to be high, such as a Flood Hazard Area and Flood Zones 2 and 
3.

51



27 | P a g e

PRINCIPLE 4                                            
OBJECTIVE: TO SECURE THE PROVISION OF ADEQUATE PARKING

Parking Issues

4.7.1 In line with national guidance, the IPPS sought to promote the use of public 
transport, cycling and walking and to secure the provision of adequate parking in 
connection with HMOs.  This SPD does not seek to alter the emphasis of the IPPS.  
But it is necessary to refine the approach on the basis of experience gained since the 
IPPS came into force.
4.7.2 The majority of planning applications for HMOs take place in areas where 
houses have limited or no on-plot car parking provision and where there is limited 
capacity for car parking on-street.  One of the main issues that has arisen with the 
IPPS is the implementation and interpretation of Principle 3 which sought to remove 
the need to provide parking in sustainable locations located within 400m of a bus stop 
or 10 minutes’ walk of local services and facilities.    Where planning applications were 
originally refused by the Council due to the potential increase in on-street car parking 
went to appeal, many of those appeals were allowed by the Planning Inspectorate 
because it was considered that the appeal sites conformed to Principle 3 of the IPPS.  
In addition, it was considered that HMO occupiers were not likely to own cars, therefore 
the Planning Inspectorate generally concluded that there was no evidence that the 
development of HMOs would materially increase in the number of cars parked in the 
area.  This was in spite of the objections received from the local Highway Authority on 
the basis that the area had no additional capacity for on-street parking, as evidenced 
through parking beat surveys.

PRINCIPLE 3:

TO MINIMISE FLOOD RISK

Proposals should not result in an increase in flood risk. Basement and 
ground floor sleeping accommodation will not be appropriate in a flood 
hazard area or flood zone 2 or 3 unless the finished floor level of the 
property is set sufficiently to mitigate the risk of flooding. Planning 
applications for HMOs which include conversion of the ground floor or 
basement to living accommodation located within flood zone 2 or 3 
must be accompanied by a site-specific flood risk assessment 
demonstrating that the development is safe from the risk of flooding 
from all sources and includes safe refuge.

52



28 | P a g e

4.7.3 Evidence in the HMO study by Loughborough University in 2018 concluded that 
the streets are crammed with parked cars in those areas with high concentrations of 
HMOs. Taking account of the fact that the high demand for HMOs in Northampton is 
not solely tied to student populations, there is no evidence that HMO occupiers are 
less likely to own cars as the Planning Inspectorate have concluded in allowing 
appeals. In addition, it is possible that the site visits conducted on behalf of the 
Planning Inspectorate occurred during the daytime when many cars were in use, giving 
the impression that there were spaces available.  The photographs below illustrate the 
difference between the amounts of on-street parking in the afternoon and evening in 
two streets in Northampton that have high concentrations of HMOs. 

Photos: Different parking capacity between daytime and evening on the same streets

4.7.4 The local Highway Authority have carried out an exercise on the relationship 
between the concentration of HMOs and parking problems. The purpose of the 
exercise was to ascertain whether the problems with limited capacity of on-street 
parking are associated with the concentration of HMOs as a part of a consultation 
response to an HMO application.

4.7.5 The exercise involved their Enforcement Team and the total number of parking 

Holly Road 6.30pm on a weekday in June Holly Road 2.30pm on a weekday in June

Southampton Road 6.30pm on a weekday 
in June

Southampton Road 2.30pm on a weekday 
in June

53



29 | P a g e

tickets issued in an area west of Kettering Road, where there are terraced streets, with 
easy access to local services and bus stops. According to the consultation response 
by Northampton Highways to a planning application, that area has seen a considerable 
increase in the number of HMO properties over the years and receives a high number 
of parking tickets. The local Highway Authority noted that there was a 64% increase 
in the total number of parking tickets issued in the area in 2016/2017, compared to 
2010/11. Since 2010/11, there had been a significant increase in permitted HMO 
properties in this area.  There were 71 HMOs recorded, accommodating up to 456 
residents. It could be argued that car ownership generally may have increased in that 
period, however, the increase in car ownership during that period was approximately 
0.03 per household according to Northamptonshire Highways.  An increase of 0.03 
per household would not have accounted for the increase of 64% in parking tickets 
issued, therefore it was considered that other factors must be responsible. The local 
Highway Authority concluded that as there were no other known factors that would 
contribute towards the increase and the correlation above, it was reasonable to 
assume that the large increase of HMO properties was a strong contributory factor. It 
showed that the cumulative impact from the high concentrations of HMOs contributed 
to the excessive demand, which in turn led to inappropriate or dangerous parking.

4.7.6 Development Management case studies have shown that Northamptonshire 
Highways also examined the parking surveys submitted by applicants when submitting 
their planning applications. Northamptonshire Highways found, in some cases, that 
there was no residual parking capacity for vehicles in the application areas as the 
stress values exceeded 100% due to the combination of vehicles being parked 
inappropriately and the fact that vehicles park more densely than 5.5m per space. 
However, some Planning Inspectors state that there were spaces on the street at the 
time of their visit. On this basis, the appeal cases were allowed. The important fact to 
be mentioned here is that Northamptonshire Highways’ parking surveys were 
conducted between 1am and 5am when most residents would have been at home and 
hence most cars were parked nearby. However, the Planning Inspectors’ site visits are 
more likely to be conducted during daytime when majority of cars owned by residents 
would be away from home. This unfortunately does not provide the Inspectorate with 
an accurate understanding of on-street parking in the area where the appeal site is 
located. It is therefore important that accurate information about the levels of on-street 
parking in the application area should to be provided as part of any planning 
application.

 4.7.7 On the basis of the above, it is clear that a high concentration of HMOs does 
have a cumulative impact on the demand for on street parking and it is vital that this is 
addressed by this SPD.  The Northamptonshire Parking Standard (2016) requires 1 
parking space per bedroom for a HMO. However, it has been evident that this standard 
has not had a positive effect on managing the concentration of HMOs because the 
majority of them are in areas where there is limited or no on-plot parking. In those 
areas, evidence shows the amount of on-street parking has increased. 

4.7.8 It is important, however, to balance the need to deal with the on-street parking 
issue with the need to address public health and climate change concerns relating to 
the increase in the use of cars.  

54



30 | P a g e

4.7.9 The starting point for considering planning applications for conversions to HMO 
should be the County Council’s standard of one on-plot car parking space per bedroom 
and one secure covered cycle parking space per bedroom.  To ensure, in practical 
terms, that all the on-plot parking spaces are useable all of the time, and that on-street 
car parking demand is not generated, this standard has been modified such that 
tandem car parking is not acceptable – all car parking spaces have to be individually 
accessible.

4.7.10 Where it is not possible to meet the car parking standard in full, the planning 
application must be supported by a parking beat survey.  It is important that car parking 
capacity in the immediate vicinity is assessed to establish the impact of any additional 
parking. This is required to be undertaken at a time of day this is representative of 
peak demand for car parking. The requirement for a parking beat survey and the time 
of day when it should be carried out, are set out in Principle 3.

4.7.11 Partly in response to an understanding of the reality of where the demand is for 
HMOs and also because of the higher levels of accessibility in those areas, it is 
accepted that reduced or limited levels of car parking provision (but not cycle parking 
provision) will be still be applicable in accessible locations such as:

 The town centre, district centres, local centres and neighbourhood parades
 Areas where buses are easily accessible

4.7.12 It is considered that a reasonable walking distance to a bus stop or local 
facilities (such as a neighbourhood parade) is 400 metres.  For a bus service to 
serve as reasonable alternative to travelling by car, it is considered that it needs to 
provide at least a half-hourly service from 0700 to 1900 Mondays to Saturdays.  
Details of local bus services can be found at 
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/northamptonshire-
highways/buses/Pages/bus-timetables.aspx .

PRINCIPLE 4:
TO SECURE THE PROVISION OF ADEQUATE PARKING

Planning applications for HMOs will be required to satisfy the car parking 
and cycle parking standards set out in the Northampton Parking Standards 
SPD.  Tandem car parking is not acceptable. 
For HMO applications where the car parking standard cannot be met in full:

 The developer must demonstrate through parking beat surveys (or a 
previous beat survey that has been carried out within the previous twelve 
months) that there is sufficient capacity for on-street parking in the area 
within a minimum of 200m from the application site. The parking beat 
survey must record the level of parking at a time between 1am and 5am 
on a Saturday or Sunday during school term time. Surveys must be 
undertaken by an independent survey company (a detailed methodology 

55

https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/northamptonshire-highways/buses/Pages/bus-timetables.aspx
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/northamptonshire-highways/buses/Pages/bus-timetables.aspx


31 | P a g e

is set out in Appendix 4).

If the beat survey reveals that the there is insufficient on-street car parking 
capacity, the application will need to satisfy the following criteria:

 Be located within 400m of a bus stop served by bus route(s) providing a 
service of at least one bus every 30 minutes between 0700 and 1900 
Mondays to Saturdays;

 Be located within 400m of facilities and services contained in the town 
centre, a district centre, local centre or neighbourhood parade.

In all circumstances, covered, secure cycle parking should be provided in 
accordance with the Northamptonshire Parking Standards, September 2016, 
or its successor document(s) and Principle 5 of the Parking Standards SPD12.

 5.1 MONITORING

5.1.1 As a Local Planning Authority, Northampton Borough Council annually monitors 
the impacts of their adopted policies and principles. This will provide an overview as 
to whether the policies are effective.

5.1.2 Monitoring will take the form of:

 Assessing the number of planning applications for HMOs which have been 
granted consent

 Assessing the number of planning applications for HMOs which have been 
refused consent

 Assessing the success of this SPD in appeal decisions

12 Draft Supplementary Planning Document Parking Standards (Northampton Borough Council July 2019)

56



32 | P a g e

 REFERENCES

DOCUMENTS

National Planning Policies / Government Publications

 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)

Strategic and Local Planning Policies

 West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (2014)
 Submission Draft Northampton Local Plan Part 2 (2019)
 Northampton Local Plan saved policies (adopted June 1997)

Other

 A Study of Houses in Multiple Occupation Policy (Loughborough University 
2018)

 Guide to Amenities and Facilities for Houses in Multiple Occupation (NBC, 
2018)

WEBSITES

 Northampton Borough Council Planning Policy 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning_for_the_future/1746/

 Northampton Borough Council Private Sector Housing
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200277/private-housing/1288/houses-in-
multiple-occupation-hmos

 Environment Agency 
http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/aboutus/default.aspx

 National HMO Network
http://www.nationalhmonetwork.com/definition.php

57

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning_for_the_future/1746/
http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/aboutus/default.aspx
http://www.nationalhmonetwork.com/definition.php


33 | P a g e

APPENDIX 1: PLANNING POLICY

Circular 02/2010: Changes to Planning Regulations for Dwelling Houses and 
Houses in Multiple Occupation

C4 Use Class Order (House in Multiple Occupation) covers small shared houses or 
flats occupied by between 3 and 6 unrelated people, who  share basic amenities.  The 
Housing Act 2004 defines “basic amenities” as a toilet, personal washing facilities 
and/or cooking facilities.

Housing Act 2004

The Act defines HMO15 as:

 An entire house or flat which is let to 3 or more tenants who form 2 or more 
households and who share a kitchen, bathroom or toilet

 A house which has been converted entirely into bedsits or other non self- 
contained accommodation and which is let to 3 or more tenants who form 2 or 
more households and who share basic amenities

 A converted house which contains one or more flats which are not wholly self- 
contained (ie the flat does not contain within it a kitchen, bathroom or toilet) and 
which is occupied by 3 or more tenants who form two or more households

 A building which is converted entirely into self-contained flats if the conversion 
did not meet the standards of the 1991 Building Regulations and more than 
one-third of the flats are let on short-term tenancies

 In order to be an HMO the property must be used as the tenants’ only or main 
residence and it should be used solely or mainly to house tenants. Properties 
let to students and migrant workers will be treated as their only or main 
residence and the same will apply to properties which are used as domestic 
refuges

The following buildings or part of buildings are not Houses in Multiple Occupation:

 A converted block of flats
 Controlled or managed by a registered social landlord or local authority
 Controlled or managed by a fire and rescue authority, police authority or health 

service body
 Occupied by students and controlled or managed by an education 

establishment eg hall of residence
 Occupied for the purposes of a religious community whose main occupation is 

prayer, contemplation, education or the relief of suffering
 Occupied solely by one or more persons who are owners (with either freehold 

or leasehold granted for more than 21 years)
 Occupied by two persons who form two households

15 http://www.nationalhmonetwork.com/definition.php

58

http://www.nationalhmonetwork.com/definition.php


34 | P a g e

The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) Order 2010

Class C4: Houses in multiple occupation is the use of a dwelling house by not more 
than six residents as a “house in multiple occupation”.

Interpretation of Class C4: for the purposes of Class C4 a “house in multiple 
occupation” does not include a converted block of flats to which section 257 of the 
Housing Act 2004 applies but otherwise has the same meaning as in section 254 of 
the Housing Act 2004.”

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(Amendment) (England) Order 2015

Development consisting of a change of use of a building to a use falling within Class 
C3 (dwelling houses) of the Schedule to the Use Classes Order from a use falling 
within Class C4 (houses in multiple occupation) of that Schedule.”

59



35 | P a g e

APPENDIX 2:  CONTACT DETAILS

ORGANISATION PHONE 
NUMBER

EMAIL

Northampton Borough Council

Building Control 01604
838 920

buildingcontrol@northampton.gov.uk

Development 
Management 

0300  330
7000
Option 6 
then 
Option 1

planning@northampton.gov.uk

Enforcement 0300  330
7000
Option 6

planningenforcement@northampton.gov.uk

Planning Policy 0300  330
7000
Option 6

planningpolicy@northampton.gov.uk

Private Sector 
Housing

01604
838585

pshs@northampton.gov.uk

Waste and 
recycling

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/100004/your-
council/657/contact-us

Others
Northamptonshire 
County Council

0300 126
1000

https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/contact-
us/Pages/default.aspx

Environment 
Agency

03708
506 506

http://apps.environment-
agency.gov.uk/contact/

Historic England 0121 625 
6888

midlands@HistoricEngland.org.uk

60

mailto:buildingcontrol@northampton.gov.uk
mailto:planning@northampton.gov.uk
mailto:planningpolicy@northampton.gov.uk
mailto:pshs@northampton.gov.uk
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/contact-us/Pages/default.aspx
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/contact-us/Pages/default.aspx
mailto:midlands@historicengland.org.uk


36 | P a g e

Appendix 3 HMO LICENSING

The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory Conditions of 
Licences) (England) Regulations 2018 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/616/regulation/2/made

Additional HMO licensing – 

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200277/private-housing/1288/houses-in-
multiple-occupation-hmos/4

Apply for a licence 

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200277/private-housing/1288/houses-in-
multiple-occupation-hmos/4

Landlord’s Guide to Amenities and Facilities for Houses in Multiple 
Occupation

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/7542/hmo-amenities-facilities-and-
management-standards-nbc-2018

Additional Licensing for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) Consultation

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200024/consultations/1939/additional-licensing-
for-houses-in-multiple-occupation-hmos-consultation

61

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2018/616/regulation/2/made
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200277/private-housing/1288/houses-in-multiple-occupation-hmos/4
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200277/private-housing/1288/houses-in-multiple-occupation-hmos/4
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200277/private-housing/1288/houses-in-multiple-occupation-hmos/4
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200277/private-housing/1288/houses-in-multiple-occupation-hmos/4
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/7542/hmo-amenities-facilities-and-management-standards-nbc-2018
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/7542/hmo-amenities-facilities-and-management-standards-nbc-2018
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200024/consultations/1939/additional-licensing-for-houses-in-multiple-occupation-hmos-consultation
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200024/consultations/1939/additional-licensing-for-houses-in-multiple-occupation-hmos-consultation


37 | P a g e

Appendix 4 Parking beat survey

The survey must measure the usable length of road, for instance, length of road 
minus parking restrictions, dropped kerbs and 5m at the junction, and divide this by 
5.5m to approximate the number of potential parking spaces on a given section of 
road. A count of the number of vehicles parked should be recorded. When 
calculating the number of spaces available, the number of overall spaces must be 
rounded down, for example, 20.7 spaces should be recorded as 20, not 21, because 
0.7 of a space equates to 3.85m, which is not nearly enough to be a usable space. 
Any spaces observed must be documented, including location, measurements of the 
space and photographic evidence. Parking beat surveys should not be carried out 
during the following periods of time;

 1st January – 1st February
 Half term holidays
 1st July – 30th September
 1st November – 31st December

When the amount of car parking exceeds 90% of capacity, the area is over-saturated 
with parked vehicles. This will result in highway safety and amenity issues arising on 
a regular basis.  Any increase in demand will further exacerbate problems, resulting 
in a much greater chance of dangerous parking and conflict between residents due 
to a lack of parking amenity. Therefore, if the result of the parking beat survey shows 
the amount of car parking does not exceed 90% during the required time of the day 
for the survey as set out above, the area is considered to have a sufficient capacity 
for on-street parking.

62



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19

CABINET REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC 

Cabinet Meeting Date:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Service Area:

Accountable Cabinet Member: 

Ward(s)

 13 November 2019

YES

YES

YES

Planning

Councillor James Hill

All wards

1. Purpose

1.1 This report seeks Cabinet’s approval to adopt the Parking Standards 
Supplementary Planning Document.

2. Recommendations

2.1  That Cabinet approves the adoption of the Parking Standards Supplementary 
Planning Document.

2.2 That the Head of Planning be given delegated authority in consultation with 
Cabinet Member for Planning to make any necessary minor 
amendments,including spelling and changes in the format of the SPD where 
they do not alter the intent of the SPDprior to its publication.

Report Title PARKING STANDARDS SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT

Appendices - 2

63

Agenda Item 8



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19

3. Issues and Choices

3.1Report Background

3.1.1 As set out in more detail in the report to the 24th July meeting, the draft SPD 
has been prepared to provide guidance for applicants and decision makers as 
the appropriate amount of car parking necessary to support new development.  
The guidance provides further details on the implementation of policies 
contained in the submission draft of the Northampton Local Plan Part 2 and 
the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and takes into account 
objectives contained in the Central Area Action plan and relevant saved 
policies in the 1997 Northampton Local Plan.  The SPD reflects the local 
circumstances, context and requirements for individual developments and the 
local area and expands on the previous parking standards incorporating 
parking design considerations provision for electric vehicles.

3.1.2 Members will recall that, at its meeting of 24th July 2019, Cabinet noted the 
contents of the draft Supplementary Planning Document on Parking Standards 
and agreed its release for public consultation.  This consultation took place 
from 8th August to 3rd October 2019.

3.1.3 Letters/emails were sent to statutory consultees, Members and those with an 
interest in parking standards, and provided further information about the draft 
SPD and where more information could be found. Copies of key documents 
were made available at the Council offices and public libraries in Northampton, 
in all cases feedback forms were made available. This information was 
included on the public notice which was sent to each consultee.

3.1.4 A total of ten responses to the public consultation were received.  A full 
schedule of the responses and the Council’s responses is set out in the 
Consultation Statement attached at Appendix A to this report.  

3.1.5 Seven comments sought changes to the draft SPD. Most of these did not 
merit a change in the SPD because the matter raised are adequately covered 
by provisions in the SPD or elsewhere.  Northamptonshire Police commented 
that all parking courtyards should be gated for security reasons.  Measures to 
improve the security of parking courts are desirable, but it is not always 
practical to include gates in the design.  Accordingly, Principle 2 has been 
amended to stipulate that parking courts should be gated where possible.

3.1.6 Following comments from Historic England, Principle 1 has been amended to 
refer to the sensitive design of parking provision in Conservation Areas.

3.1.7 The Supplementary Planning Document as it is proposed to be adopted is 
attached at Appendix B.

3.2  Issues

64



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19

3.2.1 Against the background of congestion and limited parking provision in parts of 
the borough, the Parking Standards SPD, if adopted, will help to ensure that 
future development provides adequate, well designed and convenient parking.  
It will provide guidance on the appropriate amount of car parking necessary to 
support new development. Since it also includes guidance for the design and 
layout of residential car parking, this has the benefit of bringing the standards 
and design guidance into one document.   

3.3  Choices

3.3.1  Option 1 would be to agree the adoption of the SPD which would help to 
ensure that new development provides adequate, well designed and 
convenient parking provision as it would be a material consideration in the 
planning process.

3.3.2 Option 2 is for members to not adopt the SPD which would mean the Local 
Authority would not have much control over parking standards in the Borough 
and may result in the proliferation of poorly designed parking.

4.1 Resources and Risk

4.2.1 Financial Implications – none.  The Guide will be one of the many tools used 
to determine planning applications.

4.2 Legal

4.3.1 The document has been produced in accordance with the relevant planning 
regulations contained in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended 2012).  Once adopted as a Supplementary Planning Document, it 
will become a significant material consideration in the determination of 
planning applications.  

4.4 Equality and Health

4.4.1 There are no equality and / or diversity implications arising from the proposed  
recommendation of this report.  Both the submission draft Northampton Local 
Plan and the Joint Core Strategy have been subject to an Equality Impact 
Assessment.  A separate assessment for this SPD is not therefore required.

4.5 Consultees (Internal and External)

4.5.1 The Development Management team in the Planning Service was consulted.

4.5.2 Public consultation:  A formal 8 week public consultation was undertaken.

4.6.1  It was commented that ungated parking courts provide areas of concealment 
which encourage anti-social behaviour. Therefore the requirement to provide a 
gate has been added to principle 2.

65



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19

4.6.2  Historic England commented that parking could potentially have an impact 
upon heritage assets. The requirement for sensitive design of parking areas in 
Conservation Areas has been added to principle 1.

4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes

4.6.1 The implementation of this document by developers and Development 
Management officers will result in an effective planning process and the 
provision of appropriate parking infrastructure to service new development and 
mitigate adverse impact.  By clarifying and increasing the effectiveness of 
determining planning applications, the Council will meet its priorities in 
delivering excellent customer service and in delivering value for money 
services. 

 4.7 Environmental Implications (including climate change issues)

4.7.1 By addressing the need to deliver parking and charging facilities for electric 
vehicles, this SPD will help to facilitate the wider uptake of electric cars in the 
Borough.

4.8 Other Implications

4.8.1 None.

5. Background Papers

Appendix A – Parking Standards SPD: Consultation Statement, November 
2019

Appendix B – Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document, 
November 2019

Draft Supplementary Planning Document – Parking Standards, July 2019
National Planning Policy Framework February 2019

 Submission Draft Northampton Local Plan Part 2 (May 2019)
Northamptonshire Parking Strategy September  2016
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy December 2014
Northampton Central Area Action Plan January 2013
Northampton County Council Local Transport Plan March 2012
Northampton Local Plan June 1997

6. Next Steps

If Members choose to adopt the SPD, an Adoption Statement will be prepared.  This 
Adoption Statement and the accompanying documents will then be placed on the 
Council’s website.

Peter Baguley
Head of Planning

66



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19

Tel. 01604 838921

67



This page is intentionally left blank



Parking Standards SPD: Consultation Statement

1 | P a g e

Northampton Borough Council 

Parking Standards

Supplementary Planning Document

November 2019

69



Parking Standards SPD: Consultation Statement

2 | P a g e

Contents

Chapter Page number
1 Introduction 3

2 Consultation Exercise 3

3 Summary of Responses 3

Appendix  1 Public Notice 4

Appendix 2 Summary of Responses, Officer Comments and Proposed 
Changes

5

70



Parking Standards SPD: Consultation Statement

3 | P a g e

Introduction

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) expand upon specific policies within the Development 
Plan Document Framework with a more detailed wording for that policy and evidence base to 
support it. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that SPDs can be material 
considerations in planning decisions. 

The Parking Standards SPD provides guidance on the appropriate amount of car parking necessary to 
support new development and expands upon policy 28 of the Northampton Local Plan Part 2 
(Submission Draft 2019). 

In accordance with Regulation 13 of the Town and Country Planning (England) Regulations 2012, the 
draft SPD was subject to a six week public consultation period between 8th August and 3rd October 
(5pm). 

This statement of consultation analyses the consultation that was undertaken by the Council, 
provides a summary of representations received and the Council’s responses to these 
representations.

Consultation Exercise

The formal 6 week consultation for stakeholders and the community took place between 8th August 
and 3rd October. Letters/emails were sent to statutory consultees, Members and those with an 
interest in parking standards, and provided further information about the draft SPD and where more 
information could be found. Copies of key documents were made available at the Council offices and 
public libraries in Northampton, in all cases feedback forms were made available. This information 
was included on the public notice which was sent to each consultee.

Summary of Responses

In total, 10 responses were received via completed feedback forms, letters and email. A full schedule 
of consultation responses for the SPD, with the Council’s response, can be found in Appendix 2.

A number of comments have been made which have implications for the scope and content of the 
document, resulting in amendments to the draft SPD. The changes provide further clarification and 
guidance on the key principles in relation to parking standards in the Borough. On adoption, the SPD 
will be a material consideration in the determination of planning applications.  

71



Parking Standards SPD: Consultation Statement

4 | P a g e

Appendix 1: Public Notice

72



Parking Standards SPD: Consultation Statement

5 | P a g e

Appendix 2: Representations made, officer response and changes to SPD

Reference Name Organisation Draft SPD Section Summary of comments Officer Response Change to SPD
PS001 Kerrie Ginns Environment 

Agency
General We have no comments to make 

on the Draft Parking Standards 
SPD

PS002 Sharon Henley Crime Prevention 
Design Adviser, 
Northamptonshire 
Police

3.12 Parking 
Courts
Principle 6 Cycle 
parking
4.5 Non residential 
development

3.12 Parking Courts. 
 Parking courts are not approved 
of by the police service for the 
following reasons:- they 
introduce access to the 
vulnerable rear elevations of 
dwellings where burglary is 
mostly perpetrated; in private 
developments the areas are 
often unlit; ungated courtyards 
provide areas of concealment 
which encourages anti-social 
behaviour.  Where considered 
absolutely necessary they must 
be protected by a gate.  Any 
boundaries abutting the court 
must reduce opportunities for 
climbing. Please further define 
'secure' as listed in principle 2.  
This should include a 
requirement to gate which is 
national police policy. 
Principle 6 Cycle Parking in an 
apartment block

Paragraph 3.12 
specifies that 
provision of 
parking courts 
must uphold 
security 
standards. The 
policy specifies 
that properties 
must be well-lit. 
The concern 
regarding areas of 
concealment 
concern is valid 
but, to some 
extent, mitigated 
by the fact that 
the parking court 
must be 
observable by the 
properties they 
serve. It is agreed 
that parking 
courts should be 

A further 
criterion has 
been added to 
Principle 2 to 
ensure that 
parking courts 
are gated where 
possible. 

73



Parking Standards SPD: Consultation Statement

6 | P a g e

External communal bike stores 
should be brick built with a 
secure lockable door unless 
located in a securely gated rear 
amenity area when a covered 
shelter is acceptable.  Internal 
bike stores within blocks of flats 
are preferred and should be 
fitted with a key to thumb turn 
lock.
4.5 Non-residential development 
A bike stand which encourages 
the user to lock both wheels and 
the cross bar to the stand rather 
than just the cross bar is 
recommended.

gated if possible, 
but, depending on 
the nature of the 
application site, it 
might not always 
be practical.
Principle 6 
specifies that 
communal cycle 
parking stores in 
apartment blocks 
should be 
provided within 
the fabric of the 
building and 
should be brick 
built.
It is accepted best 
practice in 
transport policy 
that Sheffield 
Stands are used 
for cycle parking. 

PS003 (Not provided) Resident or 
member of the 
general public

General Please, please, please do 
something about the amount of 
HMOs in the Abington area. The 
streets are disgusting. 
Permit parking is needed or at 
the very least spaces should be 
painted on the roads to prevent 
appalling parking.
Open up the weird areas of 
private land that are used to gain 

Appropriate 
amounts of 
residential car 
parking must be 
provided for new 
residential 
development. For 
existing residential 
development, 
including HMOs, 

None

74



Parking Standards SPD: Consultation Statement

7 | P a g e

parking tickets funds, so 
residents can actually park. 
Apply common sense. A HMO of 
5 people should NOT be allowed 
on a street of 3 bedroomed 
terraced houses with on street 
parking only. Why is this being 
approved? No consideration to 
residents.

the County Council 
has a standard of 
one on-plot car 
parking space per 
bedroom. A 
parking survey has 
to be conducted if 
this is not 
possible.

PS004 Mike Billingham Great Houghton 
Parish Council

1.6 The Council is most concerned to 
read of the recognition for public 
transport to reduce car traffic, 
yet also aware of the numerous 
cuts in bus services that have 
recently been implemented 
including cancellation of the bus 
service to Great Houghton and a 
number of other nearby villages.
The council welcomes the 
proposed development of park & 
ride schemes on all major roads 
into town and would seek that 
the parking element be free of 
charge and that all bus passes are 
recognised for onward travel in 
order to ensure that elderly 
residents forced to use their cars 
due to no longer having a bus 
service do not have the burden of 
additional travel costs.
The council would seek that 
action is taken to ensure that 
retrospective requirement for EV 

Northampton 
Borough Council 
recognises the 
Government’s 
intention to 
increase usage of 
public transport.

Paragraph 5.4 
requires the 
design of new 
developments to 
accommodate the 
move towards 
electric vehicles, 
however we 
cannot dictate 
requirements for 
already existing 
development.

None

75



Parking Standards SPD: Consultation Statement

8 | P a g e

charging points is provided for, 
especially those in older 
properties with only on-road 
parking facilities.

PS005 Mike Billingham Great Houghton 
Parish Council

3.4 The Council would seek that 
there is a requirement to ensure 
that all on plot parking areas are 
designed to allow and ensure 
sufficient and appropriate 
drainage to protect against 
flooding and chemical 
contamination.

Drainage matters 
are normally 
taken into account 
as part of the 
surface water 
drainage scheme 
for new 
developments.  
Chemical 
contamination is 
taken into account 
if the Environment 
Agency have made 
the Council aware 
of a concern 
relating to the 
application site.

None

PS006 Ann Plackett Town Centre Area 
Action Committee

3.20; Principle 5 The Committee is supported by 
the Borough Council and its role 
is to comment on planning 
applications and other matters 
related to the town centre 
conservation areas. We are a 
statutory consultee on planning 
matters and have been a 
continuous voice on heritage 
matters in the town for over 20 
years.
The Committee broadly supports 

76



Parking Standards SPD: Consultation Statement

9 | P a g e

the draft SPD. In sensitive 
locations, such as conservation 
areas, there is a need for good 
garage design as set out in 
paragraph 3.20. In the case of 
HMOs (paragraph 3.33), on street 
parking is often unavoidable in 
the conservation areas, such as 
the Boot and Shoe Conservation 
Area. Thus, the Committee 
supports Principle 5 and the 
reference to Principle 3 of the 
draft HMO SPD.

PS007 Martin Seldon Highways England General Highways England have no 
comments to make.

PS008 Emilie Carr Historic England General Reference to design is welcomed. 
However potential impact on 
heritage assets should also be 
included, as an example, such as 
reference to sensitive design of 
parking areas within 
Conservation Areas.

This advice is 
welcomed and 
changes have 
been made to 
Principle 1: 
Residential Car 
Parking.

PS009 Gary Youens Duston Parish 
Council

General Duston Parish Council supports 
the draft Parking Standards SPD. 
However, there should be at 
least 1 parking space per 
bedroom (excluding the garage). 
A single parking space should be 
3 metres in width and 6.5 metres 
in length. An enclosed parking 
space should 3.5 metres in width 
and 6.5 metres in length. A 
double parking space should be 6 

Northamptonshire 
County Council 
Parking Standards 
set requirement 
for 1 space per 
dwelling and 1 
parking space per 
bedroom for a 
house in multiple 
occupation.

None

77



Parking Standards SPD: Consultation Statement

10 | P a g e

metres in width and 6.5 metres 
in length.

The standard 
parking 
dimensions in the 
UK are 4.8m in 
length by 2.4m in 
width. The 
dimensions in the 
Parking Standards 
SPD are 5m in 
length and 2.5m in 
width. Therefore 
this is in line with 
the standards 
stipulated for 
lifetime homes. 
This has the 
potential to be 
widened if 
necessary. 

PS010 R Webb Resident or 
member of the 
general public

General The Council should show 
consideration for those who keep 
medical equipment in their 
vehicles.  Easy access and egress 
from town centre parking should 
be facilitated.

Access to and 
egress from town 
centre car parks is 
not an issue 
covered by the 
Parking Standards 
SPD

None

78



1

                        

Supplementary Planning Document

                         Parking Standards

                                (November 2019)

79



2

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION 4

Purpose & Background 5

Aims of the Document 5

Borough Profile 5

Northampton Parking Context 7

2. POLICY CONTEXT 7

National Policy (NPPF) 7

Strategic Policies 8

Local Policy 8

Northampton County Council Transport Policies 9

3. RESIDENTIAL CAR PARKING 10

On plot Parking 11

To side of a property 11

Drive through 11

On plot to front 11

Tandem parking 12

Parking courts 12

Residential Car Parking Dimensions 13

Garages 14

Design 15

Parking for Extended Properties 16

Unallocated / Visitor Parking 16

Homes in Multiple Occupation 17

4. Cycle Parking 18

Residential Development 18

80



3

Non-Residential Development 18

5. Electric Vehicle Charging 19

6. Monitoring 21

81



4

1.0  INTRODUCTION

 Purpose and Background

1.1 The Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) will be used by 
Northampton Borough Council to provide guidance for applicants and decision makers as 
to the appropriate amount of car parking necessary to support new development. The SPD 
also provides guidance on the design and layout of car parking. The Parking Standards for 
Use Class as detailed in the Northamptonshire Parking Standards September 2016, will 
still be applicable and should be read in conjunction with this document. 

1.2 The purpose of this SPD is to provide clear information and guidance to allow document 
users to   easily determine the right level of parking for development. The underpinning 
principle of the SPD is to support sustainable development which makes efficient use of 
land and resources and demonstrates good design.

1.3 The most recent parking standards document was issued by the Northamptonshire County 
Council in September 2016 and covers the whole of Northamptonshire. This updated the 
parking advice previously detailed in the Parking SPG (March 2003). The particular needs 
of a large urban town differ from those of the rural districts and within Northampton town 
itself, where the townscape character varies from the historic core pre 1835 to Victorian 
and early 20th century development to interwar development and post war/overspill 
development to modern post 1990 development, each having its own specific parking 
issues.

1.4 This document reflects the local circumstances, context and requirements for individual 
developments and the local area and expands on the previous parking standards, to 
include parking design and layout and to expand on electric vehicle charging points.

1.5 The previous parking standards, produced by the NCC, Parking SPG (March 2003) 
focused on setting a maximum parking standard, and parking was used as a demand 
management tool thereby using a lack of available parking to encourage drivers to use 
other modes of transport and move away from car ownership.  This model of parking 
control has not proved effective and car ownership has continued to rise, which has led to 
car parking issues within many residential developments.

1.6 The Council is actively committed to encouraging modal shift to sustainable modes of 
transport,     but also realises that alternative modes of transport will only be used where 
journey times and appropriate and alternative choices are available.  The Borough is an 
urban area with many residents making short trips by car, there is a real opportunity to 
encourage sustainable travel choices.  

82



5

Aims of the Supplementary Planning Document

1.7      The aims of the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) are to achieve the following 
through 

           parking policy;

 Managing and reconciling the competing demands for kerb space for residents, 
business and visitors 

 Balancing the demand for parking in order to enhance the viability and attractiveness 
of the town

 Reducing congestion, improving air quality and health, and promoting sustainable 
travel patterns and behaviours 

 Facilitating the movement of buses and emergency vehicles by ensuring they are not 
impeded by inconsiderately parked vehicles 

 Meeting the needs of cyclists and motorcyclists 

 Meeting the needs of people with disabilities 

 Facilitating adequate loading and unloading facilities for businesses and shops 
without causing congestion and delay to traffic

 Facilitating provision for electric vehicle charging and associated infrastructure

Borough Profile
1.8     Over the past 20 years, the amount of travel has increased, especially for those journeys 

made by private car, which has resulted in detrimental effects on air quality, increased 
congestion and increased journey times. The whole of the Borough area is urbanised and is 
the main centre of employment for the wider county, which has led to a significant amount of 
in-commuting, with a net inflow of 12,000 commuters to the Borough (2011 Census NOMIS). 
In time, with traffic levels expected to rise, congestion is likely to become progressively 
worse.

1.9  Modal choice is a vital element for understanding what future policies need to contain. These   
differences are important to ensuring that the policies developed are appropriate to the local 
circumstances of the areas and can help by controlling the location of new development to aid 
the reduction of the need to travel and the use of the car. The following data is a presentation 
of data from the 2011 census. Figure 1 shows that the main method of travel to work for over 
half of the population of Northampton is the private car. The Census also shows that 43% of 
households own one car and 26% own two, with 5.2% owning more than two vehicles. Figure 
2 shows that 32% of the population of Northampton travel 2-5km to work. This shows the 
modal split is heavily dependent on the private car and the Department for Transport Road 
Traffic Forecasts for 2018, indicate that car ownership is expected to rise in the forthcoming 
years.  It is therefore important that any future development provides adequate parking for 
residents and visitors.

83



6

Figure 1.

Figure 2.

84



7

Northampton Parking Context

1.10    Northampton is a historic market town, therefore many parts of the Borough were built 
before  the take up of modern vehicles, which creates specific parking issues. The 
main transport issues are; 

 Main mode of transport to work is by private car
 A significant proportion of short trips within the town are made by car
 Use of walking, cycling and public transport is relatively low
 No residual parking capacity in many parts of the borough 
 Levels of pollution within the town have led to the need to declare Air Quality 

Management Areas

1.11    These standards therefore need to reflect the Council’s aspirations for sustainable 
travel, as 
           is consistent with the objectives of the Northamptonshire Local Transport Plan (LTP), 
at the  
           same time as catering adequately for the car, particularly in residential areas.

2.0 Policy Context

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG)

2.1    The NPPF (February 2019) Paragraph 105, states that when setting local parking 
standards for development local planning authorities should take into account;

a) The accessibility of the development;

b) The type, mix and use of development;

c) The availability of and opportunities for public transport;

d) Local car ownership levels; and

e) The need to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for charging plug-in and 
other ultra-low emission vehicles.

2.2  The NPPF emphasises that transport issues should be considered from the earliest 
stages of  plan-making and development proposals. This allows for the potential 
impacts of development on transport networks to be addressed and allows for 
opportunities to promote sustainable methods of transport such as walking and 
cycling, and therefore has a positive influence on the environmental impacts of traffic 
and transport infrastructure.

The NPPF also states;

“Maximum parking standards for residential and non-residential development should 
only be set where there is a clear and compelling justification that they are necessary 
for managing the local road network.”

2.3 The PPG also sets out that maximum parking standards can lead to poor quality 
development and congested streets, and that local planning authorities should seek 

85



8

to ensure parking provision is appropriate to the needs of the development and not 
reduced below a level that could be considered reasonable.

2.4 The above factors have been taken into account when formulating Northampton’s 
parking standards contained within this SPD.

Strategic Policies 

West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (2014)

2.5 The West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (WNJCS) sets out the long-term 
vision and objectives for the whole of West Northamptonshire area for the plan period 
up to 2029, including strategic policies for steering and shaping development. 

2.6 It identifies that Northamptonshire has higher than average levels of car use and 
ownership, and traffic growth is higher than the national average, which had led to 
congestion and delays across the county. 

2.7 The WNJCS contains number of policies to address these issues. Policy C1 
promotes a change in travel behaviour in order to meet future travel needs of 
residents and visitors. People will be encouraged to use alternatives to the car where 
this is possible and seeks to provide a viable alternative.

2.8 A key element of Policy C2 is the requirement for new development to provide a 
Travel Plan. These seek to mitigate against the negative transport impacts of a 
development and alter travel behaviour from the outset.  

2.9 Policy C5 emphasises the need improve local connections facilitating more 
sustainable travel. This includes the creation of local bus, cycle and walking routes 
allowing access to facilities.

Local Policies

Northampton Local Plan 1997

2.10 Saved Policy T11 states that permission will not be granted for development where 
the parking facilities have an adverse effect on primarily residential area. Policy H29 
also requires that parking requirements for development be accommodated within 
the site and the traffic generated by the development would not increase traffic 
congestion or be a danger to road safety.

2.11 The emerging Local Plan Part 2, once adopted, will replace the 1997 Local Plan and 
this will provide the Development Plan basis for this SPD. Within the Local Plan Part 
2, Policies 28 and 30 set out the requirements for delivering sustainable transport 
and require that developments either mitigate their transport impact either on site or 
off site, and that the design of a development ensures that people are encouraged 
and facilitated to undertake short and regular journeys by walking and cycling safely 
and to use public transport.

Northampton Central Area Action Plan 2013

2.12 The Central Area Action Plan (CAAP) covers the primary shopping area occupied by 
the main town centre uses, it also includes adjacent areas where the regeneration of 

86



9

housing, mixed use development and open space contribute to the delivery of the 
plan.

2.13 The plan sets out that the provision of car parking is critical to the vitality and viability 
of the Central Area for employers, commuters, shoppers and visitors to the town. 
Policy 10 sets out that no additional private parking for non-residential development 
will be acceptable within the Town Centre Boundary, within the town centre boundary 
private parking provision is set at a minimum of 50% of the parking standards. 

Neighbourhood Plans

2.14 There are currently three made neighbourhood plans within Northampton. The plans 
cover Duston, Spring Boroughs and the Growing Together Plan for Blackthorn, 
Cherry Lodge, Goldings, Lings, Lumbertubs and Overstone Lodge.

2.15 Duston Policy BE1 refers to local character areas and sets out that forecourt parking 
should be limited to one space per two bed property and for properties with three or 
more bedrooms, two spaces. Policy B2 sets out that in the village centre additional 
and safe parking facilities via a traffic management plan will be sought.

2.16 Spring Boroughs Policy OP5 refers to streets, movement and parking and seeks to 
Increase kerbside parking for residents and local businesses within Spring Boroughs.

2.17 Growing Together Policy DES1 refers to high quality design and requires 
development to provide adequate levels of parking taking into consideration the type 
of development, the accessibility of the location, and the requirements of borough 
parking standards. Parking should be designed to minimise its visual impact upon the 
townscape, however developments which propose parking courts will not be 
supported.

Northamptonshire County Council Transport Policies  

Local Transport Plan 2012

2.18 This document is the overarching strategy document that sets out strategic aims and 
goals for transportation in Northamptonshire. 

2.19 Separate daughter documents give more detail on strategy and policy for specific 
modes and areas

Northamptonshire Parking Strategy January 2013

2.20 The parking strategy enables the aims of the Northamptonshire Transportation Plan 
in terms of parking provision and parking management to be applied in such a way 
that it can operate as a means of reducing congestion, encouraging traffic restraint 
and supporting alternative modes of transport. The parking strategy also provides 
policies that support the economic regeneration of Northamptonshire by firstly 
encouraging car parking in the most appropriate locations and secondly by getting 
the balance of parking within developments correct.

2.21 The Parking Strategy states that well planned and managed parking can help the 
county to achieve its economic, social and environmental objectives. In particular, a 
managed approach to parking can: 

 Support the local economy (by making it easy for shoppers, commuters and tourists 
to visit Northamptonshire’s towns) 

87



10

 Encourage sustainable travel modes and help reduce reliance on the private car (by 
setting parking charges at appropriate levels and allowing an appropriate level of 
parking in new developments ) 

 Meet residents’ needs for car parking near their homes (by introducing Residents’ 
Parking Zones) 

 Improve journey time reliability for road users (by designing and managing on-street 
parking facilities to reduce traffic conflicts and delays) 

3.0 Residential Car Parking

3.1 Accommodating parked vehicles is a key function of most streets, particularly in 
residential areas. The level of parking provision and its location has a key influence 
on the quality of a development, and the choices people make in how they travel. 
The way cars are parked is a key factor for 
many issues, such as visual quality, street 
activity, interaction between residents, and 
safety.

3.2 A failure to properly consider this issue is likely 
to lead to inappropriate parking, resulting in 
poor and unsafe conditions for pedestrians. 
Parking can be provided on or off the street. 
Northamptonshire Highways have observed 
that residents in a number of locations do not 
use rear parking courts, and prefer to have their vehicles parked either on their 
properties’ drive or on the highway in front of the property. 

3.3 The context of a new residential development needs to be carefully considered when 
determining the appropriate amount of parking.

3.4 The provision of off-street car parking for housing is a 
significant determinant of the amount of land required 
for new housing. Residential developments are 
therefore required to provide sufficient and well-
designed parking. Poorly located and designed 
parking can lead to an increase in demand on illegal 
and unsafe parking, such as parking on double yellow 
lines, across dropped kerbs, on the corners of 
junctions and double parking.

3.5 When considering the design and location of car 
parking  the design quality of the street is paramount; 
there is no single best solution to providing car 
parking, so a combination of on-plot, off plot and on-
street will often be appropriate.  Parking within rear 
parking courts are discouraged, except for flats, as 
these are often under used by residents and not seen 
as secure places to park.

Image: Badly designed parking – 
isolated garage courts are often 
unused and accommodate anti-social 
behaviour and crime

Image:  Inappropriate parking

88



11

On Plot Parking 

3.6 On plot parking can be provided:

 To the side of dwellings 
 As a “drive through” at the rear, or
 To the front as parallel or angled 

On-plot parking to the side

3.7 On-plot parking to the side of a dwelling is preferred, and where 
parking is provided to the side then a gable end window should be designed into the 
scheme to allow overlooking of the space and to provide an active edge.  Where 
housing densities are lower, space for car parking should be provided on plot, within 
the curtilage of the dwelling. In many new developments it is accepted that density 
and space constraints mean that this is not always viable.  

Drive through

3.8 These are in effect car ports which are open at the back and often lead to a rear 
garage, as detailed in the figure below. The advantage of this type of parking is that it 
allows continuity of the building frontages, but allows on-plot parking that is not 
directly visible within the street scene. 

On plot parking to the front

3.9 Parking directly to the front of the dwelling can lead to a car-dominated streetscape 
and one that can have a negative impact on the overall character of an area. To 
allow on plot parking to the front of the dwelling the spaces should be designed into a 
landscaped privacy strip as detailed in the figure below, this improves the quality of 
the landscape.

Principle 1.

Residential Car Parking

Parking for individual dwellings is best located on plot, either;

 To the side of dwellings 
 As a “drive through” at the rear, or
 To the front as parallel or angled

Rear parking courts will be discouraged, with the exception of flats.

Design of parking spaces, properties should have active ground floor 
frontages to allow natural surveillance of the street.

Developers must ensure that there is the sensitive design of parking spaces 
within Conservation Areas.

89



12

On plot parking options 

Tandem Parking 

3.10 Independently accessible on-plot parking spaces are the preferred option. Tandem 
parking is where one vehicle is positioned behind the other. It requires one vehicle to 
be moved onto the road for the other to access the space and also tends, in practice, 
to vehicles being parked on the carriageway. This can be highly inconvenient for 
residents and should be avoided, and is not acceptable for houses in multiple 
occupation, where all parking spaces have to be individually accessible. 

3.11 In principle where tandem parking spaces are proposed, these will require a 
supplementary parking space at 0.25 spaces per plot in the form of on-street parking, 
in addition to the visitor parking provision, in accordance with Northamptonshire 
County Council Standards.

Parking Courts

3.12 Where circumstances dictate, small private 
and secure parking courts may be 
accepted. They must not compromise the 
overall character of a development, and 
they must be secure (observable from 
routinely inhabited rooms), well-lit and well 
observed by the surrounding properties, as 

On plot parking to the side of 
the dwelling

On plot parking to the front of 
the dwelling

Drive through parking with garage 
to the rear

90



13

well as being close and conveniently accessible to all dwellings. 

If parking is allocated in a communal parking areas then the spaces should be 
lettered not numbered to avoid criminals being able to identify who is at home or not.

Residential Car Parking Dimensions

3.13 Over recent years, cars have got larger and consequently parking spaces need to 
increase in size. A standard parking space should be 2.5m wide by 5m long, See 
Figure 3 below. 

Figure 3: Standard Parking Space Dimensions 

Principle 2.

Parking Courts

Where parking court are proposed they must be designed so as not to 
compromise the overall character of a development. And be;

 Secure
 Well lit
 Well observed by the surrounding properties
 Close and conveniently accessible to all dwellings 
 Gated where possible

91



14

3.14 Lifetime Homes standard sets out that parking spaces should be capable of being 
widened, so that getting into and out of a vehicle is as convenient as possible for the 
widest range of people (including those with reduced mobility and /or those with 
children). Where on plot parking is provided within an individual plot at least one 
parking space length should be capable of enlargement to achieve a minimum width 
of 3.3m.

3.15 Figure 4 below shows minimum internal dimensions required where parking spaces 
are surrounding by or are adjacent to walls or other solid features. 

Garages 

3.16 Garages are not always used for car parking, and this can create additional demand 
for on-street parking.

3.17 Research shows that, in some developments, less than half the garages are used for 
parking cars, and that many are used primarily as storage or have been converted to 
living accommodation.

3.18 For this reason designated parking in new developments is best provided on 
driveways, carports or allocated parking bays. Therefore a single garage can be 
counted as a single parking space only if additional ancillary external storage is 
provided, such as a shed (this would only apply to the third space on 4 bed units and 
above). Also, an additional 0.25 on street provision will be required. A double garage 
should be counted as 1 parking space.

Where garages are provided they should be constructed to the following dimensions;

Figure 4: Parking spaces surrounded by walls or solid features

92



15

Single Garage Double Garage
3.3m (W) x 6.0m (L) x 2.4m (H)                                    5.8m (W) x 6.0m (L) x 2.4m (H)

3.19 Any garage must be set back a minimum distance of 5.5m from the Highway 
boundary so as to ensure that a vehicle can be parked clear of the highway and the 
garage door can be open/closed without hindrance. 

Garage Design

3.20 Garages should be located in such a way as not to dominate the street scene. 

3.21 In most instances garages should have pitched roof and be built in similar or same 
materials to the main dwelling and should reflect the character of neighbouring 
properties and the rhythm of the wider street scene.

Principle 3.

Garages

Single garages are not counted as parking spaces.

The only exception to this is for units with 4 or more bedrooms, where a single 
garage can be counted as a single parking space only if additional ancillary 
external storage is provided (this only applies to the third space on 4 bed units 
and above).

A double garage should be counted as 1 parking space.

93



16

Examples of good design

Parking for Extended Properties

3.22  If a proposed extension increases the number of bedrooms from existing, then this may 
necessitate providing another car parking space.  Similarly, an extension which results in the 
loss of an existing parking space may require that a replacement parking space is provided.

94



17

Unallocated / Visitor Parking 

3.23 In general on plot parking will be sought, as the most   
appropriate solution for parking within a development. 

3.24   An arrangement of discrete parking bays adjacent to
 the    running lanes should be the preferred way of
 providing on-street parking, as it has little effect on
 passing traffic and minimises obstructions to the view 
 of pedestrians crossing the street.

3.25   Where regulated on-street parking is provided, it is
          important to note that it cannot be allocated to 

 individual dwellings, although such spaces can be reserved for particular types of user, such   
as disabled people.

3.26  On-street car-parking spaces should be indicated clearly through the use of road 
markings or changes of   surfacing material can help to encourage good parking behaviour.

3.27  It is recommended that visitor parking is generally served by unallocated parking, including 
on‑street provision.

3.28  Where a residential development parking layout is incorporating on-street parking, the street       
must be wide enough to accommodate the parking without compromising access for 
emergency/waste collection vehicles and must not impair visibility at junctions or on bends. The 
street must be wide enough to accommodate two lanes of traffic and the on street parking/layby 
space dimensions for street width listed in principle 4.

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO)

3.29 Where houses are subdivided for the individual use of three or more unrelated 
people it is considered to be a house in multiple occupation. 

Principle 4.

 Unallocated / Visitor Parking

The following criteria should be met in the provision of unallocated and visitor parking:

 Unallocated parking laybys require a minimum width of 2m

 Visitor parking is permitted within a 5.5m wide carriageway

 Visitor parking provision is at 0.25 spaces per dwelling 

 Visitor parking must not be within 10m of a junction unless in the form of a layby

 Visitor parking must not be within a turning head unless in the form of a layby

 Visitor parking must not block driveways

95



18

3.30 The establishment of HMOs can bring about certain issues which, unless properly 
managed, can lead to detrimental effects on the occupants, the neighbours and the 
physical environment of the neighbourhood. One of these is that the additional 
occupancy of premises can lead to an increase in demand for parking, although this 
is dependent on the area and its proximity to alternative modes of transport. 

3.31 The starting point for considering planning applications for conversions to HMO 
should be the County Council’s standard of one on-plot car parking space per 
bedroom and one secure covered cycle parking space per bedroom.  To ensure, in 
practical terms, that all the on-plot parking spaces are useable all of the time, and 
that on-street car parking demand is not generated. This standard has been 
modified, such that tandem car parking is not acceptable – all car parking spaces 
have to be individually accessible.

3.32 Where it is not possible to meet the car parking standard in full, the planning 
application must be supported by a parking beat survey.  It is important that car 
parking capacity in the immediate vicinity is assessed to establish the impact of any 
additional parking. This is required to be undertaken at a time of day this is 
representative of peak demand for car parking. The requirement for a parking beat 
survey and the time of day when it should be carried out, are set out in Principle 5.

3.33 Partly in response to an understanding of the reality of where the demand is for 
HMOs and also because of the higher levels of accessibility in those areas, it is 
accepted that reduced or limited levels of car parking provision (but not cycle parking 
provision) will be still be applicable in accessible locations such as:
 The town centre, district centres, local centres and neighbourhood parades
 Areas where buses are easily accessible

3.34 More guidance about accessibility considerations is set out in the Houses in 
Multiple Occupation SPD.

Principle 5. 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO)

Planning applications for HMOs will be required to satisfy the car parking and 
cycle parking standards set out in the Northampton Parking Standards SPD.  
Tandem car parking is not acceptable. 
For HMO applications where the car parking standard cannot be met in full:

 The developer must demonstrate through parking beat surveys (or a 
previous beat survey that has been carried out within the previous twelve 
months) that there is sufficient capacity for on-street parking in the area 
within a minimum of 200m from the application site. The parking beat survey 
must record the level of parking at a time between 1am and 5am on a 
Saturday or Sunday during school term time. Surveys must be undertaken 
by an independent survey company (a detailed methodology is set out in 
Appendix 4 of the Houses in Multiple Occupation Supplementary Planning 
Document).

If the beat survey reveals that the there is insufficient on-street car parking 
capacity, the application will need to satisfy criteria set out in Principle 3 of the 
Houses in Multiple Occupation Supplementary Planning Document.

In all circumstances, covered, secure cycle parking should be provided in 
accordance with the Northamptonshire Parking Standards, September 2016, or 
its successor document(s) and Principle 6 of this document.

96



19

4.0 Cycle Parking

4.1 Providing enough convenient and secure cycle parking at people’s homes and other 
locations for both residents and visitors is critical to increasing the use of cycles, 
particularly from single occupancy motorised journeys made over shorter distances 
on a regular basis. Cycle parking provision should be fully incorporated into a 
proposed development layout from the outset.

Residential Development  

4.2 Cycles are often kept in garages, and this can be convenient and secure if located 
near the front of the property. However, the proportion of housing schemes with 
individual garages is declining.

4.3 Greater consideration therefore needs to be given to the provision of bespoke cycle 
storage. Cycles are not suited to overnight storage outdoors as they are vulnerable to 
theft and adverse weather. At the very least, any outdoor cycle parking needs to be 
covered, and preferably lockable.

Principle 6.

Cycle Parking 

Residential development

Cycle storage should be within a garage, providing the garage meets the minimum 
size specified in the garage section of this document.

Where garages are not provided for individual dwellings, then a shed may be 
provided in lieu of this.   

Cycle parking for dwellings should not involve having to pass through the dwelling 
to access it.

Apartment blocks

Communal cycle parking should have areas that are secure and accessible only to 
residents.

Such stores should be provided within the fabric of the building and ideally brick 
built, and should be located within a lockable structure, which is easily accessible 
and of a suitable size and preferably covered.

Non-residential Development

Cycle parking should be convenient to use, and secure, in areas of good 
surveillance that are well lit and preferably covered. 

Cycle parking should be provided in prominent areas close to key destinations 
such as at entrances to public buildings, leisure facilities, and educational 
establishment, in town centres and at local centres.

Cycle stands should be far enough apart from each other and also from any side or 
back wall, fence or kerb, to allow the user to park and lock their cycle with ease.  97



20

Figure 5:Plan of store for four cycles 
using Sheffiled stands

Image: Electric Car Club located outside 
Northampton Filmhouse

Non-residential Development 

4.4 Cycle parking should be convenient to use, and secure, in areas of good surveillance 
that are well lit and preferably covered. Cycle parking should be provided in 
prominent areas close to key destinations such as at entrances to public buildings, 
leisure facilities, and educational establishment, in town centres and at local centres. 
It should be clearly signed from the public highway wherever possible.

4.5 For short and medium stay cycle parking a Sheffield Stand or similar may be 
sufficient. Shelter should be provided over the cycle parking area to help protect 
cycles from the weather. Cycle stands should be far enough apart from each other 
and also from any side or back wall, fence or kerb, to allow the user to park and lock 
their cycle with ease.  

4.6 The Manual for Streets (2007) sets out the minimum clearance around a cycle stand, 
see Figure 5 below.

5.0      Electric Vehicle Charging  

5.1 Department for Transport (DfT) figures show that over 100,000 plug-in vehicles were 
registered in the UK by mid-2017 as people are seeing the benefits of lower running 
costs and environmental benefits. The Government has pledged that almost all new 
car and light goods vehicle sales will be zero 
emission by 2050.

5.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
2019 sets out the National Planning Policy for 
England. Para 110 states that applications for 
development should be designed to enable 
charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission 
vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient 
locations.

98



21

5.3 Further support is provided under paragraph 181 which states that planning policies 
and decisions should sustain and contribute towards compliance with relevant limit 
values or national objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air 
Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from 
individual sites in local areas.

5.4 Both Northampton Borough Council (NBC) and Northamptonshire County Council 
(NCC) have begun work on installing charging infrastructure. NBC has introduced 
charging points in the Town Centre and will look to create facilities in public car parks 
such as St Johns Multi-Storey Car Park. As part of the Smart Move Project, NCC 
have worked with the private sector to introduce charging points at locations in the 
borough. 

5.5 Northampton currently has a number of fast charging points, and the Council 
supports and encourages the take-up of these vehicles. 

5.6 The design of new developments will also need to change to accommodate the move 
towards electric vehicles, the requirement for increasing model shift, to improve the 
quality of the environment and improve people’s quality of life. 

5.7 It is desirable that planning applications should include an electric vehicle charging 
scheme for housing and business/commercial developments. This way it can be 
determined from the planning application how the development supports the 
provision of infrastructure necessary to fulfil not only the council’s objective, but the 
Government’s drive to shift to lower polluting technologies. The Council will adopt a 
flexible approach taking into account a full range of site specific factors in relation to 
the provision of electric charging infrastructure.

99



22

5.8 The location and manner in which EVs need to charge is not uniform. It is therefore 
important to consider the whole charging mix when planning EV charging 
infrastructure. This will ensure that a network is established which will meet the 
various needs of users. The majority of charging currently occurs at home or work in 
a private off-street parking location.

5.9 Within 10 years it is envisaged that perhaps one in five on-street overnight parking 
bays will need a charging socket to meet the growth of EVs.2

5.10 Domestic external wall-mounted charging points are convenient for users and 
prevent the need to run cables from either inside the home or garage, which can 
compromise security when doors or windows have to be left open or unlocked during 
charging.

5.11 However, it is appreciated that this will likely need to be supported by ‘top up’     
charges during the day.

5.12 Substantial parts of Northampton’s townscape are made up of mainly Victorian / 
Edwardian terrace streets, which brings about particular challenges in providing 

Principle 7.

Electric Vehicle Charging  

Residential: 
1 charging point per unit (dwelling with dedicated parking) or 1 charging point per 10 
spaces (unallocated parking) and ensure appropriate cabling is provided to enable 
increase in future provision

In existing residential areas

Subject to highway considerations and parking restrictions, the Council will be supportive 
of opportunities and initiatives to provide on-street electric vehicle charging points in 
areas where there is no off-street parking provision.  

Commercial/Retail: 
10% of parking spaces (32 amp) which may be phased with 5% initial provision and the 
remainder at an agreed trigger level. At least 1 charging unit should be provided for every 
10 disabled parking spaces. Where 50 parking spaces or more are provided then 1 rapid 
charging unit (43kW/50kW) per 50 spaces shall also be considered and parking time 
limited to a maximum of 1 hour. 

Industrial: 
10% of parking spaces which may be phased with 5% initial provision and the remainder 
at an agreed trigger level. At least 1 charging unit should be provided for every 10 
disabled parking spaces. Where 50 parking spaces or more are provided then 1 rapid 
charging unit (43kW/50kW) per 50 spaces shall also be considered and parking time 
limited to a maximum of 1 hour. 

All charging units shall be installed where practically accessible.

100



23

electric charging points. It is important that, in future provision is made to enable 
people living in those parts of the town to be able to charge electric vehicles 
overnight. Accordingly, the Council will be supportive of opportunities to provide 
electric charging points in residential areas which do not have allocated on-plot 
parking, as and when they arise. 

6.0 Monitoring

6.1 The Council will monitor the implementation of the updated parking standards that 
have been outlined in this SPD. This will allow for future amendments, including 
additions and deletions, where deemed necessary. 

_________________________________
2. Milton Keynes Council Go Ultra Low Cities Scheme 

101



This page is intentionally left blank



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19

CABINET REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC

Cabinet Meeting Date:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Service Area:

Accountable Cabinet Member: 

Ward(s)

13 November 2019

YES

YES

YES

PLANNING

Councillor James Hill

All wards

1. Purpose

1.1 This report seeks Cabinet’s to approval to adopt the Specialist Housing 
Supplementary Planning Document . 

2. Recommendations

2.1 That Cabinet approves the  adoption of the Specialist Housing Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD). 

2.2 That the Head of Planning be given delegated authority in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Planning to make any necessary minor amendments, 
including spelling and changes in the format of the SPD where they do not 
alter the intent of the SPD prior to its publication.

Report Title SPECIALIST HOUSING SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT 

Appendices - 2

103

Agenda Item 9



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19

3. Issues and Choices

3.1 Report Background

3.1.1 Section 5 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out one of 
the key aims of the Government which is to significantly boost the supply of 
homes and reflect in planning policy the assessed need for those requiring 
affordable housing, the needs of older people and people with disabilities.  

3.1.2 The draft submission Northampton Local Plan Part 2 sets out the housing 
requirements for Northampton to 2029 with policy 13 providing specific 
guidelines on the type, tenure and mix of housing needed. The policy also 
supports the delivery of specialist and accessible housing and sets out the 
necessary requirements for wheelchair user dwellings. 

3.1.3 The West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (WNJCS), adopted in 2014, 
also contains policies relating to housing. Policy H1 in particular stipulates that 
new housing across West Northamptonshire will provide for a mix of house 
types, sizes and tenures to cater for different accommodation needs including 
the needs of older people and vulnerable groups. The WNJCS also sets out a 
requirement of 35% affordable housing on developments of 15 or more 
dwellings.

3.1.4 The Specialist Housing SPD provides further evidence on the need, 
justification for and implementation of specialist housing delivery. Once 
adopted the Specialist Housing SPD would be a material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications.

3.2 Issues

3.2.1 The main issues related to the Specialist Housing SPD were raised in a report 
to Cabinet on 24 July 2019. Those issues are not repeated here. 

3.2.2 As agreed at Cabinet on 24 July 2019, a consultation was held for 8 weeks 
between 8 August and 3 October 2019. The consultation was open to 
statutory consultees, stakeholders and members of the public who could view 
and make comments on the draft Specialist Housing SPD. 

3.2.3 Three responses to the consultation were received: one relating to services for 
people with disabilities, one confirming no comments and a further relating to 
security measures in specialist housing developments. As such, an 
amendment to the Specialist Housing SPD has been made reflecting the need 
for developers to demonstrate compliance with high levels of security so that 
vulnerable residents feel safe in their homes. 

3.2.4 A further amendment has been made relating to the revision of Building 
Regulation specification for ‘age restricted / age exclusive independent 
accommodation’. The amendment allows the above type of specialist housing 

104



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19

to be built to Category M4(1) (Visitable dwellings) standards; allowing 
developers some flexibility when delivering this type of housing.

3.2.5 A number of other small non-material amendments have been made which do 
not alter the principle of specialist housing delivery. 

3.3 Choices (Options)

Option 1: Agree to the recommendation
3.3.1 If Cabinet approves the adoption of the Specialist Housing SPD the Council 

will be able to use the evidence contained within the SPD to help guide 
development of specialist housing.

3.3.2 The benefit of having a Specialist Housing SPD in place is that it provides the 
principles and justifications for delivering specialist housing for both 
developers and Northampton Borough Council’s Development Management 
team. The SPD provides all relevant data and requirements for delivery in one 
place, making the need for specialist housing transparent.

Option 2: Do not agree the recommendation
3.3.3 If Cabinet does not approve the adoption of the Specialist Housing SPD, it will 

be much harder for the Council to guide the provision of Specialist Housing in 
Northampton and the amount and quality of provision may, as a consequence, 
be lower.

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1 Policy

4.1.1 The draft Specialist Housing SPD does not introduce any new planning 
policies and therefore the Local Development Scheme will not need to be 
altered. The SPD will relate to existing policies H1 (Housing density and mix 
and type of dwellings) and H2 (Affordable housing) of the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy, and to policy 13 (Type and mix of 
housing) of the Submission Draft Northampton Local Plan Part 2.

4.2 Resources and Risk

4.2.1 Sufficient resources have been incorporated into the budget for 2019/20 to 
fund the remaining stages of the SPD preparation. 

4.3 Legal

4.3.1 Supplementary Planning Documents provide additional guidance on matters 
covered by Development Plan Documents.  They are not part of the statutory 
Development Plan, unlike Development Plan Documents. However, 
Supplementary Planning Documents form part of the Local Development 

105



Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19

Framework, and will be a material consideration in determining planning 
applications.

4.3.2 The Specialist Housing SPD has been prepared in accordance with the 
provisions set out in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

4.4 Equality and Health

4.4.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment has recently been carried for the draft 
Northampton Local Plan Part 2 (LPP2). As this SPD is being prepared to 
provide guidance to those involved in the delivery of specialist housing and 
does not propose new policies in addition to those included within the draft 
LPP2, the Equalities Impact Assessment undertaken for the draft LPP2 is also 
relevant for this SPD. The Equalities Impact Assessment is available at: 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning_for_the_future/1746/  

4.5 Consultees (Internal and External)

4.5.1 Letters and emails were sent to 511 contacts on the Planning Policy consultee 
database including statutory consultees, councillors, neighbouring authorities 
and those with an interest in specialist housing.

4.6 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes
4.6.1 The Specialist Housing SPD will provide guidance to those involved in the 

delivery of specialist housing. Northampton’s Corporate Plan 2018-20 includes 
strategic priorities which seek to build stronger and more resilient 
communities, and support vulnerable people to achieve their full potential. 
Therefore delivering the right homes in the right locations is essential to meet 
the housing needs of Northampton’s residents.

4.7 Environmental Implications (including climate change issues)

4.7.1 The draft Specialist Housing SPD provides further evidence and guidance on 
the types of specialist housing needed in Northampton and does not introduce 
any new planning policies. Consequently this SPD does not discuss 
environmental implications (including climate change issues) as the policies 
contained in the emerging Northampton Local Plan Part 2 will be assessed on 
their climate change impact. 

4.7.2 Any new specialist housing development will need to adhere to policies in 
Development Plan Documents which include those on sustainable design and 
other environmental / climate change matters.

4.8Other Implications
4.8.1 There are no other implications arising directly from the proposals in this 

report.

106

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning_for_the_future/1746/


Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19

5. Background Papers

5.1The following documents are appended to this report:
 Northampton Borough Council Specialist Housing Supplementary Planning 

Document – November 2019
 Northampton Borough Council Specialist Housing Supplementary Planning 

Document – Consultation Statement – October 2019

5.2National Planning Policy Framework, February 2019, Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--
2 

West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy, December 2014, West 
Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit - 
http://www.westnorthamptonshirejpu.org/connect.ti/website/view?objectId=27374
24 

West Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit – Housing Market Evidence – 
September 2017 - 
http://www.westnorthamptonshirejpu.org/connect.ti/website/view?objectId=27598
56

NCC - Study of Housing and Support Needs of older people across 
Northamptonshire (March 2017) - 
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/adult-social-
care/policies/Documents/Study%20of%20Housing%20and%20Support%20Need
s%20of%20Older%20People%20Across%20Northamptonshire.pdf

Northamptonshire Transforming Care Partnership Board – Accommodation Plan 
(September 2018) - https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/adult-
social-
care/policies/Documents/Transforming%20Care%20Accommodation%20Plan.pdf 

Northamptonshire County Council JSNA - 
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/health/health-and-
wellbeing-board/northamptonshire-jsna/Pages/default.aspx 

6. Next Steps

6.1 The Specialist Housing Supplementary Planning Document is adopted and 
published on Northampton Borough Council’s website.

Peter Baguley 
Head of Planning 
Tel. 01604 838921

107

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
http://www.westnorthamptonshirejpu.org/connect.ti/website/view?objectId=2737424
http://www.westnorthamptonshirejpu.org/connect.ti/website/view?objectId=2737424
http://www.westnorthamptonshirejpu.org/connect.ti/website/view?objectId=2759856
http://www.westnorthamptonshirejpu.org/connect.ti/website/view?objectId=2759856
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/adult-social-care/policies/Documents/Study%20of%20Housing%20and%20Support%20Needs%20of%20Older%20People%20Across%20Northamptonshire.pdf
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/adult-social-care/policies/Documents/Study%20of%20Housing%20and%20Support%20Needs%20of%20Older%20People%20Across%20Northamptonshire.pdf
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/adult-social-care/policies/Documents/Study%20of%20Housing%20and%20Support%20Needs%20of%20Older%20People%20Across%20Northamptonshire.pdf
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/adult-social-care/policies/Documents/Transforming%20Care%20Accommodation%20Plan.pdf
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/adult-social-care/policies/Documents/Transforming%20Care%20Accommodation%20Plan.pdf
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/adult-social-care/policies/Documents/Transforming%20Care%20Accommodation%20Plan.pdf
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/health/health-and-wellbeing-board/northamptonshire-jsna/Pages/default.aspx
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/health/health-and-wellbeing-board/northamptonshire-jsna/Pages/default.aspx


Jmd/committees/cabinet report template/05/11/19 108



1

Northampton Borough Council 
Specialist Housing Supplementary 

Planning Document
November 2019

109



2

Contents

Chapter Sub-chapter Page number
1 Introduction Aims 4

Definitions of Specialist Housing 5

2 Policy Context – 
National Policy 

National Planning Policy 
Framework

6

National Planning Practice 
Guidance

6

The Town and Country Planning 
(Use Classes) Order 1987 (As 
Amended) 

8

Other Relevant Legislation and 
Regulations 

8

Policy Context – 
Local Policy 

West Northamptonshire Joint Core 
Strategy (2014) 

9

Northampton Draft Local Plan Part 
2 (April 2019) 

9

Northampton Local Plan Saved 
Policies (1997) 

10

Northampton Neighbourhood 
Plans

10

3 Understanding 
the demand for 
Specialist 
Housing

Population forecasting 12

Population forecasting for older 
people

12

Population forecasting for disabled 
people 

13

Population forecasting for People 
with Dementia

14

4 Types of 
specialist housing

15

5 Specialist 
housing need in 
numbers 

Wheelchair User Housing Need 17

Specialist Housing Need for older 
people

18

Accessible and Adaptable Housing 
Need

19

Specialist Housing Need in West 
Northamptonshire

20

Specialist Housing Need for 
disabled people (Learning)

21

110



3

Dementia housing / villages 21

6 Delivering 
Specialist 
Housing 

Which developments can provide 
specialist housing? 

22

7 Building 
Standards for 
different types of 
Specialist 
Housing

Building Regulations – Approved 
Document M

24

8 Annex 1 Criteria for site selection, building 
and service design

26

9 Annex 2 Legislation 29

10 Annex 3 At a glance: Number of Specialist 
Homes needed 

30

List of figures and tables

Table / Fig 
number 

Title Page number

Fig 1 Projected population of 55+ age groups in 
Northampton 2016 - 2029

13

Fig 2 Projected adults with disabilities in Northampton 
2014 – 2030  

14

Table 1 Types of specialist housing for people with 
moderate or severe learning disabilities

16

Table 2 Modelled need for wheelchair user housing 17
Table 3 Number of wheelchair accessible homes 

required in Northampton 2016-2029 based on 
Policy 13 of Northampton Draft Local Plan Part 2 

18

Fig 3 Older persons accommodation supply gap in 
Northampton

19

Table 4 Specialist Housing and care bed need in 
Northampton to 2030

19

Table 5 Number of accessible and adaptable homes 
required in Northampton 2016-2029

20

Table 6 Specialist housing and care bed need in West 
Northamptonshire to 2039

21

Table 7 Specialist housing and care bed supply gap in 
West Northamptonshire to 2039

21

Table 8 Number and type of units required for people 
with moderate and severe learning disabilities

21

Table 9 Summary of requirements set out in Building 
Regulations Approved Document M

24

Table 10 Types and specification of specialist housing for 
older people

25

111



4

Introduction

1. This Specialist Housing Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been 
prepared to provide guidance to planning applicants and those involved in the 
delivery of specialist housing. It expands upon the policies set out in the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (WNJCS) and the emerging 
Northampton Local Plan Part 2 (LPP2).

2. It has been prepared in accordance with the provisions set out in the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and is a material consideration 
in the determination of planning applications.

Aims

3. It has been recognised that provision of specialist housing that is more 
accessible in design can prevent falls and other causes of ill health; all of 
which contribute to potential savings to the National Health Service1. 

4. Alongside this, delivering the right homes in the right locations is essential to 
meeting the housing needs of Northampton’s residents. This SPD therefore 
supports Northampton Borough Council’s Corporate Plan strategic priorities of 
delivering resilient communities as well as supporting vulnerable people to 
achieve their full potential. This includes creating communities that are 
inclusive and support older people and disabled people, allowing them to live 
independently and safely in their own home for as long as possible.

5. This document will add further detail to the policies in the Development Plan 
for Northampton and provide guidance to applicants and developers to enable 
delivery of varying types of specialist housing in the right locations. The 
Development Plan for Northampton consists of the West Northamptonshire 
Joint Core Strategy (WNJCS), the Northampton Central Area Action Plan 
(CAAP) and saved policies within the Local Plan (1997).   Additionally, any 
made Neighbourhood Plans also form part of the Development Plan and 
these are detailed later in the document. The emerging Northampton Local 
Plan (Part 2) (LPP2), when adopted, will replace all the remaining policies 
from the Local Plan (1997) and update the policies of the Northampton CAAP. 

6. Critically, this Specialist Housing SPD also provides evidence of the 
population in need of specialist housing and from this calculated the number 
of specialist homes required in Northampton. .

7. The guidance contained within this SPD is appropriate to all specialist housing 
development as defined below and relates to schemes of 1 dwelling or above. 
Specialist housing can take the form of homes that are one or multiple storey 
height buildings, and which are either individual homes or homes within a 
flatted development. These developments can fall within either Use Class C2 

1 https://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/Research_evaluation/PSSRUsummary.pdf 

112

https://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/Research_evaluation/PSSRUsummary.pdf


5

or C3. Specialist housing provided in the form of a purpose built complex (i.e. 
a care home) falls within Use Class C2. More detail can be found in 
paragraph 24 of this document.

8. The Council carried out an extensive Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the 
Northampton LPP2 and this SPD provides detailed guidance to support the 
delivery of policies within that Plan; it does not set new policy. Therefore, it 
has been concluded that a specific SA of this Specialist Housing SPD is not 
required. The SA for the Northampton LPP2 can be found here: 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning_for_the_future/1746/  

9. An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) was undertaken to assess the issues 
raised in the Specialist Housing SPD which can be found here 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning-for-the-
future/2468/draft-supplementary-planning-documents-consultation-august---
october-2019 . This EqIA is supplementary to the EqIA prepared for the draft 
Northampton LPP2, which is also relevant for this SPD. The Northampton 
LPP2 EQiA is available at: 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning_for_the_future/1746/ 

Definitions of Specialist Housing

10.There are varying types of specialist housing and this document provides 
guidance on housing for older people and disabled people (both physical and 
learning disabilities). It does not provide guidance or assess specialist 
housing need for other vulnerable groups.

11.Housing for older people can be split into the following categories:
 Age restricted / age exclusive independent accommodation – usually 

restricted to people above 55 years of age with no additional facilities 
or services.

 Specialist Housing for older people:
i. Retirement housing – housing for older people with some 

additional facilities
ii. Supported housing – housing for older people with a greater 

range of facilities and with support and care available
iii. Retirement villages – larger scale clusters of accommodation 

with a central hub providing a large range of facilities – i.e. Extra 
Care Housing

 Residential and nursing homes – these are not considered specialist 
housing but provide care and/or nursing.

12.Housing requirements for disabled people can sometimes share the same 
characteristics as housing for older people and in some cases can be 
provided for together, for example, in Extra Care Housing schemes. The 
models of housing referred to in this document include:

 Purpose built for complex needs
 Supported living 
 Extra Care Housing units for learning disabilities 

113

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning_for_the_future/1746/
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning-for-the-future/2468/draft-supplementary-planning-documents-consultation-august---october-2019
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning-for-the-future/2468/draft-supplementary-planning-documents-consultation-august---october-2019
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning-for-the-future/2468/draft-supplementary-planning-documents-consultation-august---october-2019
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200205/planning_for_the_future/1746/


6

Policy context

National Policy 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

13.Section 5 of the NPPF sets out one of the key aims of the Government, which 
is to significantly boost the supply of homes. Paragraph 59 of the NPPF 
expects that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements are 
addressed. 

14.Paragraph 61 goes onto state that the size, type and tenure of housing 
needed for different groups within the community should be assessed and 
reflected in planning policies including, but not limited to, those who require 
affordable housing, older people, and people with disabilities.

15.Whilst this Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is intended primarily to 
provide guidance for older peoples’ accommodation and for housing for those 
with disabilities, it is also relevant to planning applications related to housing 
for the care of younger people who are in need of specialist accommodation 
similar to that needed by older people to meet their medical needs. 

16.With respect to older people and people with disabilities, these groups are 
defined in the NPPF2 in the following way: 

 Older People – People over or approaching retirement age, including 
the active, newly retired through to the very frail elderly; and whose 
housing needs can encompass accessible, adaptable general needs 
housing through to the full range of retirement and specialised housing 
for those with support or care needs.

 People with disabilities – People have a disability if they have a 
physical or mental impairment, and that impairment has a substantial 
and long-term adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-
day activities. These persons include, but are not limited to, people with 
ambulatory difficulties, blindness, learning difficulties, autism and mental 
health needs.

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

17.Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) goes into further detail on the planning 
matters raised within the NPPF. A new NPPF was published in February 2019 
and subsequently, revised PPG has been published in relation to specialist 
housing.  The most recent changes to the PPG were published on 26 June 
2019.

2 NPPF Glossary 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779764/NPPF
_Feb_2019_web.pdf 

114

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779764/NPPF_Feb_2019_web.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779764/NPPF_Feb_2019_web.pdf


7

Housing for Older People

18.Paragraph 001 of the PPG3 outlines why the need to provide housing for older 
people is critical due the proportion of older people in the population 
increasing and that provision of accommodation to suit changing needs can 
help people live independently for longer and help reduce costs to social and 
health systems. 

19.The PPG provides guidance on how to quantify these needs and it is 
expected that authorities and their partners will utilise census data on 
population and forecasting from the Office of National Statistics (ONS). The 
guidance also states that policy making authorities will need to consider the 
size, location and quality of dwellings with the ultimate aim of allowing people 
to live in their own homes for as long as possible. 

20.The guidance discusses tenure and type of specialist accommodation and 
that evidence for need can be gathered through toolkits and other local 
sources such as that provided by Joint Strategic Needs Assessments 
undertaken by Local Authorities. The assessment of need can also set out the 
level of need for residential institutions such as care homes (C2) as well as 
other types of housing such as sheltered or extra care. 

21.The PPG also directs that plan making authorities can provide indicative 
figures or a range of numbers of units for specialist housing for older people 
needed across the plan area throughout the plan period4. The provision of this 
housing can also be monitored through Authority Monitoring Reports.

Housing for disabled people

22.Paragraph 0025 of the PPG provides guidance on housing for disabled people 
and highlights that different disabilities generate a range of housing 
requirements that can change over time. Again, provision of housing for 
disabled people is crucial to ensuring those people live safe and independent 
lives. Specifically, the guidance also highlights that an aging population will 
see the numbers of disabled people continuing to increase.

23.The key point to consider when forecasting housing need for disabled people 
is that there is no one source of information about disabled people who 
require adaptations in the home, either now or in the future. Information 
sources include Census data as well as information from the Department for 
Work and Pensions on the numbers of benefit claimants. The PPG is explicit 
that, if necessary, policy-making authorities can engage with partners to better 
understand their housing requirements.

3 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-for-older-and-disabled-people - 001 Reference ID: 63-001-20190626
4 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-for-older-and-disabled-people - 006 Reference ID: 63-006-20190626
5 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-for-older-and-disabled-people - 002 Reference ID: 63-002-20190626 

115

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-for-older-and-disabled-people
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-for-older-and-disabled-people
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-for-older-and-disabled-people


8

24.This document utilises a variety of data sources and evidence to provide 
guidance on the quantity and type of specialist housing required in 
Northampton, including evidence produced by Northampton Borough 
Council’s partners. 

The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (As Amended)

25.The Use Class Order puts uses of land and buildings into various categories 
known as ‘Use Classes’. Specialist Housing can fall within the following 
classes:

 C2 Residential Institutions 
- Use for the provision of residential accommodation and care to people in 

need of care (other than a use within class C3 (dwelling houses)).
- Use as a hospital or nursing home
- Use as a residential school, college or training centre

 C3 Dwelling Houses 
Use as a dwellinghouse (whether or not as a sole or main residence) – 

a) A single person or by people to be regarded as forming a single 
household;

b) Not more than six residents living together as a single household 
where care is provided for residents; or

c) Not more than six residents living together as a single household 
where no care is provided to residents (other than a use within Class 
C4).

26.For the purposes of Class C3 (a) “single household” shall be construed in 
accordance with section 258 of the Housing Act 2004(a).

27.The Use Class Order defines care as: “care” means personal care for people 
in need of such care by reason of old age, disablement, past or present 
dependence on alcohol or drugs or past or present mental disorder, and in 
class C2 also includes the personal care of children and medical care and 
treatment. For the purposes of this document a care or nursing home for older 
people or people with a disability is expected to fall within Use Class C2.

28.With regards to schemes such as retirement housing/villages or supported 
housing, these can fall within Use Class C2 or C3 depending on factors such 
as availability of care, access to properties and other services and facilities on 
site. Planning Practice Guidance states that it is for the local planning 
authority to consider into which class a particular development may fall6.

29.As per Northampton Borough Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Charging Schedule, Use Class C3 is CIL liable.

Other Relevant Legislation and Regulations

6 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-for-older-and-disabled-people - 014: 63-014-20190626

116

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-for-older-and-disabled-people


9

30.When considering applications and delivery of specialist housing regard 
should also be made to other legislation such the Care Act (2015), the Health 
and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014, and the 
Equality Act (2010). Further information can be found in Annex 2 to this SPD.

Local Policy 

West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (2014) 

31.The West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (WNJCS) focuses on the 
long term spatial vision for West Northamptonshire7 to 2029. It seeks to 
deliver market and affordable housing that meets the requirements and 
aspirations of existing and future residents of different demographic groups 
and their needs over the plan period. Housing development in Northampton is 
guided by the following policies in the WNJCS:

 H1 – Housing density and mix and type of dwellings – Across West 
Northamptonshire new housing development will provide for a mix of 
house types, sizes and tenures to cater for different accommodation 
needs including the needs of older people and vulnerable groups.

 H2 – Affordable housing – Affordable housing will be provided as a 
proportion of the total number of dwellings to be delivered on individual 
sites. In the Northampton Related Development Area 35% of new 
dwellings should be affordable.

 H4 – Sustainable housing – Residential development must be designed 
to provide accommodation that meets the requirements of the lifetime 
homes standard subject to the assessment of viability on a site by site 
basis. New housing must also meet the sustainable development 
principles and standards set out in policies S10 (Sustainable 
development principles) and S11 (Low carbon and renewable energy) in 
the spatial strategy.

32.Lifetime Homes is no longer the standard for accessible and specialist housing 
design and Building Regulations Approved Document M (2015 and 2016) 
should now be referred to. This is reflected in the emerging Northampton Local 
Plan Part 2 (LPP2) and is discussed further on in the document. 

Northampton Draft Local Plan Part 2 (April 2019)

33.The draft LPP2 contains policies to guide development at the local level and 
builds on the housing policies in the WNJCS. Policy 13 (Type and Mix of 
Housing) sets out the mix of market and affordable housing required in 
Northampton as well as details on self-build and custom build housing , 
specialist accommodation and accessible housing. Specifically the policy 
details the following:

7 West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy contains policies for Northampton Borough, Daventry District and South 
Northamptonshire Councils

117



10

 Specialist Housing - The Council will support schemes that provide 
specialist accommodation that promotes independent living. Such 
schemes are particularly supported in areas with easy access to 
services and facilities, including public transport and retail and service 
centres. Proposals should be designed in a manner which will meet the 
specialised nature and care requirements of prospective occupiers.

 Accessible Housing - To meet the needs of the Borough’s residents 
and to deliver dwellings capable of meeting their occupants’ changing 
circumstances over their lifetime, an appropriate proportion of 
residential development must be designed to meet the requirements of 
M4(2) or its successor standard.

34.Policy 13 also requires a proportion of M4(3): Category 3 wheelchair user 
dwellings8, specifically that 4% of all new market dwellings and 8% of 
affordable dwellings should be constructed to M4(3) standards, or their 
successor. 

Northampton Local Plan Saved Policies (1997)

35.H16 – Housing for the elderly - Where any major residential development is 
considered appropriate in relation to its topography, existing or proposed 
community / medical / retail facilities and access to public transport, the 
council will negotiate the provision of purpose built housing suitable for the 
elderly at a scale reflecting the established local need for such provision.

36.H17 – Housing for people with disabilities – Within new residential 
developments and where there is an established local need, the council will 
encourage the provision of mobility housing, in the case of schemes with ten 
or more dwellings it is expected that such provision will be not less than 10% 
of the total number of dwellings, where practicable distributed evenly 
throughout the development.

37. It should be noted that the Northampton Local Plan Part 2, once adopted, will 
replace the Local Plan Saved Policies (1997). 

Northampton Neighbourhood Plans

38.Northampton Borough Council has 3 ‘made’ Neighbourhood Plans: Duston; 
Growing Together (Lumbertubs, Blackthorn, Goldings and Lings); and Spring 
Boroughs (area to east of railway station).

39.The Duston Neighbourhood Plan contains one policy specifically related to 
housing. Policy H3 (Meeting the needs of all sectors of the population) states 
that proposed housing developments in Duston will be supported where they 
include a range of house types … Housing developments will also be 

8 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-use-of-buildings-approved-document-m 

118

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-use-of-buildings-approved-document-m


11

expected to include an element of single level dwellings and to meet the 
needs of the elderly and people with disabilities. The Plan defines single level 
dwellings as flats or bungalows.

40.Growing Together, the Neighbourhood Plan for Lumbertubs, Blackthorn, 
Goldings and Lings does not contain any specific policies relating to specialist 
housing but policy H1 (Housing mix) does require residential developments to 
provide a mix of types of homes that reflect the latest assessment of local 
housing needs.

41.The Spring Boroughs Neighbourhood Plan contains no policies relating to 
specialist housing.

42.Two more Neighbourhood Plans are currently being progressed (Queens 
Park and Semilong & Trinity) and as yet do not contain any policies related to 
specialist housing. However, the Council will engage in the production of the 
neighbourhood plans to ensure that the specialist housing targets contained in 
this SPD are reflected in those plans.

119



12

Understanding the demand for Specialist Housing

43.To plan for specialist housing in Northampton, this document sets out the 
expected population growth and the subsequent, forecast housing need going 
forward to 2029/30. Understanding growth in specific age groups is explicitly 
important to understand as is the forecast number of people with disabilities. 
This section of the document therefore sets out the forecast populations of 
both cohorts.

Population Forecasting

44.The baseline data used for all forecasting models is from the Office of 
National Statistics (ONS) and to determine the need for specialist housing this 
document draws on work and studies completed by: 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) reports from 
Northamptonshire County Council (NCC);

 West Northamptonshire Housing Market Evidence (2017);
 Study of Housing and Support Needs of Older People across 

Northamptonshire (2017) which utilises Sheffield Hallam University’s 
HOPSR (Housing for Older People Supply Recommendations), 
POPPI9 and PANSI10 data and subsequent forecasting by Northampton 
County Council’s Business Intelligence and Performance Improvement 
Units (most recent from May 2019); and 

 Northamptonshire Transforming Care Partnership Board 
Accommodation Plan 2018 – 201911 

Population forecasting for Older People

45.Northamptonshire County Council’s most recent Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA): Demography (2017)12 identifies that Northampton’s 
population has grown by 28.4% in the last 30 years to 2016. The most recent 
ONS data shows that moving forward the population of Northampton is 
projected to grow by 9.6% to 2029 from a 2016 baseline.

46.The most recent ONS population projections show an expected increase of 
30.9% in the over 55 age groups in Northampton to 2029 which aligns with a 
national increase in the population of older people. Figure 1 shows the 
projected populations of 55+ age groups in Northampton to 2029.

9 https://www.poppi.org.uk/ - Projecting Older People Population Information
10 https://www.pansi.org.uk/ - Projecting Adult Needs and Service Information
11 https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/adult-social-
care/policies/Documents/Transforming%20Care%20Accommodation%20Plan.pdf 
12 NCC JSNA July 2017 - https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/health/health-and-wellbeing-
board/northamptonshire-jsna/Pages/default.aspx#GlossaryGroupLifestyle 

120

https://www.poppi.org.uk/
https://www.pansi.org.uk/
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/adult-social-care/policies/Documents/Transforming%20Care%20Accommodation%20Plan.pdf
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/adult-social-care/policies/Documents/Transforming%20Care%20Accommodation%20Plan.pdf
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/health/health-and-wellbeing-board/northamptonshire-jsna/Pages/default.aspx#GlossaryGroupLifestyle
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/health/health-and-wellbeing-board/northamptonshire-jsna/Pages/default.aspx#GlossaryGroupLifestyle


13

Figure 1: Projected population of 55+ age groups in Northampton 2016-2029

12
,5

00

10
,7

00

10
,9

00

7,
90

0

5,
70

0

4,
30

0

2,
70

0

1,
60

0

14
,8

00

14
,2

00

12
,7

00

10
,0

00

8,
60

0

7,
30

0

3,
90

0

2,
20

0

5 5 - 5 9 6 0 - 6 4 6 5 - 6 9 7 0 - 7 4 7 5 - 7 9 8 0 - 8 4 8 5 - 8 9 9 0 +

2016 2029

AGE GROUP

PO
PU

LA
TI

O
N

 IN
 1

,0
00

S

Source: ONS population projections 2016-based13

Population forecasting for People with Disabilities 

47.The Northamptonshire JSNA: Adults with Disabilities (2017)14 identifies that 
there are approximately 33,000 adults with a disability in Northampton. Of 
those adults 88% have a physical disability and 12% have a learning 
disability. The JSNA provides data on people with learning and physical 
disabilities within each age group, including the expected changes within 
those age groups between 2014 and 2030. 

48. In summary, in Northampton half of those with a physical disability are aged 
65 and over, and over the next 10 to 15 years, residents with disabilities aged 
55 and above will gradually increase, with sharp increases expected in those 
aged 75 and above. Therefore, in some cases, specialist housing need may 
arise from people who fall into both older people and people with a disability 
categories. The numbers of Northampton residents with physical disabilities 
aged 18-54 has been forecast to remain similar across the upcoming 10-15 
years. Details are shown in Figure 2 below.

13https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets
/localauthoritiesinenglandtable2 
14 https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/health/health-and-wellbeing-board/northamptonshire-
jsna/Pages/adults-with-disabilities-jsna.aspx 

121

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglandtable2
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglandtable2
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/health/health-and-wellbeing-board/northamptonshire-jsna/Pages/adults-with-disabilities-jsna.aspx
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/health/health-and-wellbeing-board/northamptonshire-jsna/Pages/adults-with-disabilities-jsna.aspx


14

Figure 2:  Projected adults with disabilities in Northampton 2014 - 2030

Source: Northamptonshire JSNA: Adults with Disabilities

Population forecasting for People with Dementia

49.Northamptonshire County Council’s Housing and Support Needs study draws 
on external evidence provided the Alzheimers Society in terms of population 
expected to have dementia. The study reports a 40% increase in people with 
dementia by 2025 with a 157% increase by 2051 suggested as a worst case 
scenario. Forecasting undertaken by the Study indicates that 3,177 people 
are expected to have dementia in Northampton by 2025.

122



15

Types of Specialist Housing 

50.National Planning Practice Guidance provides details on the indicative types 
of specialist housing for older people15. This SPD has drawn on the definitions 
of The Study of Housing and Support Needs of Older People Across 
Northamptonshire (March 2017)16 which was produced to provide evidence 
and a toolkit to identify demand and supply for specialist housing and care 
across the county. The study breaks down the types of housing for older 
people and defines the following:

 Age restricted / age exclusive independent accommodation (restricted 
to people above a specified age, usually 55-60 years old) with no 
additional facilities or services.

 Specialist Housing for older people:
i. Retirement Housing – housing for older people with some 

additional facilities
ii. Supported Housing – housing for older people with a greater 

range of facilities and with support and care available
iii. Retirement villages – larger scale clusters of accommodation 

with a central hub providing a range of facilities. 
 Residential and nursing homes – institutional establishments which are 

not specialist housing which provide accommodation, care and/or 
nursing.

51.Northamptonshire County Council’s Housing and Support Needs study 
recognises that 56% of all care home beds are currently occupied by people 
with dementia and memory problems. As such the demand for care home 
beds could be reduced by provision of dementia villages.

52.Specialist Housing that falls into the definitions above are required to be built 
to either Building Regulations Approved Document M Category M4(2) 
Category 2: Accessible and adaptable dwellings or M4(3) Category 3: 
wheelchair user dwellings.

53.Housing requirements for people with physical and learning disabilities can 
sometimes share the same characteristics as housing for older people and in 
some cases can be provided for together, for example, in Extra Care Housing 
schemes. Generally, the following models of specialist housing have been 
defined by the Northamptonshire Transforming Care Partnership Board:

 Purpose built for complex needs
 Supported living 
 Extra Care Housing units for people with disabilities 

54.Supported living schemes for people with learning disabilities can be broken 
down into further categories and are set out in Table 1 below.

15 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-for-older-and-disabled-people - 010 Reference ID: 63-010-20190626 
16 https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/adult-social-
care/policies/Documents/Study%20of%20Housing%20and%20Support%20Needs%20of%20Older%20People%2
0Across%20Northamptonshire.pdf 

123

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-for-older-and-disabled-people
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/adult-social-care/policies/Documents/Study%20of%20Housing%20and%20Support%20Needs%20of%20Older%20People%20Across%20Northamptonshire.pdf
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/adult-social-care/policies/Documents/Study%20of%20Housing%20and%20Support%20Needs%20of%20Older%20People%20Across%20Northamptonshire.pdf
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/adult-social-care/policies/Documents/Study%20of%20Housing%20and%20Support%20Needs%20of%20Older%20People%20Across%20Northamptonshire.pdf


16

Table 1: Types of specialist housing for people with moderate or severe learning disabilities
Type of Accommodation Description
Purpose built specialist 
accommodation

Groups living together in mainly self-contained units with their own 
front door. Communal space and staff offices are required, as are 
robust fixtures and fittings.

Core and Cluster 
accommodation

This consists of ‘core’ purpose built accommodation and existing 
‘cluster’ accommodation allowing for economies of scale and 
residents to share recreational, leisure and transport services.

Dispersed units Ordinary independent accommodation, clustered in a similar 
geographical area to provide shared care. This type of 
accommodation could involve new build units on new developments 
and/or existing properties.

Single site housing (for a 
group)

Accommodation on a single site which could either be a block of self-
contained units or shared housing for a group of people

Source: Northamptonshire Transforming Care Partnership Board Accommodation Plan 2018 - 2023

124



17

Specialist Housing Need in Numbers

55.Planning Practice Guidance is clear that where an identified need exists, 
plans are expected to make use of the optional technical housing standards to 
help bring forward an adequate supply of accessible housing. Policies for 
housing can set out the proportion of new housing that will be delivered to the 
following standards:

 M4(1) Category 1: Visitable dwellings (the minimum standard that 
applies where no planning condition is given unless a plan sets a 
higher minimum requirement)

 M4(2) Category 2: Accessible and adaptable dwellings
 M4(3) Category 3: Wheelchair user dwellings

56.The following section provides the evidence for need and the number of 
homes expected to be built to the above standards. More details on the actual 
standards can be found in Table 9 of this document.

Wheelchair User Housing Need

57.To provide evidence on the objectively assessed need for housing in 
Northampton, Daventry and South Northamptonshire, the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit commissioned Opinion Research 
Services to produce the West Northamptonshire Housing Market Evidence 
Report17 (HME). The report was published in September 2017.

58.The HME identified that the population of West Northamptonshire 
(Daventry, South Northamptonshire and Northampton) was projected to 
increase by around 75,500 persons over the 18-year period 2011-29 with half 
of the overall growth in the 65+ age group. 

59.Due to the increase in population of older people and the related number of 
households, the HME provides a modelled need figure for wheelchair user 
housing18. For Northampton this is 840 units over the planning period from 
2016 – 2029. This need is identified for both households aged under 75 and 
for those aged 75+ (split shown in Table 2 below). 

Table 2: Modelled need for wheelchair user housing 
Households aged under 
75

Households aged 75+Modelled Need for 
Wheelchair 
Adapted Housing 2016 2029 Net 

Change 
2016-
2029

2016 2029 Net 
change 
2016-
2029 

Overall 
change 
2016 – 
29 

% of OAN

Housing type
Market housing 1170 1340 170 580 900 330 490 3.71%
Affordable housing 840 1010 170 310 490 180 350 7.84%
All households 2,020 2,360 340 890 1390 500 840 4.75%

Source: West Northamptonshire Joint Planning Unit, Housing Market Evidence 2017

17 http://www.westnorthamptonshirejpu.org/connect.ti/website/view?objectId=2759856 
18 Category 3, Part M, Building Regulations - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/540330/BR_PDF_AD_M1_2015_w
ith_2016_amendments_V3.pdf 

125

http://www.westnorthamptonshirejpu.org/connect.ti/website/view?objectId=2759856
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/540330/BR_PDF_AD_M1_2015_with_2016_amendments_V3.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/540330/BR_PDF_AD_M1_2015_with_2016_amendments_V3.pdf


18

60.Based on the HME evidence, Policy 13 of the emerging Northampton LPP2 
sets out a requirement of 4% of market housing and 8% of affordable housing 
to be constructed to M4(3) standards (wheelchair user) or their successor. 
Calculated on the number of homes required in the emerging Local Plan19, 
964 wheelchair accessible homes are required over the plan period 2016 – 
2029. The annual amounts are shown in Table 3 below.

Table 3: Number of wheelchair accessible homes required in Northampton 2016-2029 based on 
Policy 13 of Northampton Draft Local Plan Part 2

Number of homes 
required in 
Northampton 
between 2016 -
2029

Percentage of 
homes required to 
be wheelchair 
accessible 

Number of homes 
required to be 
wheelchair 
accessible homes

Number of 
wheelchair 
accessible 
homes 
required per 
annum

Number of market 
homes required in 
Northampton 
between 2016-2029

12,500 4% 500 38

Number of 
affordable homes 
required in 
Northampton 
between 2016-2029

5,800 8% 464 36

Total 18,300 964 74
Source: Draft Northampton Local Plan Part 2 – Policy 13

Specialist Housing Need for Older People

61.The most recent figures on specialist housing supply (May 2019) associated 
with the Needs Study look ahead to 2039. The figures are provided by 
Northamptonshire County Council’s Business Intelligence and Performance 
Improvement (BIPI) model which is based on the Sheffield Hallam HOPSR 
model20. 

62. In Northampton there is an oversupply of total (both of specialist housing and 
care beds combined) accommodation between the years 2017 and 2023. 
However, there is a deficit of care beds from 2019 onwards. From 2023 

19 Housing split derived from Table 8 of the Draft Northampton LPP2
20The HOP SR model (Housing for Older People Supply Recommendations) is a tool that helps local authorities understand 
requirements for older people housing in their area. HOP SR has been created by the Centre for Regional and Economic Social 
Research at Sheffield Hallam University. 

126



19

Specialist Housing and Care Beds are both in deficit until the end of the 
forecast period to 2039. This is shown in Fig 3.

Fig 3: Older persons accommodation supply gap in Northampton

Source: Northamptonshire County Council’s Business Intelligence and Performance Improvement 
(BIPI) unit data (May 2019).

63.The Sheffield Hallam HOPSR data goes into further detail and identifies the 
current supply of specialist housing, the recommended supply and 
recommended future supply for Northampton to 2030. Table 4 replicates that 
data and calculates the units / beds per annum needed to the end of the plan 
period (over 1 years from 2019 to 2030). 

Table 4: Specialist housing and care bed need in Northampton to 2030
Current 
supply

Recommended 
supply

Recommended 
supply 2025

Recommended 
supply 2030

Difference 
between 
current 
supply to 
2030

Units per 
annum 
(2019-
2030)

Specialist 
Housing

4,594 3,487 4,900 5,655 1,061 76

Care Beds 1,538 1,505 2,115 2,440 902 64
TOTALS 6,132 4,992 7,015 8,095 1,963 140

Source: Housing for Older People Supply Recommendations (HOPSR) – extracted 28 May 2019

Accessible and Adaptable housing Need

64.Planning Practice Guidance published in June 2019 states that accessible 
and adaptable housing enables people to live more independently, while also 
saving on health and social costs in the future. 

127



20

65.The Housing Market Evidence (HME) produced for West Northamptonshire 
identifies that almost a third of households are likely to have representatives 
aged 65 or over21. Given this context, as well as considering the need for 
disabled people, the evidence supports the need for at least 50% of all 
dwellings to meet M4(2) Category 2 (accessible and adaptable) building 
regulations requirements, providing that this does not compromise viability. 
This will ensure that, where necessary, homes can be easily adapted for a 
wheelchair user, allowing people to stay in their own homes for longer.

66.For Northampton this means that 8,186 of homes would need to be built to 
M4(2): Category 2 standards over the plan period or 630 dwellings per annum 
as shown in Table 5 below. The accessible and adaptable dwellings would be 
additional to the 74 dwellings per annum that are required to be built to M4(3): 
Category 3 standards outlined in Table 2.

Table 5: Number of accessible and adaptable homes required in Northampton 2016-2029
Number of 
homes 
required in 
Northampton 
between 2016 
-2029

50% of 
homes 
required to 
be 
accessible 
and 
adaptable

Number of 
homes required 
to be wheelchair 
accessible 
homes over the 
plan period 

Remaining 
number of 
accessible and 
adaptable homes 
required over the 
plan period

Number of 
homes 
required to be 
accessible and 
adaptable per 
annum

Number of 
market 
homes 
required in 
Northampton 
between 
2016-2029

12,500 6,250 500 (38) 5,750 442

Number of 
affordable 
homes 
required in 
Northampton 
between 
2016-2029

5,800 2,900 464 (36) 2,436 187

Total 18,300 9,150 964 8,186 630

Specialist Housing Need in West Northamptonshire

67.Moving forward Northampton Borough Council is expected to be a part of a 
new Unitary Authority with Daventry District Council and South 
Northamptonshire Council. Based on this assumption the County Council’s 
BIPI unit have provided forecasts for all 3 local authorities together.

68.The following Tables 6 and 7 look at the accommodation need and gap 
across the 3 local authorities in West Northamptonshire to 2039. 

21 http://www.westnorthamptonshirejpu.org/connect.ti/website/view?objectId=2759856 

128

http://www.westnorthamptonshirejpu.org/connect.ti/website/view?objectId=2759856


21

Table 6: Specialist housing and care bed need in West Northamptonshire to 2039
2019 2024 2029 2034 2039 2018-2039

Projected 
housing 

% increase

Specialist 
housing 

7,665 9,742 11,250 12,617 14,392 87.76%

Care beds 3,206 4,075 4,700 5,265 6,002 87.21%
Totals 10,871 13,817 15,950 17,882 20,394 87.60%

Source: Northamptonshire County Council BIPI (May 2019)

69.The total accommodation supply gap of older persons housing by 2029 
across all three local authorities in West Northamptonshire is 7,138 units 
(5,016 units of specialist housing and 2,122 care beds). This equates to a 
total need of 549 units per annum across West Northamptonshire to 2029 
(386 specialist housing units and 163 care beds) and is shown in Table 6 
below.

Table 7: Specialist housing and care bed supply gap in West Northamptonshire to 2039
2019 2024 2029 2034 2039 Gap 

increase
Specialist 
Housing 

-1,431 -3,508 -5,016 -6,383 -8,158 -6,727

Care beds -628 -1,497 -2,122 -2,687 -3,424 -2,796
TOTALS -2,059 -5,005 -7,138 -9,070 -11,582 -9,523

Source: Northamptonshire County Council BIPI (May 2019)

Specialist Housing Need for People with Disabilities (Learning) 

70.For people with moderate or severe learning disabilities the demand for 
accommodation with support arises from multiple sources including from care 
homes in and out of county, moving from living with elderly parents and form 
people transitioning to adult services. 

71.The Northamptonshire Transforming Care Partnership Board identifies that for 
Northampton 66 new units are required during the period from 2018 to 2023. 
The breakdown is shown in Table 8. Included in the table is the need also for 
Daventry and South Northamptonshire as in some cases it may be more 
beneficial to develop schemes that cross local authority borders.

Table 8: Number and type of units required for people with moderate and severe learning disabilities 
Future provision 
18/19 to 22/23

Purpose 
built for 
complex 
needs

Supported 
living 

Extra care 
housing 
units for LD

Total over 5 
years

Total per 
annum

Northampton 15 37 14 66 13
Daventry 5 24 2 31 6
South 
Northamptonshire

6 24 3 33 7

Total units 26 85 19 130 26
Source: Northamptonshire Transforming Care Partnership Board 

129



22

Dementia housing / villages

72.Currently there is no data indicating the exact need for specialist housing for 
people with dementia. However, the Study of Housing and Support Needs of 
Older People Across Northamptonshire states that, in principle, all forms of 
specialist housing for older people are capable of catering for people with 
early and mid-stage dementia.

73.Research is identifying ways in which Town Planning can benefit people with 
dementia and reduce health and social care costs.22 The Royal Town 
Planning Institute’s (RTPI) Practice Advice highlights key principles for 
planners to be aware of:

 Safe design
 Visual clues (e.g. to orientation and way-finding)
 Interior design
 Noise 
 Natural or stronger artificial light
 Outside space

74.Most recently PPG has also provided characteristics of a dementia friendly 
community which includes:

 Integration with the surrounding context
 Social spaces that link with the community
 Space standards that facilitate flexibility
 Enhanced natural light
 Priority for pedestrians in outdoor spaces

75.Northampton Borough Council will work with developers to bring forward 
specialist dementia housing in suitable locations.

Delivering Specialist Housing 

Which developments can provide specialist housing? 

Principle 1 – Specialist housing that is desirable, suitable and in the right 
locations
Delivery of attractive homes, suitable for older people and people with disabilities, 
in suitable locations will be encouraged. The location of specialist housing 
specifically designed to meet the needs of older people or people with disabilities 
should be appropriate in terms of access to facilities, services and public transport 
taking into account the mobility of the intended occupants and their needs.

22 https://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/2213533/dementia_and_town_planning_final.compressed.pdf 

130

https://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/2213533/dementia_and_town_planning_final.compressed.pdf


23

76.Policy 13 of the emerging Northampton Local Plan Part 2 sets out that 
Northampton Borough Council will support schemes that meet the 
requirements of a suitable mix and range of housing in terms of size, type and 
tenure as well as support schemes that provide specialist accommodation that 
promotes independent living.  

77. Identifying sites for such provision can be challenging, and it is therefore 
appropriate – where there is evidence of an identified unmet need in the local 
area, and where the location is appropriate in terms of access to facilities, 
services and public transport – for Northampton Borough Council to work with 
developers to ensure an appropriate mix is delivered, that provides for, or 
includes an element of, housing designed for older people or those with a 
disability, or that can be adapted in the longer term.

78. It is expected that specialist housing will be delivered primarily as part of a 
larger scheme where facilities and amenities are provided and/or are nearby. 
They can also come forward on windfall sites, employment and retail sites 
change of use to retirement housing / care homes or on Brownfield sites 
where criteria meets the suitability for specialist housing – i.e. in proximity to 
services and facilities.

79.Planning Practice Guidance23 (PPG) expects all parties to consider inclusive 
design from the outset of the development process so that environments can 
be accessed and used by everyone. As such this document refers to the 
Study of Housing and Support Needs of Older People in Northamptonshire 
which identifies criteria for Specialist Housing Schemes for older people. The 
full list can be found at Annex 1. It refers to distances to amenities, building 
design and ‘softer’ requirements such as the level of services and care that 
needs to be provided. Applicants are encouraged to contact development 
management and building control ahead of any applications for specialist 
housing so that locational context can be discussed.

80. In summary PPG sets out issues to consider:

 Ease and comfort of movement on foot and with mobility aids between 
homes, services and town centres;

 Proximity and links to public transport and local amenities;
 Parking spaces and setting down points in proximity to entrances;
 The positioning and visual contrast of street furniture and the design of 

approach routes to meet the needs of people with different needs, 
including wheelchair users, people who need to rest while they walk 
and people with visual impairments;

 Whether entrances to buildings are clearly identified, can be reached 
by a level or gently sloping approach and are well lit;

23 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-for-older-and-disabled-people - 017: 63-017-20190626

131

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-for-older-and-disabled-people


24

 The accessibility of public spaces including step free spaces and 
seating; and

 The availability of public toilets.

Building Standards for different types of Specialist Housing

Building Regulations – Approved Document M

81.The Government’s reform of Health and Adult Social Care is underpinned by 
a principle of sustaining people at home for as long as possible. This was 
reflected the Building Regulations 2010 Approved Document M (2015 edition 
incorporating 2016 amendments)24.

82.Document M is split into two parts consisting of Volume 1 which considers 
dwellings and Volume 2, buildings other than dwellings. Volume 1 classifies 
three categories of dwellings including:

I. M4(1) Category 1: Visitable dwellings
II. M4(2) Category 2: Accessible and adaptable dwellings

III. M4(3) Category 3: Wheelchair user dwellings

83.The following Table 9 provides a brief summary of the requirements for each 
category. 

Table 9: Summary of requirements set out in Building Regulations Approved Document M
Category Requirements 
Category 1 – Visitable 
Dwellings 

M4(1). Reasonable provision should be made for people to – 
a) Gain access to; and 
b) Use, the dwelling and its facilities

Category 2 – Accessible 
and adaptable dwellings 

M4(2)
1. Reasonable provision must be made for people to-

a) Gain access to ; and 
b) Use, the dwelling and its facilities, 

2. The provision made must be sufficient to-
a) Meet the needs of occupants with differing needs, including some 

older or disabled people; and 
b) To allow adaptation of the dwelling to meet the changing needs 

of occupants over time. 

Category 3 – Wheelchair 
user dwellings 

M4(3)
1. Reasonable provision must be made for people to-

a) Gain access to ; and 
b) Use, the dwelling and its facilities, 

2. The provision made must be sufficient to-
a) Allow simple adaptation of the dwelling to meet the needs of 

occupants who use wheelchairs; or

24 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/54
0330/BR_PDF_AD_M1_2015_with_2016_amendments_V3.pdf 

132

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/540330/BR_PDF_AD_M1_2015_with_2016_amendments_V3.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/540330/BR_PDF_AD_M1_2015_with_2016_amendments_V3.pdf


25

b) Meet the needs of occupants who use wheelchairs

Source: HM Government Access to and use of buildings Approved Document M

84.All new development should fall under at least one of the above categories 
with categories M4(2) and M4(3) being ‘optional requirements’ as defined by 
the Building Regulations. Developers should seek the advice of Northampton 
Building Control ahead of any planning application. 

85. In addition to Building Regulation layout requirements for specialist housing, 
developers should also demonstrate compliance with high levels of security. 
The council will advocate developments that demonstrate a layered approach 
to security which includes things such as robust perimeter treatments, security 
rated doors and windows, intruder alarms, access control measures, CCTV 
and lighting. These measures would provide a safe and secure environment 
for some of the most vulnerable members of society. 

Principle 2 – Enabling people to stay in their homes as their needs change
In accordance with policy 13 of the emerging Northampton Local Plan Part 2, 4% 
of all new market dwellings and 8% of affordable dwellings should be constructed 
to M4(3) standards, or their successor, to enable wheelchair accessibility. 

** Where applicable 50% of all new homes should be built to M4(2) 
accessible and adaptable standards where viability allows **

86.Northampton Borough Council requires specialist housing for older people to 
be built to the Building Regulation standards contained in Approved 
Document M. Specifically each type of housing should meet the requirements 
set out in Table 10 below.

Table 10: Types and specification of specialist housing for older people
Type of Older People 
Specialist Housing 

Use Class Building category 

Age restricted / age 
exclusive independent 
accommodation 

C3 M4(1): Category 1: Visitable 
dwellings, M4(2): Category 2 or  
M4(3): Category 3 

Retirement 
housing 

C3 M4(2): Category 2 or M4(3): Category 
3

Supported 
housing 

C3 and C2 M4(2): Category 2 or M4(3): Category 
3

Specialist housing for 
older people

Retirement 
villages

C3 and C2 M4(2): Category 2 or M4(3): Category 
3

Residential nursing 
homes 

C2 M4(3): Category 3

87.Requirements for specialist housing that is suitable for people with learning 
disabilities can vary (indicative requirements are in Table 1). Applicants 

133



26

should contact the NHS Nene Clinical Commissioning Group and 
Northampton Building Control ahead of submitting a scheme.

134



27

Annex 1: Criteria for site selection, building and service design

Site Minimum area of 0.2 to 0.6 hectares (ideally at least 0.5 ha). 
Retirement villages and some supported housing schemes will be 
much larger 

Level or with a slope of no more than 1:20* 

In a town centre, established community or phased development as 
an SUE becomes established 

Safe, level walking route to facilities and services. Within 400m of 
public transport route with regular service (at least half hourly) to 
town centre transport hub 

Services 
within 400m 
high priority

General store; ATM; doctor; pharmacy (or with an established 
delivery service to the area); access to public transport 

Desirable Hairdresser; day and cultural centres; places of worship; 
newsagent; public garden or park; post office or bank 

Optional Shopping centre; restaurants; café; allotments; bookshops; sport 
centres 

Building 
design

Meets HAPPI criteria: 
 Generous internal space standards 
 Plenty of natural light in the home and in circulation spaces
 Balconies and outdoor space, avoiding internal corridors and 

single-aspect flats 
 Adaptability and ‘care aware’ design which is ready for 

emerging telecare and tele-healthcare technologies 
 Circulation spaces that encourage interaction and avoid an 

‘institutional feel’ 
 Shared facilities and community ‘hubs’ where these are 

lacking in the neighbourhood 
 Plants, trees, and the natural environment 
 High levels of energy efficiency, with good ventilation to avoid 

overheating 
 Extra (external) storage for belongings and bicycles 
 Shared external areas such as ‘home zones’ that give priority 

to pedestrians. 

Additional features: 
 Mobility vehicle storage and charging area 
 Broadband available 
 Lifts to upper floors 
 Secure main entrance 

135



28

Person-
centred 
services 
(**Additional 
features of 
supported 
housing) 

 Access to an emergency alarm service or a regular wellbeing 
check (by phone, intercom or visit) 

 Needs-based support service to facilitate independent living 
e.g. assistance with literacy, budgeting, self-care, mental 
health. 

 Signposting or referral to specialist support agencies 
 Social integration - leisure activities, events and outings 

organised by residents or delivered by support provider or 
scheme manager 

 Games room and equipment (optional) 
 Onsite emergency response and personal care services 
 Restaurant providing at least one nutritionally balanced main 

meal per day which can be delivered to residents who are 
sick or recently discharged from hospital  

 Treatment room where physician, chiropodist, 
physiotherapist or other health professionals can visit and 
provide confidential advice 

 Onsite defibrillator 
 Organisation signed up to the NHICE End of Life Care for 

Adults Quality Standard 

Features of general housing desirable for older people
Type of 
home Apartment (with lift to first floor and above) or bungalow 

Within the 
home

 Meets Building Regulations Optional Access Standards 
Category M2 or M3 (standard to be decided locally based on 
evidence of requirements) 

 Access to open space – garden, balcony, courtyard 
 Generous space standards and flexible room layouts suited 

to the lifestyle of older people based on co-design work in 
DWELL report Designing for Downsizers: 
http://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/DWELL_DesigningWith
Downsizers.pdf  

Beyond the 
home

Located in areas with features of Lifetime Neighbourhoods e.g. 
pavement seating, well maintained paving, access to WCs 

Community Connected to local facilities but home is in an age-restricted 
development 

Car parking Specialist housing for older people will generally have a lower level 
of parking provision than general needs housing. In the past, this 
has typically been one space for every two dwellings (including 5-
10% disabled parking spaces). However, as people continue to 
drive at an older age, developers and some local authorities have 
found that provision closer to one space per household is required. 
Urban/ rural location and public transport links will also influence 
decisions regarding provision. 

136

http://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/DWELL_DesigningWithDownsizers.pdf
http://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/DWELL_DesigningWithDownsizers.pdf


29

2.15 In a supported housing scheme, additional spaces are likely to 
be required for staff and visitors plus a pick-up area for ambulances. 

Gardens The provision of access to a garden is extremely important to the 
wellbeing of residents. The active and passive use of gardens can 
offer older people physiological, psychological and social benefits4. 
Good practice in design is discussed in detail in Annex 4, p22. 

*The maximum advised gradient for slopes and ramps for use by older people, 
Factsheet on The Design of Streets with Older People in Mind, Inclusive Design for 
Getting Outdoors.

137



30

Annex 2: Legislation
The following Acts need to be considered during any application and delivery of 
specialist housing. Summaries are provided below:

a) Under the Care Act (2015) the Council must ensure there are a range of 
providers offering a choice of quality care services in the district. The Act 
expects the Council to integrate care and support functions with those 
provided by the NHS and any other health-related services such as housing.

b) Registration with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) is a requirement for 
regulated activities which are listed in Schedule 1 of the Health and Social 
Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014. The CQC should 
also consult the Adult Social Care authority regarding support for any new 
development. 

c) The Equality Act (2010) is also relevant to this SPD in that it provides a 
definition of disabilities as: ‘A physical or mental impairment that has a 
substantial (more than minor or trivial) and long term (12 months or more) 
negative effect on your ability to do normal activities’.

138



31

Annex 3: At a glance: Numbers of Specialist Homes needed 
Total amount (timespan) Amount per 

annum
Wheelchair User Dwellings 
– M4(3) – Category 3

964 (2016 – 2029) 74 

Specialist Housing 
identified by HOPSR 

1061 (2019 – 2030) 96

Care beds identified by 
HOPSR 

902 (2019 – 2030) 82

Accessible and adaptable 
homes – M4(2) – Category 2 

8186 (2016 – 2029) 630

Number of units required 
for people with moderate or 
severe learning disabilities

66 (2018 – 2023) 13

139



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Northampton Borough Council 
Specialist Housing Supplementary 

Planning Document

Consultation Statement
October 2019

141



2

Contents

Chapter Page number
1 Introduction 3

2 Consultation 3

3 Summary of Responses 3

Appendix  1 Public Notice 4

Appendix 2 Summary of Responses, Officer Comments and 
Proposed Changes

5

142



3

Introduction
1. This Specialist Housing Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) has been 

prepared to provide guidance to planning applicants and those involved in the 
delivery of specialist housing. It expands upon the policies set out in the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (WNJCS) and the emerging Local Plan 
Part 2.

2. It has been prepared in accordance with the provisions set out in the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and is a material consideration 
in the determination of planning applications.

3. In accordance with Regulations 12 and 13 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, the draft Specialist Housing 
SPD was subject to a six week public consultation period between 8 August 
2019 and 3 October 2019.

4. This Consultation Statement analyses the consultation that was undertaken 
by the Council, provides a summary of representations received and the 
Council’s responses to these representations.

Consultation Exercise
5. The formal 8 week consultation for stakeholders and the community took 

place between 8 August and 3 October 2019. Letters and emails were sent to 
511 contacts on the Planning Policy database, including statutory consultees, 
Members, neighbouring authorities and those with an interest in specialist 
housing. 

6. A public notice was published in local newspapers inviting representations to 
the draft SPD and providing details of where more information could be found 
(see Appendix 1). Details of the consultation were also published on social 
media, on Northampton Borough Council’s Twitter feed.

7. The draft Specialist Housing SPD and supporting documents were available 
to view:

a. Online via the Council’s website www.northampton.gov.uk;
b. In Northampton Guildhall; and  
c. In libraries throughout Northampton 

Summary of Responses
8. In total, 3 responses were received via completed Survey Monkey forms. A 

full schedule of consultation responses for the SPD, with the Council’s 
response, can be found at Appendix 2.

9. The consultation responses have resulted in one change to the Specialist 
Housing SPD which focuses on the security requirements in specialist 
housing developments.

143

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/


4

Appendix 1: Public Notice 

144



Appendix 2: Summary of Responses, Officer Comments and Proposed Changes

Reference Name & 
Organisation

Summary of comments Officer Response Change 
to SPD

SH001 Jo Moore - 
Member of the 
public

There is nothing to consider the needs of deaf 
people with a learning disability who require 
specialist services of staff/community who 
can sign British sign language

This document deals with 
specialist housing only and not 
services required by different 
groups. Advice and information 
on these services can be found at 
www.northamptonshire.gov.uk 

None

SH002 Sharon Henley - 
Crime Prevention 
Design Adviser, 
Northamptonshire 
Police

When older people choose to move into 
specialist accommodation such as an Extra 
Care village they often do so because they 
are anxious and feel vulnerable in their own 
homes because of a fear of crime. Specialist 
units provided for people with learning 
difficulties or mental health issues, where 
there is an element of independent living, 
have a requirement to provide a safe 
environment for such people. I am therefore 
surprised that there is no reference to any 
requirement for specialist housing to 
demonstrate compliance with a certain level 
of security. We would advocate that such 
developments should be able to demonstrate 
a layered approach to security which could 
include such things as robust perimeter 
treatments, security rated doors and 
windows, intruder alarms, access control 
measures, CCTV, lighting. The aim not to 
provide a fortress but to include risk 

Agree and propose additional 
wording.

In addition to Building Regulation 
layout requirements for specialist 
housing, developers of should 
also demonstrate compliance 
with high levels of security. The 
council will advocate 
developments that demonstrate a 
layered approach to security 
which includes things such as 
robust perimeter treatments, 
security rated doors and 
windows, intruder alarms, access 
control measures, CCTV and 
lighting. These measures would 
provide a safe and secure 
environment for some of the most 
vulnerable members of society. 

See 
officer 
response145

http://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/


commensurate measures to enable a safe 
and secure environment for some of the most 
vulnerable members of society.
If some wording could be included that 
ensures this then I would be grateful.

SH003 Kerrie Ginns - 
Environment 
Agency

We have no comments to make on the Draft 
Specialist Housing SPD

Noted None

146



CABINET REPORT

   AGENDA STATUS:      PUBLIC

Cabinet Meeting Date:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Directorate:

Accountable Cabinet Member: 

Ward(s)

13 November 2019

Yes

Yes

No

Housing and Wellbeing

Councillor Stephen Hibbert

Castle

1. Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval to proceed with the 
regeneration and redevelopment of Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court, by 
Northampton Partnership Homes on behalf of the Council, which will include, if 
relevant approvals permit, the demolition of the existing homes and the 
construction of 126 new affordable homes, in accordance with the Council’s 
Housing Regeneration Policy. 

2. Recommendations

2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:

(a) Approves the regeneration and redevelopment of Berkeley House and St 
Mary’s Court, by Northampton Partnership Homes (NPH) on behalf of the 
Council, including the demolition of the existing seven blocks of flats and 
the construction of 126 new affordable homes, within the financial 
envelope presented in the exempt report Appendix 6, in accordance with 
the proposals set out in the planning application for this scheme, 
described as ‘The Roof Gardens’, approved by the Council’s Planning 
Committee on 30 July 2019;

Report Title
                                                                                                                     
Regeneration and redevelopment of Berkeley House 
and St Mary’s Court, Spring Boroughs

Appendices

7

147

Agenda Item 10



(b) Approves the publication of a formal demolition notice for Berkeley House 
and St Mary’s Court (affecting the seven blocks of flats within the area 
identified in the plan that is shown edged red in Appendix 1) and the 
subsequent demolition of each block of flats as it becomes vacant;

(c) Resolves to make a Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO), in accordance 
with s226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, for the 
acquisition of the land and third party interests within the area identified in 
the plan that is shown edged red in Appendix 1 in order to enable the 
regeneration of the Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court site and the 
development of ‘The Roof Gardens’ scheme; 
    

(d)  Delegates to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Housing & Wellbeing, the Borough Secretary & Monitoring Officer and 
the Chief Finance Officer, the authority to effect the making, confirmation 
and implementation of the CPO and to take all necessary steps to give 
effect to the CPO including the payment of any compensation in relation to 
the land shown on the plan in Appendix 1 including, but not limited to, the 
procedural steps described in Paragraph 4.3.10 of this report; 

(e)    Delegates to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Housing and Wellbeing, the Borough Secretary & Monitoring Officer 
and the Chief Finance Officer the authority to appoint external professional 
assistance if necessary to meet the requirements of paragraph 4.3.10 of 
this report; 

(f)     Considers and takes account of the consultation feedback pursuant to 
Appendix 4 of this report; 

(g) Approves the proposed capital scheme budget of £15.9m which will 
include the scheme costs involved in the acquisition of leasehold 
properties, development costs i.e.standard construction costs, demolition 
and asbestos removal, any potential archaeology fees and finally, location 
construction costs;

(h) Delegates to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Housing and Wellbeing and the Chief Finance Officer, authority to 
approve the release of the relevant funds from the Housing Revenue 
Account Capital Programme following the procurement process and 
outcomes within the financial envelope presented in exempt report 
Appendix 6;  

(i)   Delegates to the Head of Housing & Wellbeing, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Housing & Wellbeing and the Chief Finance Officer, 
the authority to determine the rent levels and services charges for the new 
rented homes, based on the outcome of the Council’s application to 
Homes England for capital funding to support the proposed development 
of ‘The Roof Gardens’.  The proposal is for “affordable” rents (80% of open 
market rents) but capped at a level which is no higher than the Local 
Housing Allowance rate; and

(j)     Accepts further reports to future meetings of Cabinet on any issues that 
may require further consideration and decision by Cabinet.

148



3. Issues and Choices

3.1 Report Background

Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court

3.1.1 Berkeley House (comprising 60 flats in four blocks) and St Mary’s Court 
(comprising 22 flats in three blocks) were built in the 1960s and are situated 
in the ward of Spring Boroughs, to the west of the A508 Horsemarket:

3.1.2  Although it was 
originally envisaged that 
Berkeley House and St 
Mary’s Court would be 
refurbished as part of the 

149



Spring Boroughs regeneration programme, consultation with residents 
highlighted a series of concerns about the condition and design of the flats, 
including the following:

  Thermal performance of the buildings

  Quality of the internal communal areas

  Safety and security

  Facilities for refuse and recycling

  Lack of defensible open space (making it difficult to dry clothes, 
                grow food and allow children to play safely)

  Poor design and the overall appearance of the site

  No designated parking for the residents of St Mary’s Court

3.1.3 After considering the feedback from residents and with input from one of its 
partnering contractors, NPH estimated that investment of approximately 
£4.72m (equivalent to £79k per dwelling) will be required to refurbish 
Berkeley House and approximately £1.57m (equivalent to £72k per dwelling) 
will be required to refurbish St Mary’s Court. 

3.1.4 Even though this is more than three times what it has cost, on average, to 
bring the Council’s homes up to the Decent Homes Standard – and  although 
refurbishment would go some way to improving the overall appearance, 
security and thermal performance of the 82 flats – NPH has concluded that 
refurbishment will not address all of the concerns raised by residents. 

3.1.5 The existing layout of the site does not represent an efficient use of the land 
and NPH has confirmed that, due to their layout and position, the seven 
blocks of flats do not lend themselves to being extended (vertically or 
horizontally) or reconfigured.

3.1.6 After carrying out a conditions survey, producing a concept design, obtaining 
advice from Planning, Highways and other statutory consultees, carrying out 
technical, legal and financial due diligence and completing a community 
impact assessment, NPH provided the Council with a Feasibility Report on 
the regeneration of Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court in February 2019.

3.1.7 In its Feasibility Report, NPH explained why redevelopment of the site – 
rather than refurbishment of Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court – is the 
best option. It recommended redevelopment for the following reasons:  

 Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court are badly designed, of poor 
construction and are thermally inefficient;

 The internal communal areas are of a poor standard;

150



 There is no designated parking for the residents of St Mary’s Court, 
and there is only limited parking for the residents of Berkeley House;

 There is a lack of secure and useable land;  

 The land surrounding the blocks of flats is used as a ‘walk through’ 
by members of the public and is not a secure place in which to dry 
clothes, grow food or encourage children to play. It is rarely used by 
the residents of the flats and has become a magnet for fly tipping 
and anti-social behaviour;

 There are security issues (including the lack of defensible space to 
the ground floor flats) and the layout of the buildings means that it is 
difficult to address the North-facing (cold and dark) ‘deck-access’ 
and open balconies in the main Berkeley House block;  

 There is inadequate provision for refuse and recycling; and

 The buildings are unattractive in their design, do not make efficient use of 
the land and, because of their layout, limit the extent to which the land 
can be utilised to provide additional housing and/or car parking.

3.1.8 After considering the contents of the Feasibility Report, the Council agreed 
that NPH would consult on the proposal and an Intention to Demolish Notice 
was duly issued and published on 21 February 2019. 

Housing Regeneration Policy 

3.1.9 The regeneration and development of Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court 
will proceed in line with the Council’s Housing Regeneration Policy.

The ‘Resident Offer’

3.1.10 The ‘Resident Offer’ describes the assistance that Council tenants and 
leaseholders will be offered if they have to move out of their home because it 
is being demolished as part of the regeneration scheme. 

3.1.11 Full details of the ‘Resident Offer’ are set out in the Housing Regeneration 
Policy and are attached to this report (see Appendix 2).

3.1.12 Secure tenants who are required to move out of their home because it is 
being demolished or reconfigured will remain secure tenants with preserved 
eligibility for Right to Buy, have a right to return to the new development if a 
suitable property is available, and receive a Disturbance Payment. 

3.1.13 Returning tenants will be allowed to choose the property they wish to return 
to (subject to clauses regarding bedroom needs) in accordance with the 
amount of time they had been a tenant on the site prior to its redevelopment. 
The tenants who have lived there longest will be able to choose first and the 
tenants who have lived there for the shortest period will choose last.

151



3.1.14 Secure tenants have the right to refuse an offer but, when they have refused 
two offers of suitable properties, they will be provided with one final offer 
which will be the first available property that meets their bedroom needs 
assessment and is as close to their areas of preference as possible. In order 
to minimise the possibility of refusal, they will have the opportunity to discuss 
all suitable properties before a formal offer is made.

3.1.15 Leaseholders will be offered the full market value of the property, together 
with a Home Loss Payment of either 10% (if they have been living in the 
property continuously for at least the last 12 months) or 7.5% (if they have 
not been living there for the last 12 months). The Council will also pay the 
leaseholder’s reasonable (pre-agreed) legal and valuation costs.

3.1.16 If the leaseholder agrees to sell their property to the Council within two 
months of the Cabinet approving the regeneration scheme, they will receive 
an additional discretionary 5% home loss payment as an incentive.  

3.1.17 Where possible, leaseholders who have lived in their homes continuously for 
at least the last 12 months will be given the option to return by purchasing 
their new home outright, purchasing their new home through a shared 
ownership lease or, following a comprehensive affordability assessment, 
being rehoused from the Housing Register in a rented home.

3.1.18 Non-resident leaseholders will not have a right to return, and those who 
choose to let their accommodation will be responsible for terminating the 
tenancies and/or rehousing their tenants.  

3.1.19 If a leaseholder has purchased the property (as a council tenant) under the 
Right To Buy Scheme – so would normally be required to repay all of part of 
the discount they have received if they sell the property within five years of 
purchasing it – the Council will not seek to recover any of the discount if the 
leaseholder sells their property to the Council (either voluntarily or as a result 
of a CPO) after the Cabinet has formally approved the regeneration scheme.

3.2 Issues

Archaeological works and demolition

3.2.1 It is a pre-commencement condition of the planning approval that, as 
Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court are situated in an area of 
archaeological interest, archaeological investigations will need to be carried 
out and any archaeological remains secured and recorded.  

3.2.2 It is important that these investigations take place as soon as possible and 
prior to the tender because the results will inform the detailed technical 
design of the building and the cost and programme of the development. 

3.2.3 Following site visits and discussion, the County Archaeology Team has said 
that the archaeological works cannot be undertaken prior to demolition. It is 
proposed, therefore, that the demolition works form a contract that is 
separate from the main contract in order that the works can be undertaken 
before the main construction contract is awarded.  

152



3.2.4 Careful consideration will need to be given to which flats are to be used as 
temporary accommodation because the demolition works and archaeological 
investigations will need to take place in a timely manner in order to mitigate 
programme, design and financial risk. 

3.2.5 It is proposed that the seven blocks of flats are demolished, one at a time, as 
and when they become vacant and the utilities are disconnected. 

Design and layout of ‘The Roof Gardens’

3.2.6 On 30 July 2019, the Council’s Planning Committee approved the proposed 
design and layout of ‘The Roof Gardens’ which will involve:

 The demolition of the existing residential blocks known as Berkeley 
House and St Mary’s Court to the west of the A508 Horsemarket

  The development of an apartment block (with varying heights rising 
to a maximum of seven storeys) on the southern part of the site and 
containing 62 one-bedroom homes and 40 two-bedroom homes

   The development of 24 terraced and semi-detached houses on the 
northern part of the site (5 with two bedrooms, 17 with three 
bedrooms and 2 with four bedrooms)

 The creation of 42 car parking spaces, 8 motorbike parking spaces 
and 102 cycle storage units for the 102 apartments

 The creation of 20 car parking spaces for the 24 houses

3.2.7 The proposed development (see Appendix 3) – which has been called ‘The 
Roof Gardens’ because it includes two roof gardens, a communal garden 
and an area of new planting on Horsemarket – will provide the following:
    
 Good quality design for a prominent building (which will contribute to 

town centre regeneration) constructed of good quality materials that 
will remain contemporary and can be easily maintained

 An overall increase in housing density from 82 homes to 126 homes

 A mixture of one, two, three and four-bedroom homes, including a 
number of ground floor wheelchair accessible apartments

 24 family houses with gardens, and improved amenity space 
(including roof gardens) for the apartments, reflecting the priorities in 
the Spring Boroughs Neighbourhood Plan

 A strong emphasis on resident and site security in relation to 
entrances, CCTV, security lighting and the overall layout

 Robust consideration of fire safety, and the provision of a sprinkler 
system and a designated fire-fighting lift in the apartment block

 Inclusion of secure parking and secure cycle storage.

153



3.2.8 The next phase of the design is the production of the technical construction 
drawings in preparation for the tendering process.

Delivery of ‘The Roof Gardens’ programme

3.2.9 The programme is expected to take up to three years to deliver from when it 
is approved by Cabinet. The longer programme reflects two specific risks:

 The ground conditions including archaeology and underground services

 The purchase of the remaining leasehold properties

3.2.10 There are also a number of other standard construction risks which are 
always factored into programmes, including the following:

 Supply of materials and labour

 Adverse weather conditions 

 Statutory highways approvals

 Discharge of planning conditions.

Financial viability of ‘The Roof Gardens’

3.2.11 A financial appraisal has been completed to test whether the indicative costs 
of the scheme can be fully recovered from the forecast net rent received over 
40 years, the period of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan.   
A summary of the appraisal output is contained within Appendix 6. 

3.2.12 In addition, the financial appraisal has included for both available rent 
options, firstly affordable rents (80% of open market rents) but capped at a 
level which is no higher than the Local Housing Allowance rate.  Secondly, 
on “social rents” calculated by formula (approximately 60% of open market 
rents). 

3.2.13 Over a 40-year term, the project provides a positive contribution to the 
Housing Revenue Account revenue balances where affordable rents are 
charged, but does not provide a positive contribution where social rents are 
charged.    

3.2.14 On behalf of the Council, NPH is already in communication with Homes 
England (formerly the Homes & Communities Agency) to establish whether 
or not ‘The Roof Gardens’ will receive capital funding from the government.  
Financial implications are explained further in section 4.2 of this report.   

The views of tenants, leaseholders and other stakeholders

3.2.15 In February 2019, the Council authorised NPH to commence consultation 
with the tenants, leaseholders and other stakeholders. It also published an 
Intention to Demolish Notice in the local newspaper. 

3.2.16 One-to-one meetings were held with the local County Councillor and the 
Northampton Borough Council’s three Ward Councillors.

154



3.2.17 NPH placed copies of the Intention to Demolish Notice in all of the communal 
areas of Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court and hand delivered these to 
each resident with an accompanying letter explaining the next steps.  

3.2.18 Home visits were offered to every resident and translators were appointed for 
any resident for whom English is not their first language. The ‘Resident Offer’ 
(see Appendix 2) was explained to all tenants and leaseholders.

3.2.19 Since these initial visits, there have been numerous follow up meetings with 
the Council’s tenants and leaseholders.  

3.2.20 Many of the secure tenants in Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court were 
already on the Housing Register and seeking a transfer. Anyone who was 
not on the Housing Register was helped to apply and, by 23 September 
2019, 48 (two thirds) of the 70 council tenants had moved out.

3.2.21 Of the 48 council tenants who have already moved out of Berkeley House 
and St Mary’s Court, 21 (43%) have expressed a desire to return to ‘The 
Roof Gardens’ when it is completed and ready for occupation.

3.2.22 All of the leaseholders have been offered up to three independent valuations 
of their homes and, by 23 September 2019, 9 of the 12 leaseholders have 
either sold their homes to the Council or agreed to sell their homes to the 
Council. Of the resident leaseholders living in Berkley House and St Mary’s 
Court, none have expressed a desire to return to ‘The Roof Gardens’ when it 
is completed.

3.2.23 The Council and NPH are working closely with NAASH (Northampton 
Association for Accommodation of Single Homeless) to identify alternative 
premises to the two flats in Berkeley House that the charity is currently using 
for its No Second Night Out provision for single homeless people. 

3.2.24 The feedback that NPH has received from tenants, leaseholders and other 
stakeholders is captured in the ‘Consultation Feedback’ (see Appendix 4).

Compulsory purchase as a last resort

3.2.25 Although it is hoped that NPH’s regular and open dialogue with the  
remaining leaseholders will enable the Council to purchase their properties 
voluntarily within a reasonable timeframe, the Council retains the right to 
seek a CPO, as a last resort, if this is necessary in order to allow the 
regeneration to proceed.  

3.2.26 Acquisition of the land shown in Appendix 1 will enable the Council to 
exercise control over the land that it requires to implement `the proposed 
redevelopment of the Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court site. If the Council 
is unable to acquire the remaining leasehold interests, this will delay and 
potentially put at risk the regeneration and redevelopment of the site.

155



3.3 Choices (Options)

Option 1 (recommended)

3.3.1 Cabinet approves the regeneration and redevelopment of Berkeley House 
and St Mary’s Court by NPH on behalf of the Council (including the 
demolition of the existing homes and the construction of ‘The Roof Gardens’), 
the publication of the formal demolition notice and the subsequent demolition 
of the seven blocks of flats, and resolves to make a CPO (if required) to 
enable the regeneration and redevelopment to proceed.

Option 2 (not recommended)

3.3.2 Cabinet approves the regeneration and redevelopment of Berkeley House 
and St Mary’s Court (including the demolition of the existing homes and the 
construction of ‘The Roof Gardens’), the publication of the formal demolition 
notice and the subsequent demolition of the seven blocks of flats, but decide 
not to make a CPO.

3.3.3 This Option is not recommended because, in the absence of a CPO, the 
Council will be reliant on the remaining leaseholders entering into private 
treaty agreements with the Council. This could result in lengthy delays or, 
indeed, prevent the Council from obtaining possession of the land, 
demolishing Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court and developing ‘The Roof 
Gardens’. 

Option 3 (not recommended)

3.3.4 Cabinet can decide to stop the action that is being taken to progress the 
regeneration of Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court and it could proceed, 
instead, with the refurbishment of the seven blocks of flats.

3.3.5 This Option is not recommended because it does not represent good value 
for money, it will not address residents’ concerns (see Paragraph 3.1.7), it 
will not deliver much needed additional affordable housing, and it will not 
result in the regeneration of a prominent site in the town centre.

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1 Policy

4.1.1 The action that the Council is proposing to take is in line with the Council’s 
Housing Regeneration Policy and reflects the priorities in the Corporate Plan 
2018-20.

4.1.2 The regeneration of the Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court site, and the 
development of ‘The Roof Gardens’ as affordable rented housing, will help 
the Council to regenerate the town centre, tackle homelessness, meet 
housing need and maximise the supply of new homes.

156



4.2  Resources and Risk

4.2.1 It is proposed that all expenditure incurred to date, together with all 
expenditure needed to complete the regeneration and redevelopment of the 
Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court site (as detailed in the exempt part of 
this report) is included in the Council’s Housing Revenue Account capital 
programme as part of the NPH Managed Capital programme.

4.2.2 Provision for the Capital scheme expenditure and funding has previously 
been approved by Council in February 2019 as part of the HRA Capital 
Programme Budget. An amount was included within the New Build Pool / 
Major Projects line and is proposed to be transferred to the capital scheme 
titled “The Roof Gardens”. The scheme will be included in the NPH Managed 
Capital programme for 2019-20 and subsequent years.
 

4.2.3 As reported in exempt report Appendix 6, the proposed capital scheme has 
been appraised and based on the current assumptions is financially viable 
where “affordable rents” are charged. The scheme is proposed to be funded 
through two sources, firstly the use of Right to Buy receipts and secondly 
borrowing. The servicing of debt costs including interest will be through the 
net rental income generated by the scheme. 

4.2.4 The indicative scheme costs are included in an exempt Appendix 6 to this 
report to ensure the tender exercise to appoint a main contractor is not 
commercially compromised. Capital and Revenue income and expenditure 
are also included in the Appendix.

Rent setting options

4.2.5 There are two options as regards rents: firstly “affordable rents” and secondly 
“social rents”.  Both present different financial implications for the HRA.

4.2.6 The proposed option is “affordable rents” (equivalent to 80% of open market 
rents) but capped at a level which is no higher than the Local Housing 
Allowance rate. Affordable rents are subject to Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government approval.

4.2.7 Social rents (approximately 60% of market rents, calculated using formula) 
are appraised for a number of reasons:

 Previous tenants were at social rents

 New or returning tenants may not be able to afford higher affordable rents

 Welfare Reform, including the Benefit Cap and the introduction of 
Universal Credit in Northampton, may affect affordability

4.2.8 However, the social rents option should be discounted on financial grounds 
because social rents for this scheme do not work financially. In order to break 
even, it would need a grant from Homes England that exceeds the maximum 
grant ordinarily awarded. 

157



4.2.9 A confidential financial Appendix 6 will be provided and discussed with the 
Cabinet in the closed part of the Agenda. 

4.2.10 Should the Council need to go down the CPO route, compensation may be 
payable in accordance with the rules set out in Appendix 5A of this report.

4.2.11 If approved, the proposed scheme will be delivered by NPH on behalf of the 
Council. This includes the appointment of the design team and main 
contractor

4.3  Legal

4.3.1 The Council’s Housing Regeneration Policy sets out the legislative context 
for this proposal. Trowers and Hamlins Solicitors have been advising the 
Council and NPH in relation to the Housing Regeneration Policy and ‘The 
Roof Gardens’ scheme. An advisory note on the use of Compulsory 
Purchase Orders (see Appendix 5) is attached to this report.

4.3.2. It is proposed that the Council uses its compulsory purchase powers to help 
implement the regeneration and redevelopment of the Berkeley House and 
St Mary’s Court site. Under s226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended) (the Act) a local authority has a general power to make a 
compulsory acquisition of any land in their area to facilitate the carrying out of 
development, redevelopment or improvement in relation to the land. In order 
to exercise the s226 powers, the local authority must demonstrate that the 
proposed development / improvement is likely to contribute towards the 
promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental 
wellbeing of their area. 

4.3.3. The making of a CPO is an executive function by virtue of section 9D of the 
Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000. Pursuant to section 9E(2) of 
the Local Government Act 2000, the Cabinet may arrange for the discharge 
of an executive function by an officer of the authority.

4.3.4. The Acquisition of Land Act 1981 (the 1981 Act) governs the procedures 
which apply to such an acquisition, the Compulsory Purchase Act 1965 
governs post-confirmation procedures and the Land Compensation Act 1961 
governs the amount and assessment of compensation. The procedure for 
confirmation is specified in the 1981 Act and may require the conduct of a 
public inquiry if there are objections (detailed in Appendix 5). 

4.3.5 In the event that the CPO is confirmed, the Council can then take steps to 
acquire land either by serving a notice to treat and notice of entry in 
accordance with the 1981 Act or by serving a general vesting declaration 
under the Compulsory Purchase (Vesting Declarations) Act 1981. 
Consideration would need to be given to the most appropriate route and the 
procedure set out by legislation must be followed.

158



4.3.6 The Council will be required to demonstrate that there is a compelling case in 
the public interest for acquiring the land compulsorily. This will be set out in 
the Statement of Reasons. Additional implications on this point are contained 
in Appendix 5.  

4.3.7 In addition, any programme of land assembly needs to be set within a clear 
strategic framework, and this will be particularly importat when demonstrating 
the justification for acquiring land compulsorily under section 226(1)(a) Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990. Such a framework will need to be founded 
on an appropriate evidence base, and to have been subjected to consultation 
processes, including those whose property is directly affected.

4.3.8 As a CPO will extinguish third party rights, the Council will need to take care 
that it does not contravene the rights of individuals under the European 
Convention on Human Rights. In order to avoid contravening individual 
human rights by making a CPO, it must be demonstrated the CPO is in the 
public interest and that it is necessary and proportionate to make the CPO.

4.3.9 The public sector equality duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
requires the Council to have due regard to: (i) the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010; and (ii) the need to advance 
equality of opportunity between persons who share a protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it. Any equality impact assessment prepared 
in connection with the compulsory purchase order should be revisited 
throughout the process

4.3.10 When making, confirming and implementing the CPO, the Council will take 
all necessary steps to give effect to the CPO in relation to the land including, 
but not limited to, the following procedural steps: 

(i) Draft a Statement of Reasons to properly present the Council's 
case;

(ii) Take all necessary steps to ensure the making, confirmation and 
implementation of the CPO, including the publication and service of 
any press, site and individual notices and other correspondence for 
such making; 

(iii) Make minor amendments to reduce the boundary of the CPO area, 
if necessary;

(iv) Continue to negotiate with all landowners and occupiers within the 
CPO boundary with the aim of acquiring interests by agreement;

(v) Negotiate with any landowners or occupiers who object to the CPO 
to secure terms for the withdrawal of objections;

(vi) Seek confirmation of the CPO by the Secretary of State (or, if 
permitted, by the Council pursuant to Section 14A of the Acquisition 
of Land Act 1981), including the preparation and presentation of the 
Council’s case at any Public Inquiry as may be necessary including 
instruction of professionals to support the process;

159



(vii) Publish and serve notices of confirmation of the CPO and thereafter 
execute and serve any General Vesting Declarations and/or notices 
to treat and notices of entry, and any other notices or 
correspondence to acquire those interests within the area; and

(viii) Refer and conduct of disputes, relating to compulsory purchase 
compensation, at the Upper Tribunal (Lands Chamber).

4.3.11 On approval of the relevant elements of the proposed regeneration and 
redevelopment scheme, NPH must ensure compliance with the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015 together with any requirements under the 
Contract Procedure Rules in the tendering of the works and any appointment 
of the contractors and professional advisors must be provided in accordance 
with Paragraph 2.1(e) of this report.

4.4 Equality and Health

4.4.1 A full Community Impact Assessment has been completed.    

4.4.2 The Community Impact Assessment indicates that the action that is proposed 
in this report will help to improve the housing conditions and life chances of 
people with protected characteristics, including people with disabilities and 
families with children. They will therefore have a positive impact on Equality 
and Diversity. 

4.4.3 Maximising the supply of new homes is part of the Council’s commitment to 
improving communities and our town as a place to live. 

4.4.4 In implementing the changes, the Council will have due regard to its Public 
Sector Duty and will continue to work to tackle discrimination and inequality 
and help to create a fairer society. 

4.5 Environment 

4.5.1 The scheme features communal roof gardens on two floors of the apartment 
building, which will assist with rainwater mitigation and provide outdoor 
amenity space for the residents and attract wildlife as has been seen upon 
other examples of this type.   The pedestrian link between Horse Market and 
Castle Street will be enhanced visually with the proposed planting of trees 
and shrubs. 

4.5.2 The properties have been designed with large windows and double glazing to 
promote natural light and ventilation and to achieve the required daylight 
standards for each room. 

4.5.3 The design incorporates a combination of passive and mechanical ventilation 
where required, with cross ventilation in all habitable rooms also where 
appropriate.   The orientation and pitch of the roof provide a suitable platform 
for installation of renewable panels in future.  

4.5.4 The houses have the capacity to accommodate rain water harvesting butts 
for water collection.   

160



4.5.5 All dwellings are provided with the capacity for recycling facilities within the 
kitchen and externally.  

4.6  Consultees (Internal and External)

4.6.1 The consultation process has involved the following stakeholders:

a) Residents of Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court (tenants, 
leaseholders and the tenants of non-resident leaseholders)

This included letters and home visits, and took place at the point the 
Intention to Demolish Notice was issued and in advance of the planning 
application being submitted for ‘The Roof Gardens’.

b) Residents of the neighbouring properties 

Local residents were consulted in advance of the planning application 
being submitted for ‘The Roof Gardens’.

c) Spring Boroughs Residents Association

d) Ward Councillors (County Council and Borough Council)

Individual, face-to-face meetings took place in advance of the publication 
of the Intention to Demolish Notice.

e) The Council’s Housing Delivery Group

f) NPH Housing Management Team

g) Statutory Planning Consultees:

 Northampton Planning Authority
 Northamptonshire Police
 Environmental Health
 Environment Agency
 Northamptonshire Archaeology Team
 Northamptonshire Highways Authority

4.6.2 The feedback that NPH has received from tenants, leaseholders and other 
stakeholders is captured in the ‘Consultation Feedback’ (see Appendix 4).

4.7 How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes

4.7.1 The action proposed in this report will help the Council to meet 5 of the 
priorities in the Corporate Plan 2018 – 2020:

 More homes, better homes
 Shaping place and driving growth
 Creating a thriving and vibrant town
 Spending your money wisely
 Putting the customer first

161



5. Next Steps

5.1 The Cabinet decision will be implemented in accordance with the Council’s  
18-stage Housing Regeneration Policy.

Appendices

Appendix 1   – Plan showing the location of Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court 
Appendix 2   – The ‘Resident Offer’ for Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court
Appendix 3   – Artist’s Impression of ‘The Roof Gardens’
Appendix 4   – Consultation Feedback
Appendix 5   – Legal Advisory Note on Compulsory Purchase Orders
Appendix 5A – Guidance on Compulsory Purchase process and The 
                         Crichel Down Rules
Appendix 6   – Capital Scheme Budget and Summary of Investment Appraisal 
                        Outputs (Contained in the exempt part of this report)

Background Papers

Community Impact Assessment 
Northampton Borough Council’s Housing Regeneration Policy (2019) 
NPH’s Feasibility Report on Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court (2019)
HRA Budget Setting Report 2019-20 (Feb 2019) 

                       

               Phil Harris
           Head of Housing and Wellbeing
               01604 837871

162



APPENDIX 1 

 

163



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 
 
THE ‘RESIDENT OFFER’ FOR BERKELEY HOUSE AND ST MARY’S 
COURT 

 
This describes the assistance that council tenants and home owners will be 
offered if they have to move out of their home because it is being demolished 
or reconfigured as part of a housing regeneration scheme. 
 
1. SECURE TENANTS 

 
Housing rights 

 
1.1 Secure tenants who are required to move out of their home because it is being 

demolished or reconfigured or demolished will remain secure tenants with 
preserved eligibility for Right to Buy and will have a right to return to the new 
development if a suitable property is available. 

 
1.2 NBC will not re-house the following: 

 
  Unauthorised occupants 

 
  Sub-tenants 

 
  Lodgers 

 
  Licensees  

 
  Other non-secure occupants 

 
   Ineligible persons within the criteria of s 160ZA of the Localism Act 2011                

and those deemed ineligible by the Secretary of State. 
 

Housing options 
 
1.3 The options available for secure tenants will be: 
 

   A temporary decant to an alternative property with a right to return1 to the 
new property once complete 
 

   A temporary decant to an alternative property whilst waiting for a suitable 
property to become available through the Housing Register 

 
   The opportunity to bid (via a direct match) as a suitable property becomes 

available through the Housing Register 
 

         Rent levels 
 
1.4 If the tenant occupies a like-for-like temporary home during the decant period, 

they will not be charged a higher rent than they had been paying for their 

                                                 
1 Please note that tenants may have initially opted to return but once they have occupied the temporary 
decant property wish to remain there.  Wherever possible this will be supported.  
 

165



original home. However, they will not be afforded the same protection if the rent 
they are required to pay for their new permanent home is higher than they had 
been paying for their original home. 

1.5 In order to help tenants to make an informed choice about their future 
housing, NPH will carry out an affordability check with the tenant, as there is a 
possibility (depending on the size, type and location of the home they move 
into) that the rent they pay for their permanent home will be higher than they 
were paying for their original home. 
 
Disturbance Payments 
 

1.6 A Disturbance Payment (in the form of financial support and/or practical 
assistance) will be provided to cover reasonable moving costs: 

   
 Based on each resident’s identified needs, NPH will arrange and pay for 

specialised contractors to carry out the removal of furniture and effects 
from and back to the tenant’s permanent home and any necessary 
storage and supply of storage boxes. A full packing service will be 
available for elderly, frail or disabled tenants to allow them to move, with 
on the day support as necessary.  
 

 Financial support will be given towards the supply and fitting of floor 
coverings up to an approved upper limit per metre in both the temporary 
home and permanent home. 

 
 Financial support will be given towards the provision of new curtains and 

curtain track up to a reasonable cost per pair where the existing curtains 
do not fit due to different window sizes in both the temporary home and 
the permanent home. 

 
 Financial support will be given towards the redirection of post (following 

the tenants’ completion of the postal redirection form) for a maximum 
period of 6 months. 

 
 Financial support will be given towards the disconnection and 

reconnection of existing kitchen appliances, or room heaters using Gas 
Safe or equivalent registered plumbers or electricians in both the 
temporary and permanent home. 

 
1.7 Tenants will retain responsibility for: 

 
     Informing their insurers of their changes of address 

 
 Informing Council Tax of their changes of address 
 
 Reading meters and paying the utilities of the home they have been 

decanted from and the one they have been moved into 
 
           Home Loss Payments 
 

 
1.8 A Home Loss Payment is a statutory payment that is made to compensate 

tenants (who have been living in their home for over 12 months) for having to 
permanently move out of their home.  This mandatory lump sum payment is 

166



fixed by Section 30 of the Land Compensation Act 1973 and the size of it is 
reviewed annually in September. 

 
Two reasonable offers 

 
1.12 Tenants will be made two reasonable offers of suitable accommodation.  

“Reasonable” and “suitable” will take into account the preferences of the 
tenant as well as the availability of stock and the demands from other 
households for whom NBC has a legal duty to accommodate.  It will also take 
into account any particular adaptations needed for the household.   

 
1.13 Where a tenant has not bid within six weeks and has had the support to do so 

NPH retains the right to bid on their behalf and make suitable offers of 
accommodation on this basis. 

 
 Final offers 
 
1.14 The tenant has the right to refuse an offer but, when they have refused two 

offers of suitable properties, NBC will provide one final offer which will be the 
first available property that meets the household’s bedroom needs 
assessment and is as close to their areas of preference as possible. Tenants 
will have the opportunity to discuss all suitable properties before a formal offer 
is made to minimise the possibility of refusal. 

 
 Possession action as a last resort 
 
1.15 NBC retains the legal right2 to seek a possession order as a last resort, once 

all other alternatives have been explored and reasonable offers of rehousing 
have been rejected. Possession will only be granted by a Court with the 
provision of suitable alternative accommodation. 

 
 
2. HOME OWNERS WHO HAVE BEEN LIVING IN THE PROPERTY 

CONTINUOUSLY FOR AT LEAST THE LAST 12 MONTHS 
 

2.1 NBC will purchase properties from home owners (who have been living in the 
property continuously for at least the last 12 months) for the market value plus 
a 10% home loss payment.   
 

2.2 If the home owner agrees to this within two months of the Council’s Cabinet 
approving the regeneration scheme, they will be offered an incentive payment 
of an additional discretionary 5% home loss payment.  

 
2.3 The Council will also pay reasonable (pre-agreed) legal and valuation costs. 

Any additional premium will be at the discretion of the Council.  
 
2.4 Where possible, home owners who have lived in their homes continuously for 

at least the last 12 months will be given the option to return, using one of three 
options: 

 
   (a) Through outright sale of the new home.   
 

                                                 
2 under Ground 10 or 10a of Schedule 2 of the Housing Act 1985 

167



NBC and the home owner will enter into one agreement binding both 
parties to the sale and purchase of the existing home and the new home.   
 
As the home owner’s financial circumstances may change while the new 
home is being built, the agreement will be conditional upon the home owner 
having the funds available at the point of completion. 

 
    (b) Through a shared ownership lease of the new home.   

 
NBC and the home owner will enter into one agreement binding both 
parties to the sale and purchase of the existing home and shared 
ownership lease of the new home.   
 
A comprehensive affordability assessment (which will take into account the 
home owner’s income, outgoings, savings / capital and mortgage potential) 
will inform the level of shares to be purchased.   
 
As the home owner’s financial circumstances may change while the new 
home is being built, the agreement will be conditional upon the home owner 
having the funds available at the point of completion. 

 
 (c) Through an affordable rental basis.   

 
A comprehensive affordability assessment (which will take into account the 
home owner’s income, outgoings, savings / capital and mortgage potential) 
will inform NBC’s decision on whether or not the home owner can afford to 
purchase a property through a shared ownership lease.    
 
NBC will purchase the property from the home owner, and the home owner 
will join Northampton’s Housing Register and have the same housing 
options as the secure tenants (see Paragraph 1.3, above).   
 

 
Right To Buy Scheme 

 
2.5 If the home owner has purchased the property (as a council tenant) under the 

Right To Buy Scheme, they will have received a discount on the purchase price 
when they bought it and, if they sell it within five years, they will normally be 
required to repay all of part of the discount they have received.  
 

2.6 Where a home owner sells their property to the Council (either voluntarily or as 
a result of its compulsory purchase) after the Cabinet has formally approved the 
regeneration scheme, the Council will not seek to recover any of the money 
that the home owner received as a discount when they bought the property.  

 
 

3. HOME OWNERS WHO HAVE NOT BEEN LIVING IN THE PROPERTY 
CONTINUOUSLY FOR AT LEAST THE LAST 12 MONTHS 

 
3.1 NBC will purchase properties from home owners (who have not been living in 

the property continuously for at least the last 12 months) for the market value 
plus a 7.5% home loss payment.  

168



   
3.2 If the home owner agrees to this within two months of the Council’s Cabinet 

approving the regeneration scheme, they will be offered an incentive payment 
of an additional discretionary 5% home loss payment.   

 
3.3 The Council will also pay reasonable (pre-agreed) legal and valuation costs.  
 
3.4 Non-resident home owners will not have a right to return. 
 
3.5 Home owners who let their tenancies will be responsible for terminating the 

tenancies or re-housing their tenants.   
 
3.6 Tenants of home owners will be able to access housing advice to ensure they 

are fully aware of their housing rights. 
 

Right To Buy Scheme 
 

3.7 If the home owner has purchased the property (as a council tenant) under the 
Right To Buy Scheme, they will have received a discount on the purchase price 
when they bought it and, if they sell it within five years, they will normally be 
required to repay all of part of the discount they have received.  
 

3.8 Where a home owner sells their property to the Council (either voluntarily or as 
a result of its compulsory purchase) after the Cabinet has formally approved the 
regeneration scheme, the Council will not seek to recover any of the money 
that the home owner received as a discount when they bought the property.  

 
 
 

_____________________________ 
 
 
 

169



This page is intentionally left blank



   ARTIST’S IMPRESSION OF THE ROOF GARDENS APPENDIX 3 

171



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4 

CONSULTATION FEEDBACK 

Northampton Partnership Homes (NPH) commenced its whole neighbourhood approach to regeneration in 
2016.   

Spring Boroughs was one of the first neighbourhoods in the whole neighbourhood regeneration 
programme.  This brief document sets out the consultation that has taken place which has led to the 
recommendation for The Roof Gardens development. 

Spring Boroughs Regeneration Consultation (2016-18) 

In March 2016, NPH wrote to all council tenants and leaseholders living in Spring Boroughs.  A survey form 
and reply envelope was sent with a letter asking for views on their homes and the neighbourhood.  
Residents were also sent an on-line link to respond.  

The letter also explained that NPH staff would be undertaking a programme of home visits to enable as 
many residents as possible to complete the survey and feedback any issues face to face.  This programme 
of home visits went on for a number of weeks including evenings and weekends. 

NPH also engaged others stakeholders, held sessions in the local primary school and attended the 
Residents Association and Neighbourhood Forum. 

The feedback from the consultation informed the following: 

 The need for new homes, particularly family houses for people living in socially overcrowded situations.  
This resulted in 34 new homes being built in Spring Boroughs. 
 

 The need to retain the local shop.  This resulted in a new local shop being constructed in a more 
accessible location. 

 
 The need for a play area for children and exercise area.  This resulted in a new play area and green gym 

being constructed.  Furthermore NPH secured planning permission for a Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) 
which it is now applying for external grant for. 

 
 The need for safer and improved amenity space.  This has resulted apartment blocks having new drying 

areas, raised beds for food growing, seating, new refuse storage and bike storage. 
 

 The need for improved security.  This has resulted in new communal doors being installed with door 
entry upgrades, CCTV and security light upgrades.  It has also resulted in new fencing and gates. 

 
 The need to increase and enhance parking for residents.  This has resulted in additional parking bays 

and the installation of car park barriers to car parks for apartment blocks. 
 

 To improve the overall condition of homes.  This has resulted in works inside homes where needed (e.g. 
new kitchens and bathrooms), internal communal areas and external works such as new balustrades 
and windows. 

 

Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court Regeneration Consultation 

In February 2019, following consultation with NBC Officers and face to face meetings with NCC and NBC 
ward members, NPH hand delivered letters to all residents of Berkeley House and St. Marys and non-
resident leaseholders asking residents to contact NPH to arrange a home visit.   

This was done to try and deliver as many of the Intention to Demolish Notices in person as possible to be 
able to respond to any queries and concerns face to face.  NPH staff also phoned, emailed and visited 
homes to again, try and maximise home visit appointments. 

The Intention to Demolish Notice was published in the local press and displayed in the communal areas of 
each apartment block.  The Intention to Demolish Notice and supporting letter were given to residents at 
the home visits.  For those who did not make an appointment, the notices and letters were delivered by 
hand with follow up visits shortly after.  An information pack was also given with a site plan and feedback 
form for residents to complete. A team of translators were commissioned to support this process, both in 
translating all documents and accompanying NPH staff to meetings.  Residents were given a designated 
contact number and email to ensure it was as simple as possible to make contact as needed. 173



There was a mixture of reactions during the consultation process.  Whilst there was understandable anxiety 

about the disruption and moving, many residents confirmed previous feedback about their homes in 

particular concerns regarding damp, cold, mould, heating cost, lack of amenity space, lack of parking and 

security concerns. 

Follow up meetings were offered to all residents.   

 All tenants were offered the opportunity to apply to the Housing Register (if not already on it) and all 
tenants took this opportunity up. 
 

 All leaseholders were offered the opportunity of independent valuations of their property.  10 of the 12 
leaseholders took this opportunity up. 

 

 Numerous follow up visits have been undertaken with both tenants and leaseholders. 
 

The Roof Garden proposals pre-planning consultation 

Ahead of the planning permission being submitted residents were consulted on the design proposals.  The 

same approach as with the earlier consultation was taken with residents of St. Marys and Berkeley House; 

letters delivered with offers of home visits.  Again, translators were appointed to translate documents and 

support home visits.   

NPH also wrote to residents in homes adjacent to St. Mary’s and Berkeley House.  Spring Boroughs 

Community Hub was open with larger versions of the designs displayed.   

There were a total of 215 who received hand delivered letters which resulted in over 80 face to face 

meetings either in people’s homes or at the Community Hub,    

NPH published the proposals on its website with an on-line form to enable residents to view plans and 

feedback electronically if that was their preference.  Whilst only one person chose to feedback using this 

option, there were over 100 ‘views’ of the consultation pages.   

NPH also engaged with other stakeholders including 

 

 Spring Boroughs Resident Association,  

 Spring Boroughs Neighbourhood Forum 

 Springs Family Centre 

 Spring Lane Primary School 

 NBC’s Community Safety Team 

 Northamptonshire Police  

 Local churches.  
 

At the end of the consultation all the key issues and feedback from tenants, leaseholders and stakeholders 

were gathered and fed into the planning application wherever possible.  This is referenced in the Statement 

of Community Involvement (Section 5 of the Design and Access Statement) which forms part of the 

planning submission.  This includes a number of direct quotes: 

“Very nice looks beautiful.  No concerns, supportive.  Good idea, need more people in housing” 

“It looks like a nice block.  Can see it needs doing.  Will improve the area.  Can see there will be more 

properties” 

 
Following the submission of the planning application all members of the public had an opportunity to 

provide feedback online on the Planning Portal and/or to speak at the Planning Committee.  The proposal 

was presented to the July Planning Committee and no objections were raised.   

Following planning permission there has been ongoing follow up contact with residents. 

 

174



The following is an extract from the Design and Access Statement that NPH submitted the Council’s 

Planning Committee in support of the planning application for ‘The Roof Gardens’ 

Statement of Community Involvement on proposed development for St Mary’s Court and Berkeley House  

Northampton Partnership Homes (NPH), in June 2016, consulted across the Spring Borough’s estate on 

regeneration plans and the use of community green spaces, in light of the priorities identified in the 

Neighbourhood Plan and NPH’s ongoing programme of investment in the estates that it manages.    

This consultation led to significant investment across the estate including a large new build programme and 

refurbishment of several apartment blocks.  The investment included the delivery of family housing with 

gardens, new play facilities, a new community facility (the Spring Borough’s Hub) and 2 communal gardens 

together with significant investment in community green spaces and out-door gym.   

To further develop the provision of affordable family housing and creating an improved living environment 

within the Spring Borough estate, in line with the Neighbourhood Plan the proposed re-development of 

Berkeley House and St Mary’s court apartment blocks was considered as the second phase of investment 

within the area.  

A comprehensive programme of consultation with the community and key stakeholders was undertaken by 

NPH with key stakeholders, tenants and leaseholders in Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court and 

surrounding blocks to inform on the redevelopment proposals for the area.  

The consultation activity was designed to take place on several occasions with focus on existing tenants 

and leaseholders in St Mary’s Court and Berkeley House directly affected by the proposed development.   

Followed by wider consultation undertaken with all residents living close to the proposed development in 

Doddridge House, St Katherine’s Court and Pike Lane, along with stakeholders, local councillors, resident 

association and Neighbourhood Forum.  

The first consultation took place on the week beginning 11th February 2019 in which letters were hand 

delivered to 76 tenants, residents and leaseholders, offering to make appointments available from 7am till 

6pm 13th February 2019 – 16th February 2019, through a dedicated email address and phone number.   

Further to this, door knocking was undertaken during that time period to contact those who had not made 

an appointment in order to ensure all residents would have the chance to be shown the proposed plans and 

have a chance to comment and have questions answered.   

As part of the consultation with the directly affected tenants and leaseholders, proposals of redevelopment 

were outlined to the residents including why the proposals were being put forward and offering a chance to 

provide comments via a response form or NPH’s website.   An information pack was also provided with 

translated copies of the proposals.   Translators were also made available should there be a need, where 

residents did not have English as their first language.   

Appointments with all leaseholders were made using a similar approach as for the tenants in the properties, 

either meeting them at their place of residence, or where they were non-resident landlords, meeting them in 

a suitable location to provide information on the proposals and offering the opportunity to provide feedback.  

NPH’s website (https://www.northamptonpartnershiphomes.org.uk) was used in order to provide a further 

avenue for residents and the general public to access information about the redevelopment proposals for 

the Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court blocks.   

The second, wider consultation was undertaken on 27th February 2019 with immediately affected residents 

as well as affected households within the vicinity of the area of the redevelopment.    

The wider consultation involved a hand delivered invitation offering an appointment should residents wish 

to discuss.   Door knocking also took place on 144 households which was undertaken on 7th March 2019 in 

St Katherine’s House, Doddridge House, St Peter’s House and Chalk Lane and Pike Lane.  A further drop-

in facility at Spring Borough’s Community Hub was also available with large copies of the plans to view by 

members of the public.     

175

https://www.northamptonpartnershiphomes.org.uk/


Other stakeholders include Spring Borough’s Residents’ Association, Spring Borough’s Neighbourhood 

Forum, Springs Family Centre, Spring Borough’s Primary School, NBC’s Community Safety Team and 

local churches.    

71 tenants and leaseholders were contacted by letter in St Mary’s Court and Berkeley House.  55 

appointments were made with comments provided and fed into the design process.  

23 households across Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court highlighted items of concern with the current 

state of the properties citing that there were issues around the continued life of the buildings.   

24 households were pleased about the proposed designs and 10 tenants wished to return to the new 

proposed building which has been offered as part of the redevelopment proposals.    Some of the direct 

quotes are below:  

“The family would like one of the houses – would like a garden.  Happy about plans” 

“I welcome the proposed development and appreciate the benefits it will bring to Spring Boroughs” 

A limited number replied from the wider consultation in the blocks of St Katherine’s House, Doddridge 

House, St Peter’s House and Pike Lane and Chalk Lane.  All commented that they liked the proposed 

plans and would be happy for it to take place.  

“Very nice, looks beautiful.  No concerns, supportive.  Good idea, need more people in housing” 

“It looks a nice block. Can see it needs doing.  Will improve the area.  Can see there will be more 

properties” 

NPH’s website advertised the proposed plans with online feedback forms to be completed.   106 page 

views were recorded, with 84 unique page views, meaning that details of the plans were viewed by 

members of the public.   

Throughout the consultation process, over 215 tenants and leaseholders were contacted directly via hand 

delivered letters and door knocking.   Of those, 67 appointments were made with tenants and leaseholders 

and 34 commented positively about the proposals and only 6 raised some objections.  

Following the wider consultation which included the blocks at Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court, St 

Katherine’s House, Doddridge House, St Peter’s House, Pike Lane and Chalk Lane all provided positive 

feedback about the proposals with no negative comments recorded.    

At the end of the consultation all the key issues and feedback from tenants, leaseholders and stakeholders 

were collated and feed into the process where feasible.   

In general a great deal of resources were utilised in order to ensure that a direct line of consultation was 

done with the immediately affected tenants and leaseholders, together with those indirectly affected in the 

surrounding properties.   We feel that the general response from all stakeholders was a positive one, 

concerning the redevelopment plans for Berkeley House and St Mary’s Court and only a small number of 

those who were consulted had reservations about the proposals.   

As part of the consultation, illustrations of the proposed development were created.   These have 

subsequently been updated to incorporate some of the comments received and also the continued 

feedback from the Planners and Project Team.    These initial massing models help is the design 

process and gaining public feedback.  

 

Helen Town 
Assistant Director: Asset Management & Development 
Northampton Partnership Homes 

176



THL.138453074.1 1 TPB.55393.6 

THE ROOF GARDENS LEGAL ADVISORY NOTE APPENDIX 5 

1 Introduction 

1.1 The note provides a broad overview of the process and law on the use of compulsory 

purchase powers by Northampton Borough Council (NBC) in the context of supporting the 

regeneration of the estates of St Mary's Court and Berkeley House (known as the Roof 

Gardens).  

2 Outline of Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) procedures 

2.1 The process is summarised by the following diagram. 

 

2.2 The preparatory stage to a CPO involves reviewing relevant planning policies, considering 

the available legal powers for the proposal, working up a scheme and determining how it 

will be delivered, and negotiating with land owners for the voluntary acquisition of third 

party interests.  

2.3 After the preparatory stage is concluded and a final decision is made by the Cabinet to 

make a CPO, the order can be made. A CPO is a formal document which lists all the plots 

of land proposed to be acquired and the names of all persons having interests in those 

plots (so far as can be ascertained) together with a map (or maps) which shows all the 

plots of land. Interests to be acquired and contained in the schedule of interests include 

land interests as well as third party rights over land such as rights of light and rights of 

way. The CPO would be “made” by the sealing of the CPO following a resolution the 

Cabinet authorising the making of the CPO. 

2.4 Notice of the making of the CPO would then have to be served on all those having 

interests in the land and published in newspapers. The notice would make clear that 

anyone wishing to object may do so within a specified time limit (minimum 21 days). 

 

177



THL.138453074.1 2 TPB.55393.6 

2.5 If any objections are made and not withdrawn, a public inquiry would usually be held (even 

if there is only a single objection). The inquiry would be held by a planning inspector. The 

acquiring authority and objectors would present evidence to the inquiry in support of their 

respective positions and this would be subject to cross examination from the opposing 

side, and questions of clarification from the Inspector.  Following the public inquiry, the 

inspector would write a report to the Secretary of State. 

2.6 The decision whether or not to confirm the CPO would rest with the Secretary of State1. 

Following the Secretary of State’s decision there is a six week period within which the 

decision could be legally challenged.  The Secretary of State has power to confirm the 

CPO with modifications. Where the Secretary of State is satisfied about the general need 

for the scheme but is persuaded by an objector that the scheme can be achieved without 

the need to acquire that objector’s land, he has power to modify the CPO to exclude that 

land from the CPO. The Secretary of State does not have power to modify the CPO to 

include additional land not included in the CPO as made by NBC, so it is important to 

ensure, when the CPO is made, that it includes all the land and rights required. 

2.7 An objector whose objection to the CPO is successful will normally be awarded his/her 

costs. 

2.8 Once the CPO has been confirmed (and free from legal challenge), NBC would have 

power to acquire the land included in the CPO. In order to exercise that power, it would be 

able to choose between two possible procedures:  

2.8.1 service of a “notice to treat” on each person having an interest in the land, 

together with a notice of entry, followed by taking actual possession. NBC 

would then be authorised to take possession of the land but title would not be 

transferred to NBC until after compensation has been agreed or determined;  

2.8.2 making a “general vesting declaration” (in respect of all or some of the land 

included in the CPO) which would deem notice to treat to have been served and 

would vest in NBC all the interests included in the declaration.  

2.9 The choice of procedure would depend upon the circumstances, but general vesting 

declarations are far more common for this type of scheme as they facilitate early 

possession allowing schemes to progress whilst compensation disputes are still settled. 

2.10 A more detailed outline of the CPO process and well as indicative timeframes is included 

as an Annex to this note. 

3 Overview of the law and criteria for confirmation 

3.1 Since the NBC's power to acquire land compulsorily depends upon securing confirmation 

of the CPO by the Secretary of State, it is essential to have regard from the outset to the 

criteria and other considerations which the Secretary of State will take into account when 

deciding whether or not to confirm the CPO. Guidance about this is provided in a 

document published by the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government2 (the 

Guidance). The main elements of the Guidance are set out under the following heads: 

                                                   
1  Under the recently enacted Housing and Planning Act 2016, the Secretary of State will have power to allow an Inspector to confirm 

a CPO, but it is not known to what extent this power will be exercised. 
2  “Guidance on Compulsory Purchase and the Crichel Downs Rules for the disposal of land acquired by, or under the threat of, 

compulsion” published in October 2015 (and updated July 2019) by the Ministry for Housing Communities and Local Government. 

178



THL.138453074.1 3 TPB.55393.6 

3.1.1 Statutory powers: NBC has power to acquire land for a variety of purposes 

including planning, housing and highways. Paragraphs 10-11 of the Guidance 

advise:  

“The purpose for which an acquiring authority seeks to acquire land will 

determine the statutory power under which compulsory purchase is 

sought….Acquiring authorities should look to use the most specific power 

available for the purpose in mind, and only use a general power when a specific 

power is not available”.  

3.1.2 A CPO in connection with St Mary's and Berkeley would be made under 

planning powers, that is, under section 226 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990 (TCPA). Specific advice about the use of section 226 is set out in 

paragraphs 94-106 of the Guidance.  

3.1.3 NBC is empowered under section 226(1)(a) TCPA, to acquire any land in its 

area if it is satisfied that the proposed acquisition will facilitate the carrying out 

of development, redevelopment or improvement on or in relation to the land. 

NBC may make a compulsory acquisition under section 226 TCPA (a) if it thinks 

the acquisition will facilitate the carrying out of development or redevelopment 

or improvement on or in relation to the land or (b) which is required for a 

purpose which it is necessary to achieve in the interests of the proper planning 

of an area in which the land is situated. In order to make an acquisition under 

(a), NBC must also consider that the development, redevelopment or 

improvement will contribute to the promotion or improvement of the economic 

social or environmental well-being of its area.  

3.1.4 In the context of that overarching consideration paragraph 106 of the Guidance 

states that there are four specific factors or particular relevance to CPOs under 

section 226 of the TCPA which will be taken into account by the Secretary of 

State when deciding if a CPO should be confirmed.  These are summarised as 

follows:  

(a) whether the purpose for which the land is being acquired fits with the 

adopted planning framework for the area;  

(b) the extent to which the Scheme would contribute to the achievement of 

the promotion and/or improvement of the economic, and/or social, 

and/or environmental well-being of NBC's area;  

(c) whether the purposes for which the proposed land is to be acquired 

could reasonably be achieved by any other means.  This may include 

considering the appropriateness of any alternative proposals put 

forward by the owners of the land, or any other persons, for its reuse. It 

may also involve examining the suitability of any alternative locations for 

the purpose for which the land is being acquired; 

3.1.5 Section 226(4) TCPA confirms that the works of development do not need to be 

undertaken by NBC and can be procured through a third party developer, as is 

envisaged at St Mary's and Berkeley by NPH. 

179



THL.138453074.1 4 TPB.55393.6 

3.1.6 Justification: NBC must be able to demonstrate a “compelling case in the 

public interest”: paragraph 12 of the Guidance. The Secretary of State will 

balance the justification for the CPO against the effect upon those whose 

interests in the land are proposed to be acquired. Putting it another way, NBC 

would have to be able to show that the need for the land to be put to a purpose 

in the public interest outweighs the impact on those affected. It is often 

convenient to consider the question of “need” at two different levels. First, it will 

be necessary to demonstrate the need for the scheme in principle and in 

general. Second, it will be necessary demonstrate the need to acquire each and 

every parcel of land included in the CPO in order to achieve that need. 

3.1.7 Part of the justification for obtaining confirmation of a CPO would involve 

demonstrating that compulsory powers are necessary because the land 

required cannot be acquired voluntarily. Compulsory purchase is seen as a last 

resort and an authority must be able to show that it has made genuine attempts 

to acquire the land by negotiation.  

3.1.8 A CPO will affect third party rights, so NBC will need to take care that it does 

not contravene the rights of individuals under the European Convention on 

Human Rights (the ECHR) or breach the public sector equality duty under 

section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 

makes it unlawful for NBC to act in any way which is incompatible with a right 

under the ECHR. Pursuant to Article 1 of the First Protocol to the ECHR, every 

person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of his or her possessions and no 

one shall be deprived of those possessions except in the public interest and 

subject to the conditions provided for by law and by the general principles of 

international law. The public sector equality duty requires NBC to have due 

regard to: (i) the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and 

any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010; and (ii) 

the need to advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

3.1.9 Resource implications and financial viability of the Scheme: NBC would 

have to demonstrate that it has, or at least will obtain, the resources necessary 

not only to pay compensation for the land but also to implement the scheme: 

paragraph 14 of the Guidance. The reason for this requirement is to avoid a 

situation in which private land has been acquired compulsorily for a purpose 

which, in the event, cannot be achieved for lack of funds. 

3.1.10 A general indication of funding intentions, and of any commitment from third 

parties, will usually suffice to reassure the Secretary of State that there is a 

reasonable prospect that the scheme will proceed. The greater the uncertainty 

about the financial viability of the scheme, however, the more compelling the 

other grounds for undertaking the compulsory purchase will need to be. The 

timing of any available funding may also be important. For example, a strict time 

limit on the availability of the necessary funding may be an argument put 

forward by the acquiring authority to justify proceeding with the order before 

finalising the details of the replacement scheme and/or the statutory planning 

position. 

180



THL.138453074.1 5 TPB.55393.6 

3.1.11 Impediments: NBC would also need to be able to demonstrate that the scheme 

for which the CPO has been made will not be prevented from proceeding due to 

some legal or other impediment, for example, the need for planning permission 

or some other consent. The reason for this requirement is, again, to avoid a 

situation in which private land has been acquired compulsorily for a purpose 

which, in the event, cannot be achieved because of some impediment such as 

planning permission being refused. While it is preferable if all necessary 

permissions and consents have been obtained by the time when the CPO is 

made, this is not essential so long as they have been obtained before the 

Secretary of State has to consider whether to confirm the CPO. However, if 

they are not in place by the time of the inquiry, this is likely to widen the debate 

at the inquiry and possibly cast doubt upon whether they will be granted to 

enable the purpose of the CPO to be achieved. 

3.2 When an acquiring authority serves notice of making a CPO, it is required to serve a 

“Statement of Reasons” for making the CPO. In practice, such a statement is normally 

drafted before the CPO is made.  

4 Application of CPO to St Mary's and Berkeley  

4.1 In making a decision to use CPO powers NBC will need to consider the legislation and 

Guidance discussed above. Broadly speaking estate regeneration programmes have the 

potential to provide significant public benefits: regeneration; additional housing/affordable 

housing; employment creation; public spaces; use of brownfield land etc. Specifically St 

Mary's and Berkeley is clearly a project that can make significant improvements given the 

current position of poor quality housing stock and deprivation within the area. Therefore, in 

principle, a regeneration scheme for the Roof Gardens can meet the legal requirements of 

the TCPA and could demonstrate the general need to justify use of CPO powers.  

4.2 In applying that to a CPO for the remaining interests necessary to implement the Roof 

Gardens the following will be relevant: 

4.2.1 Establish the Powers – this will likely be section 226(1)(a) of the TCPA.   

4.2.2 Clearly Define the Scheme – the 'Scheme' for which CPO powers are being 

sought should be clearly defined and identifiable in Council policy. The Roof 

Gardens scheme is defined by the planning permission already obtained. 

4.2.3 Consistency with NBC Planning Policy – we have reviewed the existing 

planning policy framework (Central Area Action Plan (January 2013), the Spring 

Borough's Neighbourhood Plan (April 2016) and the West Northamptonshire 

Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (Part 1) (December 2014) and the with the 

strategic aims of the National Planning Policy Framework) and consider it 

provides a solid basis for supporting regeneration of St Mary and Berkeley i.e 

the Roof Gardens. This is confirmed by the grant of planning permission for the 

Roof Gardens by NBC.   

4.2.4 Planning Permission – whilst it is not a legal requirement, it is best practice to 

secure planning permission before making the CPO. Planning permission was 

granted for the roof Gardens on 6 August 2019 (ref: N/2019/0456).  

181



THL.138453074.1 6 TPB.55393.6 

4.2.5 Establish the CPO Case – NBC will need to be able to demonstrate that there 

is a scheme which is in the public interest with a reasonable prospect of 

delivery.  This entails defining the Scheme, establishing that it accords with the 

local and national planning policy framework, that it is fundable and deliverable.  

NBC should also be able to show that it promotes economic, social or 

environmental well-being of the areas and that there are no alternatives that 

could deliver the objectives of the scheme.  NBC also need to show that it will 

be delivered in a way that is fair and proportionate and minimises the impact on 

the parties who are subject to the CPO.  These matters are addressed with the 

Cabinet report but of relevance are: the benefits of additional housing and 

affordable housing; the regeneration of a major town centre location which 

suffers from deprivation; that the alternative of refurbishment would not address 

the issues with the existing housing stock; a clear development programme and 

financial appraisal is in place; and a comprehensive programme of resident 

engagement and communication has been undertaken. 

4.2.6 Acquisition Strategy and Private Treaty Negotiations – there is a 

requirement to negotiate with all parties whose interests are to be acquired to 

try to agree terms for an acquisition prior to embarking on the CPO process.  

Negotiations should have commenced before the CPO has been made and 

should continue in parallel throughout the formal process, up to and beyond the 

CPO inquiry. For estate regeneration a robust consultation and community 

engagement programme should be in place. NPH have made a Resident offer 

to tenants and leaseholder in line with that set out in NBC’s Housing 

Regeneration Policy. In addition NPH have engaged in regular open dialogue 

with residents and the success of this is demonstrated by the fact that the 

majority of tenants have moved out and 75% of the leaseholders have either 

sold their properties back to NBC, or have sales pending. 

4.2.7 Equalities and Human Rights In order to avoid contravening individual human 

rights by making a CPO, it must be demonstrated that the CPO is in the public 

interest and that it is necessary and proportionate to make the CPO. Provided 

the requirements of section 226 (1) and (1A) of the TCPA have been fulfilled 

(i.e. the development, redevelopment or improvement will contribute to the 

promotion or improvement of the economic social or environmental well-being 

of the local authority’s area), this will provide a very substantial basis upon 

which to make the case that the scheme is policy based and is consistent with 

statutory objectives. However any specific concerns should be given specific 

consideration. A Community Impact Assessment has been undertaken and 

NBC should have due regard to this in making a decision to proceed with a 

CPO to comply with the public sector equality duty.  

4.3 Subject to NBC's consideration of the Roof Gardens scheme in light of the above, we 

consider there are appropriate grounds to consider use of CPO powers. 

Trowers & Hamlins LLP  

September 2019 

182



Appendix 5a 

 
GUIDANCE ON COMPULSORY PURCHASE PROCESS AND THE CRICHEL 
DOWN RULES  

 
Stage 6: Compensation  

 
72. What is the basis of compensation?  
 
Compensation payable for the compulsory acquisition of an interest in land is based 
on the principle that the owner should be paid neither less nor more than their loss. 
This is known as the ‘equivalence principle’.  
 
73. What are the elements of compensation where land is taken?  
 
While the compensation payable is a single global figure, in practice, the assessment 
of compensation will involve various elements.  
 
Broadly, the elements of compensation where land is taken are:  
 
• the market value of the interest in the land taken  
 
• ‘disturbance’ payments for losses caused by reason of losing possession of the land 

and other losses not directly based on the value of land  
 
• loss payments for the distress and inconvenience of being required to sell and/or 

relocate from your property at a time not of your choosing  
 
• ‘severance/injurious affection’ payments for the loss of value caused to retained 

land by reason of it being severed from the land taken, or caused as a result of the 
use to which the land is put  

 
74. What are the elements of compensation where no land is taken?  
 
Broadly, the elements of compensation where no land is taken are:  
 
• injurious affection  
 
• Part 1 Land Compensation Act 1973 claims  
 
75. What is the market value of the interest in the land taken?  
 
Compensation payable for the compulsory acquisition of an interest in land is based 
on the ‘equivalence principle’ (ie that the owner should be paid neither less nor more 
than their loss). The value of land taken is the amount which it might be expected to 
realise if sold on the open market by a willing seller (Land Compensation Act 1961, 
section 5, rule 2), disregarding any effect on value of the scheme of the acquiring 
authority (known as the ‘no scheme’ principle); Certificates of Appropriate Alternative 

183



Development may be used to indicate the planning permissions that could have been 
obtained, which will affect any development value of the land.  
 
Alternatively, where the property is used for a purpose for which there is no general 
demand or market (eg a church) and the owner intends to reinstate elsewhere, he may 
be awarded compensation on the basis of the reasonable cost of equivalent 
reinstatement  
 
(see Land Compensation Act 1961, section 5, rule 5).  
 
76. How should the value of the land be assessed in light of the ‘no scheme 
principle’?  
 
Sections 6A to 6E of the Land Compensation Act 1961, inserted by section 32 of the 
Neighbourhood Planning Act 20175, set out how the value of the land should be 
assessed applying the ‘no scheme principle’.  
 
Section 6A sets out the ‘no scheme principle’ that any increases or decreases in value 
caused by the scheme or the prospect of the scheme must be disregarded and then 
lists the 5 ‘no scheme rules’ to be followed when applying the ‘no-scheme principle’.  
 
Section 6B provides that any increases in the value of the claimant’s other land, which 
is contiguous or adjacent to the land taken, is deducted from the compensation 
payable. This is known as ‘betterment’.  
 
Section 6C provides that where a claimant is compensated for injurious affection for 
other land when land is taken for a scheme, and then that other land is subsequently 
subject to compulsory purchase for the purposes of the scheme, the compensation for 
the acquisition of the other land is to be reduced by the amount received for injurious 
affection.  
 
Section 6D defines the ‘scheme’ for the purposes of establishing the no-scheme world. 
The default case, set out in subsection (1), is that the ‘scheme’ to be disregarded is 
the scheme of development underlying the compulsory acquisition. Subsection (2) 
makes special provision for new towns, urban development corporations and mayoral 
development corporations. Where land is acquired in connection with these areas, the 
‘scheme’ is the development of any land for the purposes for which the area is or was 
designated.  
 
Section 6D(3) and (4) also makes special provision. It provides that where land is 
acquired for regeneration or redevelopment which is facilitated or made possible by a 
‘relevant transport project’ (defined in section 6D(4)(a)) ‘the scheme’ includes the 
relevant transport project. 
 

184



1 
 

 Vulcan Works Creative Hub 

 

Operating Model Options Appraisal 

 

Deyton Bell 

 

May 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

  

185

Agenda Item 11



2 
 

Contents  

 

Executive Summary         3 

 

 

1. Introduction         4 

 

2. Purpose of the Report        4 

 

3. The Vulcan Works Creative Hub       4 

 

4. The role of Incubators and Business Space     6 

 

5. Understanding Incubators and Accelerators    8 

 

6. Northampton’s current Incubator Space     13 

 

7. Positioning the Vulcan Works Creative Hub     16 

 

8. Analysis of potential Operators      17 

 

9. Evaluating the Operators       24 

 

10. Conclusion          25 

  

186



3 
 

Executive Summary 

 

This report seeks to evaluate how the Vulcan Works Creative Hub (the VWCH) in 

Northampton can be operated successfully. Deyton Bell has reviewed the cohort of 

operators across the country that could potentially operate the VWCH. Consideration has 

also been given to the whether Northampton Borough Council could manage the VWCH. 

 

The evaluation sets out details around nine identified operators, highlighting their 

strengths and weaknesses and potential appetite for partnering with Northampton 

Borough Council to operate the VWCH. Each operator is measured against a number 

of criteria that are commensurate with the delivery of a high quality incubator.  

 

 

The report concludes that Northampton Borough Council would be best placed to act in a 

Client role, overseeing and monitoring the operator, rather than seeking to take on the 

role of operator with in-house support. At present the market has a number of high quality 

operators. Each are able to demonstrate that they would be able to provide strong 

support to the VWCH and bring specialisms that the Borough Council would not be able 

to replicate without significant additional cost.  

 

The report has analysed a range of operators against a range of indicators. Information 

has been gathered through discussions with the operators and web research. The 

analysis reveals that the most effective of the operators includes Oxford Innovation, Allia 

and Luton Culture.  While others have a more restricted offer, they would still provide a 

strong service, operators in this group include Wenta, Basepoint, The Brew, We Work 

and the University of Northampton.  

 

The report also concludes that the next phase of the project, developing the Tender 

Specification, will be a very important piece of work. The Council needs to ensure 

that the Specification is comprehensive, attractive and partnership orientated.  If the 

Specification can achieve these points it will serve to engage Operators and help 

promote healthy competition between operators to deliver the VWCH.   

 

187



4 
 

From our research it is clear that a number of operators are keen to develop a 

conversation with Northampton Borough Council.  We recommend that the Borough 

Council should seek non-committal conversations with interested operators prior to 

the Tender Specification entering the procurement phase.  

188



4 
 

1. Introduction  

 

Deyton Bell has been appointed by Northampton Borough Council (NBC) to develop 

an Options Appraisal for the future VWCH. The VWCH sits within Northampton’s 

Cultural Quarter and will provide 59 workspaces for start-up or small enterprises.   

 

2. Purpose of the Report  

 

This options appraisal has been undertaken to review whether Northampton 

Borough Council should operate the VWCH or seek to engage a professional 

Operators currently within the market. 

 

The option appraisal process has been informed by various meetings between the 

project team and Deyton Bell. In addition, Deyton Bell has spoken to industry leading 

Operators to identify how they would seek to operate the VWCH should they 

successfully win a tender competition to operate the VWCH. The evidence collected 

during these conversations have fed into the appraisal.    

 

3. The Vulcan Works Creative Hub  

 

VWCH will be an exciting new strategic, creative and digital business hub in 

Northampton of significant scale. Led by Northampton Borough Council, the plan 

includes the transformation of the former Vulcan Works and the Amalgamated Tyres 

sites in the centre of Northampton town – in the area between Guildhall Road, Angel 

Street, Fetter Street and St John’s Street. 

 

The scheme, costing around £14 million, will create a total of 59 lettable units – 

specifically aimed at start-ups and growing businesses. It will restore the historic and 

Grade II listed former iron works factory in the heart of the Cultural Quarter, as well 

as constructing a new block on Angel Street to create the new office, studio, and 

managed workshop facilities. 

 

 

189



5 
 

Vulcan Works Creative Hub Artists impression

 

 

 

The plan is to redevelop the buildings to incorporate workspaces for the digital and 

creative sector. The aim is for the building to become a digital hub for the Borough. 

The project involves the regeneration of the existing listed buildings incorporating a 

new extension and redevelopment of a new building – to provide a total of 4,808 sq.m 

net (3,461 sq.m net lettable). The VWCH will provide facilities such as meeting rooms, 

hot desks/shared workspaces, Café, networking and collaboration spaces and cycle 

storage units alongside the primary outputs as listed in the table below; 

 

Primary Outputs Target 

Business Units 59 

Business Support 116 

Businesses Created 25 

Construction Jobs (16 week contracts)  286 

Direct Jobs 174 

Indirect Jobs 261 

 

Northampton Vulcan Works aerial photo 

190



6 
 

4. The role of Incubators and business space 

 

i) Mapping the different types of incubators 

Over the past 20 years, increasing importance has been attached to incubators as 

mechanisms for enhancing local economic conditions by promoting the rise of 

entrepreneurial ideas and encouraging the growth of newly established companies. 

Many local economic development agencies, government and other public 

institutions have adopted incubators as a tool to develop high growth companies and 

to speed up the process of business creation.  

 

ii) Publicly funded incubators 

The main objective of public incubators is to stimulate local economic growth. 

Incubators offer a range of service from renting space, to more elaborate services, 

such as access to technical and managerial expertise and assistance in business 

plan development. The main source of profit for public incubators are the fees 

generated for the services they provide and the public funding from local, national 

and international schemes. 

 

iii)  University Business Incubators 

University Business Incubators (UBIs) are institutions that provide support and 

services to new knowledge-based ventures. UBI’s place more emphasis on the 

transfer of scientific and technological knowledge  from universities to companies. 

UBI’s seek to link business concepts, with technology, capital, and know-how to 

leverage entrepreneurial talent, in doing so they seek to encourage the 

commercialisation of technology by nurturing new knowledge-based ventures.  

 

There are two main categories of services offered by UBIs; 

a) typical incubator services including shared office services, business 

assistance, access to capital, business networks and rent breaks;   

and 

b) University related services including faculty consultants, student employees, 

university image conveyance, library services, labs/workshops and 

equipment, mainframe computers, related R&D activity, technology transfer 

programs, employee education and training, and other social activities. 

 

191



7 
 

iv)  Private Incubators 

The increased use of technology has enhanced the use of incubators and impacted 

upon the way they operate. These market changes have revived and reshaped the 

concept of incubation, leading to the growth of private incubators, e.g. profit-oriented 

institutions, fee/equity oriented. Interest in private or profit incubators has increased 

over the last ten years and stems from the importance attached to high-tech 

companies and, more generally, to the new economy.  

 

Private incubators can make money in several ways, including charging service   

fees, as well as taking a percentage of revenues from incubated companies. The 

purpose of for-profit incubators is to quickly create new ventures and in return to take 

a portion of equity in the new venture as fees. They seek to help entrepreneurs by 

providing pre-seed, seed and other early investments that have been traditionally 

offered by angels and early-stage venture capitalists. They offer business guidance, 

connections to their network of contacts, the ability to take on the tasks of managing 

an office, hiring and payroll.  

 

The main services offered include the efficient completion of the entrepreneurs’ 

business models, validation and vetting, the provision of experienced operation staff,   

recruiting mechanisms, instant infrastructure, networks of relations with key strategic 

actors; access to a network of domain experts for all  aspects of business, including  

concept validation and construction; provision of technology to accelerate product 

development or support, including master relationships with strategic partners, not 

ordinarily motivated to deal with or adequately service any but large accounts.  

 

Private incubators can be segmented into two main categories, Corporate Business 

Incubators and Independent Business Incubators.  

 

i) Corporate Business Incubators are owned and set up by large companies with the 

aim of supporting the emergence of new independent business units. These new 

business units (corporate spin-offs) usually originate from research projects spill-

over (carried out within source-organizations) and happen to be the outcomes of 

diversification strategies. It is common for the source-organization company to 

control all the new ventures by holding equity stake. These incubators, in addition 

to corporate spin-offs, host more generic start-ups as well.  

192



8 
 

Generally these incubators (like University Business Incubators) intervene during the 

early stages (business concept definition) of the business development cycle.  

 

ii) Independent Business Incubators are incubators set up by single individuals or by 

groups of individuals (companies too may be among their founding partners), who 

intend to help rising entrepreneurs to create and grow their business. 

 

5. Understanding Incubators and Accelerators  

 

Defining the terms ‘Incubator’ and ‘Accelerator’ is subjective, with various different 

models in operation. Several of the key concepts used in this report do not have one 

single definition and their use has often changed over time. Business Incubation is 

however an established concept, although interpretations vary. The definitions below 

seek to set out how the terms will be used within this report.   

 

Incubators are typically physical spaces, available on relatively flexible terms, which 

provide additional incubation services. These services generally include provision of 

training for entrepreneurs, access to networks and specialist equipment. Incubators 

are typically dependent on charging rent or membership fees to residents, often on a 

monthly basis. By charging rent, rather than taking equity in the businesses they 

support, incubators are able to support businesses that are unlikely to scale rapidly. 

In many cases, incubators are aligned with a university, supporting spin-outs along 

with other local businesses.  

 

An incubator can be defined by the following characteristics:  

 

• Open-ended duration (exit usually based on the stage of the company, rather   

  than a specific time frame)  

• Typically rent/fee-based  

• Focus on physical space over services  

• Admissions on ad-hoc basis (not cohort-based)  

• Provision of services including mentorship, entrepreneurial training  

• Often provide technical facilities such as laboratory equipment  

• Selective admission (but typically less so than accelerators)  

 

193



9 
 

An emerging variant model is the virtual incubator, which focuses solely on providing 

services, such as mentoring and access to investors, without physical space or 

infrastructure. Some physical incubators may offer virtual tenancy as well as physical 

tenancy. The number of incubators has increased significantly in the past half-

century with around 200 in operation across the UK.  

 

Accelerators are a more recent phenomenon than incubators, but are now 

sufficiently well established. Whilst early programmes were funded primarily by 

venture capitalists seeking to develop deal-flow, newer programmes have been 

established by a wider variety of organisations, including large corporates and the 

public sector. 

 

In contrast with incubators, accelerators typically provide services through a highly 

selective, cohort-based programme of limited duration (usually 3-12 months). 

Services often include assistance in developing a business plan, developing an 

investor pitch deck, prototypes, and initial market testing.  

 

Whilst incubators typically charge rent or membership fees, accelerators more often 

base their business model on equity from the start-ups. This means that they are 

more growth driven, typically aiming to produce companies that will scale rapidly or 

fail fast, thus minimising wasted resources.  

 

Exceptions to this business model do exist, however - most commonly with corporate 

accelerators, where some firms may choose to sponsor or subsidise such a 

programme for broader strategic reasons including internal innovation, cultural 

change, marketing, corporate social responsibility (CSR) or public relations. 

Increasingly, accelerators are providing support designed for more established and 

high growth companies looking to scale up their business.  

 

Support for the pre-start up stage is offered in the form of pre-accelerator 

programmes, directed at entrepreneurs or start-ups with the aim of joining an 

accelerator programme in the future.  

 

 

 

194



10 
 

An accelerator can be defined by the following characteristics:  

 

•  Fixed duration programme (usually between three and twelve months)  

•  Typically growth-based (payment via equity rather than fees)  

•  Often provide seed funding  

•  Focus on services over physical space  

•   Admission of entrepreneurs in cohorts  

•  Provision of start-up services (e.g. mentorship, entrepreneurial training)  

•   Highly selective process to vet entrepreneurs  

 

As with incubators, there are also ‘virtual’ variants. These are programmes which do 

not offer physical space but aim to provide other services remotely.  

 

Table 1 below sets out the range of features typically offered within both Incubators 

and Accelerators.  VWCH has an opportunity to select the features it wishes to 

provide by developing a partnership with its preferred Operator once they have been 

contracted.  

 

 

 

195



11 
 

According to BEIS ‘Business Accelerators and Incubators – The National Picture 

(2017), there are 205 active incubators in the UK, supporting around 3,450 new 

businesses a year. In addition to providing office space, just over half of incubators 

offer mentoring or networking connections/access to investors. In addition, more 

than one in four offer seminars/workshops, laboratory space or funding advice.  

Although incubators also offer other forms of support such as training, direct funding, 

access to experts, demo days and legal/accountancy support (including intellectual 

property advice), this is relatively uncommon.  

 

Of the 14% of incubators that provided direct funding to entrepreneurs, the average 

amount given was just under £25,000. It is important to note however, that this 

funding was provided via a combination of grants, loans (some with 0% interest) or in 

exchange for equity, so the amounts given vary substantially. Those incubators that 

take equity in return for investment (relatively uncommon: only 8% of all incubators) 

reported taking an average 16% share. Figure 2 below demonstrates the different 

forms of business support that are available. 

 

 

The majority of incubators are at least partly self-funded through the membership fees / 

rent they charge their residents. Of the 72% of incubators that reported charging fees, 

the average charge is around £250 per person per month (though these fees vary 

greatly from £100 per month for a hot desk to £1860 for laboratory and office space). 

196



12 
 

Incubator fees are often subsidised using public or university funding; philanthropic and 

corporate funding is much less commonly reported.  

 

Although some incubators cater to entrepreneurs in the pre-start up stage through to 

later stage scaling, the majority of incubators focus on early-stage ventures (Figure 

3). While there is not typically a fixed duration for residence in an incubator, the 

average reported stay is around two years. 

 

Figure 3 Percentage of Incubators accepting each stage of business 

 

i) What catchment areas do incubators and accelerators have?  

The BEIS review also revealed that business owners are prepared to travel on 

average 35 miles to participate in an incubator and 61 miles to participate in an 

accelerator. The research showed that only around 1% of businesses in UK 

incubators originated from outside the UK, compared with around 18% of businesses 

in UK accelerators. On all measures, incubators seem to be more locally-focussed 

than accelerators.  

 

ii) Diversification of business incubation models  

Alongside the growth of traditional incubator and accelerator models, there has been 

a diversification of business incubation models. One recent, perhaps inevitable, 

development is the expansion of programmes provided online. This includes the 

virtual accelerators and incubators described earlier in this report, as well as online 

entrepreneurship courses like Tech City UK’s Digital Business Academy and online 

advice centres such as The University of Northampton’s Inspire2Enterprise.  

197



13 
 

Virtual accelerators, in particular, are becoming increasingly common, from 

Dreamstake, the first virtual accelerator, which launched in 2014, to the seven online 

programmes running today. The growth of virtual incubators has been slower, with 

only four currently active, the oldest of which are, Ignite virtual incubator and 

Rushlight Incubator, both launched in 2006 (www.digitalbusinessacademyuk.com/).   

 

Another variation of the accelerator model is becoming more prevalent is the pre-

accelerator. ‘FFWD London’ launched as the first UK based pre-accelerator in 2014, 

since then a further nine pre-accelerators have opened their doors to entrepreneurs. A 

different variant is the ‘start-up studio’, such as Makeshift and Mint Digital. These 

organisations aim to generate multiple, parallel ideas in-house before spinning them out. 

 

6. Northampton’s current incubator presence 

Northampton is currently home to an Innovation Centre and a range of Serviced 

Offices. These are analysed below. 

 

i) Northampton Innovation Centre 

The University of Northampton Innovation Centre is a set within the Waterside 

Enterprise Zone. With 42 flexible office units (total build 37,000 sq ft), a cafe and 

conference space, the centre offers the opportunity to ‘grow your enterprise in a 

supportive environment alongside like-minded businesses’. 

 

The University of Northampton Innovation Centre is focused upon supporting 

organisations that ‘deliver social impact, attracting tenants that deliver social 

benefits, address unmet social needs and tackle difficult social problems in an 

enterprising way. It seeks to attract organisations that serve the common good 

through its products and services, through its employment and training policies or in 

the way it uses its supply chain’. 

 

The University sets out to prospective tenants that; ‘You may already know what 

social impact your company has or you may need some guidance working out your 

social impact.  

 

 

198

http://www.digitalbusinessacademyuk.com/


14 
 

The University has set out a series of expectations that it requires it tenant to 

support, these include;  

 Providing training to unemployed young people and disadvantaged groups 

 Purchasing goods and services directly from social enterprises 

 Improving recycling facilities and strategies  

 Reducing road miles and supporting local businesses through local purchasing 

 

The social impact of some organisations is more evident than others. The University 

offers assistance to businesses to help define and measure social impact and, where 

necessary, can offer consultancy to organisations that would like to learn more about 

and measure their social impact’. 

 

From our research the centre is currently 90% occupied, demonstrating that there is 

demand for incubator space within Northampton. There is evidence that the University 

are operating strictly to the ‘Social Impact’ policy that has been established. It has 

however been noted that at present the website for the Innovation Centre is currently 

is a year out of date, this does not serve to attract new tenants effectively.  

 

ii) Regus, Northampton Business Park  

Regus has a presence within Northampton like many other UK towns and Cities.  

Located in Victory House, Pavilion Drive, Northampton. Regus do not provide 

Incubator space directly, their offer is a basic ‘shared office’ function. While they do 

provide some elements of business support, the offer is not in competition with the 

proposed VWCH. Regus state that;  

 

‘This centre is in a prime position on Pavilion Drive in Northampton’s premier 

business park alongside the corporate offices of some of the world’s largest financial 

companies. Northampton is one of the largest towns in the centre of England. It has 

excellent road and rail links and a vibrant community for both business and leisure. 

Northampton’s main private-sector employers are now in distribution and finance.  

The University is another major employer. The centre has 35 units with the largest 

being c.200 sq. ft. The centre is well used for both serviced office and virtual 

services.  The pricing for the centre is set out below.  The pricing is identical to the 

Regus Centre in Central Milton Keynes. Regus also has a similar centre at Watford 

Gap Services.    
199



15 
 

OFFICES                                                                       From £4.70 per day 

CO-WORKING                                                              From £4.10 per day 

VIRTUAL OFFICE                                                         From £1.60 per day 

 

Prices shown are the minimum price per person, based on a 24 month contract or 

lowest rates available. 

 

In addition to these the Innovation Centre and Regus, Northampton also has a private 

serviced office on Lower Harding Road, NN1. This centre has 8 units ranging from 112 

sq. ft. up to 1,600 sq. ft. The centre offers free car parking, and 24 hours access. The 

centre operates on a one month deposit and notice period.  

 

Further serviced offices are located on Spencer Parade and Billing Road, however these 

offer single units for small businesses or up to 8 workspaces as co-working space.  

  

200



16 
 

7. Positioning the Vulcan Works Creative Hub 

 

Northampton Borough Council needs to undertake careful due diligence in order to 

partner with an operator that is able to deliver a high quality, innovation focused hub.  

 

The danger, as has been proven across the country, is that many innovation centres 

simply become another ‘serviced office’.  

 

From our research it is evident that the most effective and innovation focused hubs 

demonstrate strong connections to world class higher education provision.   

 

Northampton sits between two of the leading Innovation Centres in the country; St 

Johns Innovation Centre in Cambridge and the Oxford Innovation Centre. Both 

centres are importantly more than just bricks and mortar, they are hubs for business 

support, networks and focal points within their own business community.  

 

The Borough Council needs to position its tender specification for an operator very 

effectively, it will be crucial to ensure that a strong operator is secured who can drive the 

VWCH forward. The tender process needs to identify a partner that is able to evidence 

that they operate high quality facilities, which offer high quality business support 

services. The operator should ideally have access to funding to support business and 

see Northampton as a key part of their overall strategy and wider network. 

 

Further consideration needs to be given to the focus of the VWCH. The Borough 

Council prior to selecting an operator needs to be clear what the nature of the VWCH 

is. Key questions that need resolving include;  

 Should the VWCH solely focus on the creative sector? 

 What definition for ‘Creative’ should be applied?    

 What is the age range of potential tenants being sought– eg Start up or more 

established businesses? 

 What length of tenancy should be applied to businesses within the VWCH? 

 Should the VWCH simply a financing raising initiative for the Borough Council, 

or is the development of the Enterprise community within Northampton of 

prime focus?  

 
201



17 
 

8. Analysis of potential operators 

 

As specified in the brief, Northampton Borough Council has been assessed as a 

potential operator of the VWCH. The Council has therefore been assessed in the 

same manner as the other Operators considered. Following discussions with 

Northampton Borough Council’s Officers a long list of operators was developed. This 

section reviews the credentials of each of these operators. 

 

The operators identified include;  

 

 Allia 

 Basepoint 

 Luton Culture  

 Northampton Borough Council   

 University of Northampton  

 Oxford Innovation  

 The Brew 

 Wenta 

 We Work  

 

Our approach to appraising each of these operators identified a range of 

considerations that need satisfying to determine which operator(s) could deliver the 

kind of support that would lead to the VWCH being an exemplar centre.  

 

The considerations include;  

 

 Experience of operating incubator space 

 Number of incubators in operation 

 Range of business services on offer 

 Breadth of networks available to tenants  

 Ability to integrate into Northampton’s business community 

 Links to Higher Education and added value services  

 Capability to attract tenants and provide an effective service  

 

202



18 
 

The following section reviews each of the identified operators in turn. 

 

i) Allia 

Allia is an independent not for profit with a social mission.  Allia started its operation 

in 1999 and currently employs 50 staff. They own and operate 4 Future Business 

Centres in Cambridge, East London and Peterborough. Their centres have 

combined space of nearly 100,000sq ft. Allia currently operate a range of business 

support programmes and help hundreds of ventures to start up, grow and scale. 

Programmes are designed to support start-ups and growth companies in emerging 

markets, which Allia aligns with UN Sustainable Development Goals and solving 

complex local and global challenges. 

 

Allia provide hands-on support to businesses, and state that their teams of community 

hosts, mentors and programme managers all play an active role in curating the space 

and ensuring that business owners can access the support, advice, networking and 

connectivity that may be needed.  

 

Allia have been in engaged in previous discussions with the University of 

Northampton around the role of Social Enterprise.  They were previously in 

discussion around playing a role in Northampton Innovation Centre, although this did 

not come to fruition. 

 

From our conversation Allia confirmed that while they are not specifically targeting 

growth in Northampton they would be open to a preliminary non-committal 

conversation with the Borough Council to explore options. 

 

ii) Basepoint 

Basepoint is a Serviced Office provider, they both own and operate around 30 

centres around the South of the country. Basepoint considers itself as a recognised 

as a leading provider in this sector. Basepoint Centres have previously won the 

BCA’s coveted Workspace of the Year award for 3 consecutive years, an award 

which requires nominations from workspace occupiers. 

 

Each centre has a dedicated management team that build and develop links with 

other organisations and ensure they maintain a wide knowledge of the availability of 

203

http://www.allia.org.uk/
https://futurebusinesscentre.co.uk/locations
https://futurebusinesscentre.co.uk/locations
https://futurebusinesscentre.co.uk/serious-impact


19 
 

new initiatives and funding that may help small SMEs particularly with the 

signposting and promoting of grant availability.  

Each centre also holds regular, free to attend, networking events and seminars to 

help raise awareness of business issues and to provide advice on key areas such as 

business planning, sales, marketing and PR. 

 

From our conversations it is apparent that Basepoint offer a strong Serviced Office 

package. However there is minimal added value services. The model is geared 

towards IT companies and Graphic Designers, rather than innovative companies. 

Basepoint would be interested in operating the VWCH, however our analysis of 

operators suggests there are better placed partners for Northampton Borough 

Council to consider.  

 

iii) Luton Culture 

Luton Culture specialise in culturally interesting (and listed) buildings and understand 

the needs of Incubator management. They are not-for-profit and a charity, and re-

invest all surpluses back into the marketing/promotion and building improvements; 

they do charge commercial rents.  

 

Their current model focuses on cultural and creative clients (grouped under 12 

categories of creative industries). They currently operate 3 buildings, one owned, 

one managed for Luton Borough Council (the main Hat Factory), though they are 

negotiating a possible further purchase.   

 

They are keen to operate in Northampton and build a wider hub linked to Luton 

enabling Northampton to benefit from the learning from the Hat District. They have 

strong relationships with University of Bedfordshire (who in turn are joint managing 

projects with the University of Northampton).   

 

They are aware of the VWCH project having viewed the opportunity with 

Northampton Borough Council Officers. They are keen to respond to any bid to 

operate the VWCH subject to the offer and the financial detail (how much return NBC 

require, if a freehold purchase through surpluses generated might be possible, with 

reducing liabilities and responsibilities for the council as surpluses accrue). 

 

204



20 
 

 

They would also be very interested in helping work up the design to ensure it is 

suitable for creative sector as design champions (they have strong views on the 

quality of design necessary and might not bid if they thought premises not suitable for 

the clients). They expressed a view that they are confident they could fill the VWCH  

and make it very successful as it is an exact match for their current focus. 

 

iv) Northampton Borough Council 

The Borough Council could take the decision to operate the VWCH in-house. Deyton 

Bell has considered the practicalities of this, both in terms of positives and negatives, 

our conclusion is as follows. 

 

While operating the VWCH may be financially advantageous, the potential for the 

VWCH to underperform is directly increased. The Borough Council does not possess 

sufficient capacity and capability to deliver a successful VWCH. The Council if it 

chose to operate the VWCH would need to recruit additional staff to support the 

centre. In addition the Council would need to source business advice from a third 

party to support tenants. Equally costs of operating the VWCH would be higher, not 

least as the Council would need to cover marketing and promotion costs and other 

associated costs.  

 

With such a vibrant market of operators, and with a number showing an interest in 

running the VWCH, there is clear logic for the Borough Council to perform the Client 

function in relation to the VWCH. This would draw on the Council’s strengths and 

enable the strategic objectives of the Hub to be monitored closely and in partnership 

with the chosen operator.       

 

v) University of Northampton 

The University of Northampton currently operate the Northampton Innovation Centre. 

This is the only Centre they operate. The Centre has been open for over 3 years and 

was funded by public sector. The University owns the centre. The Centre focuses 

upon social impact and social enterprise, this is a clearly defined specialism which 

reflects one of the University’s strengths. The University is constrained in operating 

beyond Northampton, in this sense the Centre is likely to remain the only Innovation 

Centre operated by the University.  

205



21 
 

 

The Innovation Centre offers a limited range of business support when compared to 

other centres. Where it does focus its business support offer, it does deliver a strong 

programme of support, principally around Social Impact support.  

 

The University has a chequered history of involvement with the VWCH project.  It is 

not currently clear whether the University have an ambition to operate the Hub. 

While the University has expertise through the Innovation Centre, other specialists 

are better placed to help ensure the VWCH succeeds. 

 

vi) Oxford Innovation 

Oxford Innovation has been operating Innovation spaces for over 30 years. Their 

current portfolio consists of over 30 centres, these are based in both England and 

Northern Ireland.  

 

The company’s founding mission was to provide three areas of support for 

technology start-ups; 

 

 flexible and affordable workspace – whether that’s an office, workshop or 

laboratory 

 Access to funding that fills the gap between what an entrepreneur can raise 

themselves through family and friends and what a Venture Capital firm might 

fund 

 Support from highly qualified mentors, coaches and other entrepreneurs 

through part-funded business support programmes 

 

Oxford Innovation state that they work with clients to understand their needs and 

create new approaches based on the idea that differentiation is the key to success.  

This approach gives clients the competitive edge when looking to develop an 

innovation centre that is both financially sustainable and future proof.  

 

The operating model involves regular access to entrepreneurs, mentors, investors 

and subject experts, with Business Support designed to be integral to the core 

package centre customers receive.  

 

206



22 
 

Support is available via Innovation Directors who are resident in each centre. They 

bring specialist know-how and entrepreneurial experience.  Each centre also runs 

customer focused programmes, providing specialist support and workspace to start-

ups and growing businesses.  

 

In many ways Oxford Innovation provide the benchmark for delivering high quality 

operation of Innovation Centres. Oxford Innovation have held previous discussions 

with the Borough Council.  From our discussions, subject to the contents of the 

tender specification it is likely that the Borough Council could expect interest from 

Oxford Innovation.  

 

vii) The Brew 

The Brew currently operate 4 Co-working centres, commencing operation in 2011.  It 

was established as a challenger service to the more established incubators. The 

operating model is based on a co-working membership. The Brew view their offer as 

‘– no gimmicks, no hidden price rises, just one low monthly membership price with 

everything you need included’. 

 

The Brew is part of a global network with centres based in more than 50 locations, 

with a membership of over 25,000.  

 

The Centres are currently all within Central London, and the offer is predominantly 

aimed at tech start-ups. They offer Hot Desks, Co-Working or Private Offices.  The 

service offers both business support and well-being seminars. 

 

The Brew provides opportunities for members to get together, get to know one 

another and potentially collaborate. The model seeks to offer a friendly and 

welcoming environment. 

 

While the model is of interest, it is unlikely that the Brew would be interested in 

operating the VWCH, equally the model is designed to support businesses that 

require minimum support and intervention, therefore the model is not necessarily 

best suited to the types of business which are likely to locate to the VWCH.  

 

 

207



23 
 

viii) Wenta 

Wenta are a Hertfordshire based Enterprise Agency, it is a not for profit company. 

They operate their own premises (in Enfield and Watford) and manage for local 

authorities – including centres in Stevenage and Potters Bar.  

 

As an Enterprise Agency they re-invest surpluses back into group development 

(services and premises). The offer includes added value business support and 

advisory services at all premises (not just managed workspace) including on-site 

advisers and an on-line service. They offer some subsidised rents and work with the 

University of Hertfordshire. Wenta also provide training courses and event and 

currently manage start up programmes on behalf of Herts LEP and SEMLEP. 

 

From our conversations they would consider bidding to run the VWCH depending 

upon the deal offered (no specifics). Although Northampton is not considered a 

target market at present, Wenta consider Milton Keynes is close enough to be viable 

for them. 

 

ix) We Work 

The ‘We Work’ concept was established in 2010 in the United States of America. 

The mission of the company was to build a ‘community’ rather than offer simply 

Serviced Office.  The We Work website sets out that each centre should be a ‘place 

where we’re redefining success measured by personal fulfilment, not just the bottom 

line’. There are currently 668 We Work Centres based in 117 cities. There are only 3 

centres in the UK, in London, Manchester and Edinburgh. We Work Centres offer 

business support, however their offer is limited in the UK which suggests that there is 

limited provision beyond the core offer from We Work.  

 

Deyton Bell tried to speak with We Work and telephoned their advertised phone 

number listed on their website. The call reverted to answerphone. The voice 

message set out how we could become a member in New York, suggesting that 

despite the coverage in 117 cities, the core operation is still based in the original 

head office. In our view it is unlikely that We Work would engage with Northampton.  

Equally we believe a service that is effectively based in the United State of America 

is not going to offer the kind of support that Northampton Borough Council is seeking 

to delivery through the VWCH.  

208



24 
 

9. Evaluating the Operators 

 

Having set out the offer from the identified operators, we have sought to evaluate the 

service each can offer as the potential operator of the VWCH. The operators have 

been measured against a range of parameters that Northampton Borough Council 

should expect the selected operator to possess. Scores have been used from 10 – 2 

(with 10 being the highest score).  

 

Our analysis reveals that there are preferential operators that Northampton Borough 

Council may identify as optimal partners to deliver the VWCH. Operators such as 

Oxford Innovation, Allia, Wenta and Luton Culture possess the capability to deliver 

and an operating model that would ensure the VWCH is a high quality centre.  

The analysis also reveals how great a task it would be for Northampton Borough 

Council to deliver a high quality service in-house when compared to those 

experienced, professional Innovation Centre providers. 

 

While our analysis reveals the type of operator that would best deliver the VWCH, there 

is no guarantee that those identified would submit a tender in response to a 

specification promoted by Northampton Borough Council. This points again to how 

important it will be for the Borough Council to develop an engaging and attractive 

specification. The Council should seek to establish, or in the case of Oxford Innovation 

and Luton Culture, re-establish dialogue prior to publishing the specification. This 

dialogue would assist in shaping a tender specification effectively, and in determining 

the key issues that would need resolving with the most suitable operators.  

 

209



25 
 

10. Conclusion 

 

The development of the VWCH is an exciting opportunity for Northampton.  

 

For the VWCH to succeed there is a need to secure a high quality operator to drive 

the delivery of the centre.  

 

The analysis reveals that the Borough Council should play key role as the Client. 

This would assist in setting out clear expectations the Council has as owner of the 

VWCH, alongside developing a monitoring framework to ensure that the 

performance of the Hub is optimised.  

 

The report highlights a number of front-running operators, all of whom have 

significant experience and track record in running high quality and respected 

incubators. A number of these operators have centres geographically close to 

Northampton, which makes operating the VWCH a more attractive proposition.  

 

From our conversations, there are three clear operators who should be engaged in 

further dialogue ahead of the production of the Specification.  

 

It will be important that the Specification sets out clear expectations and parameters 

that demonstrate the ambition of Northampton Borough Council. The operators are 

experienced at responding to tender opportunities. Therefore the Borough Council 

needs to differentiate the expectations it has for the VWCH so as to stand out from 

the other opportunities that the operators have seen in recent times, or have 

historically won through a tender process. 

 

 

 

210



CABINET REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: Public 

Cabinet Meeting Date:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Directorate:

Accountable Cabinet Member: 

Ward(s)

13th November 2019

YES

YES

NO

Economy, Assets and Culture

Cllr Tim Hadland

Castle

1.  Purpose

1.1.To update Cabinet on the progress being made on the construction of the 
Vulcan Works Creative Hub (VWCH).

1.2.For Cabinet to note and approve the approach that will be taken when seeking 
an operator to manage the VWCH.

1.3.For Cabinet to note the timescales and next steps as part of the procurement 
of an operator for the facility. 

2.  Recommendations

It is recommended that:

2.1.Cabinet notes the progress to date on the construction of the Vulcan Works 
Creative Hub (VWCH) as set in paragraph 3.1.4 to 3.1.7

2.2.Cabinet approves the procurement of a service provider to operate the VWCH 
as set out in section 3.2 of this report.

Report Title Vulcan Works – Operator Arrangements

211



2.3.Cabinet delegates authority to the Economic Growth and Regeneration 
Manager in consultation with the Borough Secretary, the Chief Finance officer 
and the Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Enterprise to appoint the 
successful operator following the OJEU compliant procurement process as 
set out in this report. 

3. Issues and Choices

3.1. Report Background

3.1.1. In January 2019, Cabinet approved the delegated authority to the Head of 
Economy, Assets and Culture, in consultation with the Borough Secretary 
and the Cabinet Member for Regeneration to finalise the contract terms 
and to appoint the main construction contractor for the Vulcan Works.   

3.1.2. Stepnell Ltd were appointed to undertake the works and commenced on 
site in March 2019.

3.1.3. The VWCH will comprise 59 lettable units, co-working space, café, 
breakout areas and meeting rooms. VWCH will give creative business a 
place where they can be based and collaborate. 

3.1.4. The works are progressing well and in the last few months the demolition 
of buildings along Angel Street have been completed. The foundation 
works, substructure and steel work together with the installation of the 
stairways and the casting of floor slabs on this section of the site have also 
been undertaken.

3.1.5. Roof replacement, truss repairs/replacement and structural repairs are 
currently underway for the Guildhall Road buildings. 

3.1.6. Fetter Street buildings have been recently stripped and works have 
commenced around the roof replacement works.

3.1.7. Ground Works on the St Johns Road site have nearly completed with steel 
works due to complete in the next month.

3.1.8. Works are due to complete in Winter 2020.
 

3.1.9. The Council commissioned an operating model options appraisal 
(Appendix A) in May 2019 to assess options for how the VWCH should be 
operated and recommend a preferred approach to Northampton Borough 
Council. 

3.1.10. The appraisal set out to analyse nine operators against a range of market 
indicators in order to establish the most effective way the VWCH should be 
operated. The Council was also considered as a potential service provider 
as part of this process to assess its own suitability to operate the VWCH. 

212



3.1.11. The report concludes that for the VWCH to succeed there is a need to 
secure a high quality, experienced operator to drive the delivery of the 
VWCH.

3.1.12. A financial model has previously been produced to provide a detailed 
assessment of the VWCH operating figures. This model has been 
produced with assistance of a commercial agent to estimate occupancy 
levels and suitable rental levels for each unit. 

3.1.13. A tender specification is being drafted with a view to publish an OJEU in 
January 2020 and appoint the successful service provider a suitable time 
ahead of the centre opening. This will enable the operator to have final 
input into the finishes within the buildings and allow them to commence 
marketing to potential end users.

3.1.14. The procurement process will have the following indicative programme:
 Publish OJEU Tender – January 2020
 Tender Returns- February 2020
 Tender clarifications, review and scoring- March 2020
 Appoint Operator- April 2020
 VWHC completion and hand over- December 2020
 VWCH Mobilisation and Operation- January 2020

3.2. The Tender

3.2.1. The Council is seeking a suitably skilled and experienced service provider 
that provides a managed workspace service, including marketing and 
premis management. The Service Provider will manage the entire 
complex of the VWCH with an option to extend their services to 
nominated satellite buildings should the need be required during the 
service providers contract period.

3.2.2. The Tender will be published in compliance with the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015; in a single stage open tender.

3.2.3. The contract will be for an initial 3 years with the option for a 2-year 
extension at the discretion of the new unitary authority.

3.2.4. The VWCH will provide a level of business support to nurture start-up 
businesses alongside established small and medium enterprises. This will 
be outlined in the centre occupancy management plan forming part of the 
tender specification.

 
3.2.5. The Service Provider must develop an effective business support 

programme to ensure as a minimum all users are aware and are able to 
access the business support they need. This will include working with 
partners such as the South East Midlands Local Enterprise Partnership 
(SEMLEP) Growth Hub.

3.2.6. The project is part funded by SEMLEP through their Local Growth Fund 
allocation. As part of the outputs required through this agreement the 
operator will need to evidence how the following outputs will be achieved. 

213



Primary Outputs 2014 Target

Business Units 59

Business Support 116

Businesses Created 25

Construction Jobs (16 week contracts) 286

Direct Jobs Created 174

Indirect Jobs Created 261

3.2.7. Each written tender will be evaluated by a panel and each evaluation 
criteria awarded points based on tender cost and a range of quality 
criteria. 

3.3. Issues

3.3.1. A financial model has been produced for the VWCH. This model takes 
into account the current local rental market, the likely increases to the 
rental levels over time and the demand for similar facilities, used as a 
benchmark. However, these figures are only forecasts and the occupancy 
levels will ultimately be dictated by market forces.

3.4.Choices (Options) 

3.4.1. Cabinet could choose to continue with the procurement of an external 
service provider as outlined in section 3.2. 

3.4.2. Cabinet could choose not to proceed with the appointment of an external 
service provider and prefer that The Council could take on this role in 
house, however this would require a significant amount of work to be 
undertaken including recruiting new staff and introducing new policies in an 
area that it does not have experience of undertaking. This approach is not 
recommended. 

4. Implications (including financial implications)

4.1.Policy

4.1.1. A re-developed VWCH will positively contribute to the delivery of the 
SEMLEP Strategic Economic Plan (2017), and the South East Midlands 
Local Industrial Strategy (July 2019), the achievement of economic growth 
outlined in the Cambridge – Milton Keynes – Oxford Corridor and, of 
course,  to the Council’s own Cultural Quarter outlined in the recently 
developed town centre master plan  It would, in particular, promote the 
continued development of the Cultural Quarter and also contribute to the 
achievement of Enterprise Zone economic development targets.

214



4.2.Resources and Risk

4.2.1. There are a number of financial risks associated with the project 
relating to both capital and revenue expenditure. They are identified in the 
following paragraphs.

4.2.2. There is a risk that the building may not be occupied as quickly as 
anticipated or that the anticipated rentals are not achieved. This risk has 
been mitigated in so far as it is possible to do so, by taking professional 
advice about what the local market is reasonably likely to bear and 
incorporating these assumptions into the underlying financial modelling for 
the scheme.

4.2.3. In order to deliver the financial performance that is expected and 
necessary for the project to breakeven, the procurement of a suitably 
experienced service provider with an established track-record of operating 
these types of facilities will be a key to the success of the VWCH. 

4.2.4. The approved capital budget available for the project includes £6.3m 
Local Growth Funding and a further £3.062m European Regional 
Development Funding. These would add to the reputational risk 
associated with the project.

4.2.5. Ordinarily costs will be covered through a management fee and/or rent 
charges. 

4.3.Legal

4.3.1. The Service Provider contract will be tendered through a full Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 compliant process managed by The Council. 

4.3.2. The process of awarding the contract will need to comply with The 
Council’s external funding criteria with both SEMLEP and ERDF. 

4.4.Equality and Health

4.4.1. The new-build elements of the scheme (Angel Street and St Johns) are 
fully accessible with lift access to all floors and Part-M compliant 
staircases.

4.4.2. The refurbishment of listed construction areas have taken all 
opportunities to greatly improved the access across the site, including the 
provision of shallow ramps and a lift provision to the Fetter Street side to 
gain access to the upper floor. 

4.4.3. An equality policy for the completed facility will be developed in 
partnership with the recommended operator and will be implemented by 
the management company.

4.5.Consultees (Internal and External)

215



4.5.1. Consultation has been undertaken in respect of both of the planning and 
listed building consent applications.

4.5.2. Market Demand assessment required external consultation carried out 
by Underwood’s Ltd (Commercial Agent). 

4.5.3. Deyton Bell carried out consultation work to complete the VWCH 
Operating Model Options Appraisal. 

4.5.4. SEMLEP have been consulted in relation to our latest position, our 
outputs and programme milestones as outlined in this report.

4.5.5. Consultation with officers from East Northamptonshire Council and 
Harborough Borough Council to provide assistance and lessons learnt 
during their process to procure an operator for their Enterprise and 
Innovation Centres. 

4.6.How the Proposals deliver Priority Outcomes

4.6.1. The primary outputs required for the European Regional Development 
fund is that the Vulcan works will be renovating and building 5,375m2.  

4.6.2. The further development of the designated Cultural Quarter remains a 
key priority as part of the recently agreed Town Centre masterplan and the 
redevelopment of the Vulcan Works would help to take this forward.

4.6.3. The VWCH also sits within the boundary of the Northampton Waterside 
Enterprise Zone and the redevelopment will provide new business space, 
particularly for SME’s focused on the creative & digital sector. Northampton 
has a competitive advantage within this sector and this would assist 
businesses to develop and grow and, in the process, create new 
employment opportunities for people in the local area.

4.6.4. The operator will be provided with Key Performance indicators in order 
to ensure the occupancy levels are aligned to the financial model

4.6.5. The Tender documentation will also stipulate asset and facility 
management key performance indicators to ensure the building is kept to 
the highest standard and does not fall into a state of disrepair.

4.7.Environmental Implications (including climate change issues)

4.7.1. This has no impact and does not relate to the Climate Emergency 
motions passed at full Council in June 2019.

4.8.Other Implications

4.8.1. None identified.

5. Background Papers

Publically Available

216



5.1.Cabinet Report dated December 2018.
5.2.Creation of a Creative Industries Hub: Report of the Director of Customers 

and Communities, Cabinet Report, June 11th 2014.
5.3.Vulcan Works Redevelopment- Phase II: Report of the Director of 

Regeneration Enterprise and Planning, Cabinet Report, May 11th 2016;
5.4.Cambridge – Milton Keynes – Oxford Growth Corridor (NIC, 2017).
5.5.South East Midlands, Where Innovation Fuels Growth; Strategic Economic 

Plan (SEMLEP, 2017).

Kevin Langley
Economic Growth and Regeneration Manager

01604 837740

217



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET REPORT

AGENDA STATUS: PUBLIC

Cabinet Meeting Date:

Key Decision:

Within Policy:

Policy Document:

Directorate:

Accountable Cabinet Member: 

Ward(s)

13 November 2019

YES

YES

NO

Management Board

Cllr B Eldred

N/A

1 Purpose

1.1 Financial monitoring reports will be presented to Cabinet once every two months and 
will include:

 Revenue – any significant issues requiring action and details of the actions being taken.

 Budget risks, including any unachievable savings.

 Budget changes and corrections

 Capital – progress on key projects

 Capital appraisals and variations requiring approval or approved under delegation.

Report Title Finance monitoring to 30 September 2019

Appendices
0

219

Agenda Item 12



2 Recommendations

2.1 That Cabinet notes the contents of the report and notes that future reports will set out 
the actions being taken by Corporate Management Board (CMB) to address issues 
arising.

2.2 That Cabinet note the amendments to the general fund capital programme as set out at 
paragraph 3.5.1.

2.3 That Cabinet approve a £0.500m virement within the HRA capital programme as set out 
at paragraph3.6.2.

3 Issues and choices

3.1 Report background

3.1.1 This report is the third financial monitoring report of 2019/20 and reports the forecast 
position as at the end of September 2019, period 6 of the financial year.

3.2 Key financial indicators

 Variation from budget

Budget area General 
fund

Housing 
Revenue 
Accounts 

(HRA)
 £m £m
Controllable service budgets 0.963 0.129
Debt financing and corporate budgets (0.170) 0.000
Total 0.793 0.129

3.3 General fund revenue budget

3.3.1 The overall general fund revenue budget is currently forecasting an overspend of 
£0.793m. This is a slight increase on the £0.743m reported at the end of period 4. The 
main pressures which make up this forecast overspend are as follows:

3.3.2 The Chief Finance Officer service area is forecasting an overspend of £0.354m. This 
pressure is in the benefits area and relates to the recovery of housing benefit 
overpayments from on-going benefits for rent rebates (HRA tenants) and rent 
allowances (£0.197m). Other pressure is linked to the overall pressure around 
homelessness and temporary accommodation, which manifests itself in the benefits 
area due to the higher cost of temporary accommodation leading to a loss of subsidy 
(£0.033m). There is also a pressure of £0.216m due to additional costs for those in 
supported and exempt accommodation. This pressure is offset by an underspend on the 
LGSS contract (£0.090m).

3.3.3 The Housing and Wellbeing service area is forecasting an overspend of £0.829m. 
Demand for temporary accommodation (TA) has increased since the approval of the TA 

220



action plan in April 19 resulting in a forecast pressure of £0.450m and a corresponding 
pressure of £0.230m due to an increase in bad debt relating to temporary 
accommodation. The TA Implementation Group which meets fortnightly is monitoring 
the use and cost of temporary accommodation with the aim of reducing through a series 
of measures.  Quarterly targets to reduce demand are in place. There is also pressure 
in the Private Sector Sousing service due to a reduction in Civil Penalties income of 
£0.236m and a reduction in Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) income of £0.130m. 
This pressure is partially offset by forecast vacant posts across the whole service of 
£0.160m and savings on agency costs in the Housing Strategy & Wellbeing service of 
£0.081m.

3.3.4 The Customers and Communities service area is forecasting an overspend of 
£0.160m. This pressure is in the environmental services area and is due to costs coming 
out of the recycling risk share pay mechanism. These higher costs are caused by prices 
for recyclable material continuing to fall creating a pressure of £0.315m. This is offset by 
smaller underspends within the environmental services area and vacant posts 
elsewhere in the Customer and Communities service area.

3.3.5 The Economy, Assets and Culture service area is forecasting an underspend of 
£0.240m. Pressures in this area include the Car Parking service with income reduced 
due to new parking charges not being implemented until July and additional costs 
incurred in relation to increased processing of payment by debit/credit card (£0.132m). 
There is also a pressure in estate management due to vacant posts being covered by 
interims/consultants and the use of external companies for valuation works, but this is 
offset by an improved forecast in income resulting in an overall underspend of £0.040m. 
An underspend of £0.121m is forecast for Museums and Arts due to the receipt of a 
backdated business rates refund. Underspends are forecast against Programmes & 
Enterprise (£0.169m) and Head of Economic Development and Regeneration (£0.078m) 
due to in year vacancies. The pressure in the markets area has worsened to £60k, with 
a revised forecast based on the reduction in income due to lower market stall occupancy. 
Other smaller variances in this area amount to an underspend of £0.024m.

3.3.6 There were small variances forecast in the Chief Executive area, the Borough 
Secretary service area, and the Planning service area, with a combined underspend 
of £0.141m mainly associated with vacant posts. There is also a projected underspend 
of £170k on the debt financing and corporate budgets, due to the authority having to 
take out less borrowing than originally forecast due to a strong cash position.

3.3.7 Corporate Management Board (CMB) are actively seeking options and actions to 
manage and mitigate the impact of the risk of an overspend in 2019/20.

3.4 HRA revenue budget

3.4.1 The HRA revenue budget is currently forecasting a minor overspend of £0.129m.  

There is a forecast potential pressure on income (dwelling and non-dwelling rents) of 
approximately £0.108m. In addition, there is a forecast underspend of £0.194m on 
staffing budgets (NPH) offset by a housing management recharge of £127k. There is 
also a forecast underspend against the bad debt provision transfer of £0.150m following 
a review of the provision.

221



3.5 General fund capital programme

3.5.1 The approved General Fund Capital Programme is currently forecast to spend up to the 
latest budget of £20.3m.  There have been a number of in-year changes since the 
previous Cabinet Report. These are detailed in the table below.

Reference Scheme Title £m Comments
BA268 Car Park Electric Van 0.026 This is for the purchase of an 

electric vehicle for the Parking 
Team to replace the current 
diesel hire vehicle.

BA269 NN Contemporary 0.082 Refurbishment of the Guildhall 
Road Block in preparation for NN 
Contemporary to move in to the 
building.

BA270 Market Bollards 0.025 Replacement of obsolete entry 
and exit bollards onto the Market 
Square.

Any further additions to the capital programme, including any strategic property 
purchases, will be subject to the development of a robust business case.  In line with the 
Financial Regulations, any proposed additions to the programme greater than £0.25m 
and / or requiring additional funding from council resources, will be brought to Cabinet 
for approval.

3.6 HRA capital programme

3.6.1 The HRA capital programme for 2019/20 totals £71.551m, of which £45.641m is to be 
managed on behalf of the Council by Northampton Partnership Homes (NPH) through a 
programme of planned investment and new build development. Currently the HRA 
capital programme is forecast to be fully spent during 2019/20.

3.6.2 The HRA capital programme includes a £25.000m budget to enable additional HRA 
capital programme expenditure if developer affordable home opportunities become 
available. It is recommended that Cabinet approve a virement to move £0.500m of this 
budget to the NBC buyback/spot purchase budget to meet increased opportunities to 
purchase affordable homes in 2019/20.

3.6.3 This will bring the total budget for NBC buybacks/spot purchases for 2019/20 to 
£1.410m, consisting of the original approved 2019/20 budget of £0.500m, plus £0.410m 
slippage from 2018/19, plus the additional virement of £0.500m recommended above. It 
is anticipated that this budget would be fully spent in 2019/20.

3.7 Choices (options)

3.7.1 Cabinet is asked to note the reported financial position and agree the recommendations 
2.1, 2.2 and 2.3. There are no alternative options, other than not to agree the 
recommendations.

222



4 Implications (including financial)

4.1 Policy

4.1.1 The Council agreed a balanced budget for the capital programme and revenue budgets 
for both the general fund and the HRA in February 2019. Delivery of the budget is 
monitored through the budget monitoring framework.

4.2 Resources and risk

4.2.1 This report informs the Cabinet of the forecast outturn positions for capital and revenue, 
for both the general fund and HRA, as at the end of September 2019.  It also highlights 
the key risks identified to date in delivering those budgets.

4.2.2 All schemes included in the capital programme, or put forward for approval, are fully 
funded, either through borrowing, internal resources or external funding arrangements.

4.3 Legal

4.3.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.

4.4 Equality and health

4.4.1 There are no direct equalities and health implications arising from this report.

4.5 Consultees (internal and external)

4.5.1 Heads of Service, budget managers and Corporate Management Board (CMB) are 
consulted as part of the budget monitoring process on a monthly basis.

4.6 How the proposals deliver priority outcomes

4.6.1 Regular financial monitoring is a key control mechanism and contributes directly to the 
priorities of sustaining “effective and prudent financial management” and being “an agile, 
transparent organisation with good governance”.

4.7 Environmental Implications

4.7.1   There are no direct environmental implications arising from this report.

4.8 Other Implications

4.8.1   There are no other implications arising from this report

5.  Background papers

5.1 Cabinet and Council budget and capital programme reports February 2019.

Stuart McGregor, Section 151 Officer, 01604 838347

223



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

225

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Houses in Multiple Occupation Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) - Draft Consultation Outcomes, Proposed Changes and Adoption
	20191113 Consultation Statement V1
	13 11 19 SPD Nov Cabinet v2

	8 Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) - Draft Consultation Outcomes, Proposed Changes and Adoption
	consultation statement NB comments
	Parking SPD to Cabinet 20191113

	9 Specialist Housing Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) - Draft Consultation Outcomes, Proposed Changes and Adoption
	19_11_13_Specialist Housing SPD v1
	19_10_07_Consultation Statement

	10 Regeneration and redevelopment of Berkeley House and St Mary's Court, Spring Boroughs
	BerkeleyHouse.StMarys.APPENDIX 1
	Berkeley House.St Marys.Appendix 2 (Resident Offer for Berkeley House an...
	Berkeley House.St Mary's.Appendix 3 (Artist's Impression of The Roof Gar...
	Appendix 4 (Consultation Feedback)
	Berkeley House.St Marys.Appendix 5 (The Roof Gardens Legal Advisory Note...
	Berkeley House.Appendix 5a

	11 Vulcan Works - Operator Arrangements
	Vulcan Works Cabinet Report Nov 2019

	12 Finance monitoring to 30 September 2019
	14 Regeneration and redevelopment of Berkeley House and St Mary's Court, Spring Boroughs - Appendix 6

